Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Dissertations

Graduate College

8-2021

Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Organic Ligands with Their Complexes of Platinum, Copper and Uranium

Mustafa Adnan Yasin Aldulaimi Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations

Part of the Organic Chemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Aldulaimi, Mustafa Adnan Yasin, "Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Organic Ligands with Their Complexes of Platinum, Copper and Uranium" (2021). *Dissertations*. 3750. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/3750

This Dissertation-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL ORGANIC LIGANDS WITH THEIR COMPLEXES OF PLATINUM, COPPER AND URANIUM

by

Mustafa Adnan Yasin Aldulaimi

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Chemistry Western Michigan University August 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Ekkehard Sinn, Ph.D., Chair Ramakrishna Guda, Ph.D. Sherine Obare, Ph.D. Massood Atashbar, Ph.D.

SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL ORGANIC LIGANDS WITH THEIR COMPLEXES OF PLATINUM, COPPER AND URANIUM

Mustafa A. Aldulaimi, Ph.D.

Western Michigan University, 2021

Transition metal complexes of symmetrical and asymmetrical Schiff bases have played a significant role in the field of coordination, inorganic, and bioinorganic chemistry as models for biological, analytical, industrial, and pharmaceutical applications. Over recent years a great deal of interest has developed in new transition metal complexes of Schiff base ligand. The preparation of novel organic ligands is the most important step in the development of metal complexes that exhibit unique properties and novel reactivity. To highlight the presentation of this dissertation and to provide more detailed investigations, the dissertation was separated into six chapters according to the sequence of the work.

The first chapter gives an overview of Schiff bases and the coordination chemistry of different metal complexes focusing on Pt (II), Pt (IV), Cu (II), U (IV), and U (VI) ions with ligands and their geometric preferences.

The second chapter presents the synthesis and characterization of five new platinum based anticancer drugs. They have been categorized under three different types. The first type, chelate agents, is done by having starting materials together in water. The platinum center will react with the organic compound and the solvent to work as a leaving group. Bidentate ligands have two donor atoms, allowing them to bind to a central metal atom. The second type consists of Pt (IV)based complexes, where two additional ligands essentially keep the drugs inactive until they reach target DNA. Platinum (IV) complexes are the six-coordinate (octahedral coordination geometry), and the two additional ligands allow for further tuning of the properties. The third type is π -bond binding, is a new and interesting field. The stability of the metal-olefin bond in platinum (II) complexes is related to the formal charge on the complex and has been the subject of studies in the past few years. The action occurs when the pi-acid alkene donates electron density to the platinum d-orbital from a π symmetry bonding orbital between the carbon atoms. Then, platinum donates electrons back from another filled d-orbital into the vacant π antibonding orbital.

The third chapter focuses on the synthesis and characterization of the novel Pt(II) and Pt(IV) complexes with derivatives of ciprofloxacin which is considered as an antibiotic that belongs to a class of drugs called fluoroquinolones. The novel design of these Pt-Cipro conjugates was based on the premise that attaching Cipro to cisplatin derivatives should result in simultaneous release inside the cell of two antiproliferative agents that act by different mechanisms on different cellular targets. Thus, the platinum conjugates could also serve to bring into the tumor cells, along with the free antitumor Pt(II) compound, also free Cipro in the amount that could make it possible to execute their biological function.

Chapter four presents the synthesis, characterization, and structural studies of different series of copper and uranium complexes of salicylaldehyde Schiff base derivatives with various organic diamine compounds. The Schiff bases act as neutral and bidentate ligands, which can attach to the metal through the azomethine nitrogen and furfural oxygens. These Schiff bases are prepared by reacting salicylaldehyde with organic diamines. In the case of most complexation reactions, highly colored precipitates were formed immediately. The complexes were found to have composition Cu (II)L and Cu (II)LUO₂(NO₂)₂, where L is the organic ligand. This implies "mono" structures one metal + one H₂L ligands, and "heterobimetallic" where the ligands hold two different metal atoms in close proximity.

Chapter five deals with another series of CuL complexes, UO₂L complexes and CuL-UO₂ heterobimetallic complexes of an hexadentate bicompartmental Schiff base ligand that their central coordination sites is composed of an imine-based N₂O₂ entity coordinating Cu (II) ions. The subsequent rearrangement of the ligand into a Ω -shape generates a second recognition site, O₂O₂, composed of four phenoxy groups, able to coordinate U(IV) ions. Our copper-based metalloligands (CuL), which act as interesting chelate ligands for the uptake of large cations, led us to explore their structural differences upon coordination to group 2 metal ions.

All ligands and the metal complexes were characterized by a combination of NMR spectroscopy, and mass spectrometry. Despite all our efforts, no crystals suitable for an X-ray crystallographic study, were obtained. The results of the spectroscopic studies revealed that the Schiff base ligands coordinated to metal ions through nitrogen atom in the platinum complexes as well as through the (>C=N) nitrogen and phenolic oxygen atoms in H₂L ligands and through N₂O₂ and O₂O₂ in H₄L ligands in copper and uranium complexes.

Finally, chapter six presents the future work and further investigation to support the results by studying the biological effects and using green chemistry to synthesize novel organic ligands which would be a unique method to stop using the organic solvents. Copyright by Mustafa Adnan Yasin Aldulaimi 2021

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

No words can express my gratitude toward my teachers, family, and friends for their sincere guidance, patience, reassurance, and tolerance. I would like to express thankfulness and appreciation to everyone who has encouraged and supported me during my studies.

Firstly, I would like to express my deepest and sincere gratitude and appreciation to my research advisor, and Committee Chair Professor Ekkehard Sinn, for his excellent guidance, continuous unlimited support, motivation, enthusiasm, patience, and immense knowledge to move my research through my Ph.D. over the last five years. I would also like to acknowledge Professor Sinn's research group members both past and present.

Beside my advisor, I would like to give a warm thank you to my dissertation committee members: Dr. Ramakrishna Guda, Dr. Sherine Obare, and Dr. Massood Atashbar, for their support and accepting to serve as my committee, and I would like to thank Dr. Ramakrishna Guda, for his support, suggestions, important comments, and his guidance as a graduate advisor to complete my studies. I would like to thank the former graduate advisor, Dr. Sherine Obare for her support and guidance to complete my degree requirements.

I take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to my sponsor, the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research in Iraq, for providing financial support for my studies. In addition, I would like to acknowledge the University of Technology for providing support for my studies.

ii

Acknowledgments—continued

I am thankful to the Department of Chemistry at Western Michigan University and the graduate college for their support and for the opportunity of being a Ph.D. student here.

I would like to thank my mom and dad as they are the foundation for my strength, selfconfidence, and drive. They shaped my life and provided encouragement, wisdom, guidance, and support. There are not enough words in the world to express my appreciation for them.

Special and heartfelt thanks to the love of my life, my wife May who has continually and unrelentingly pushed me to be the best man I could possibly be. She is the powerful supporter and the daily dose of giving, as well as my beautiful kids: Mohammed, Adam, and my little daughter Aila.

Finally, I am thankful to my brother and sisters for their support. I would like to thank Abubkr, Sarah and Saja for their help and support.

Mustafa Adnan Yasin Aldulaimi

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF SCHEMES xiv
CHAPTER
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Overview
1.2 Organic Ligands
1.3 Schiff Base
1.3.1 Synthesis of Schiff Base Ligands
1.3.2 Mechanism
1.3.3 Potential Problem in Schiff Base Formation
1.3.4 Salen Ligands
1.4 Platinum Anticancer Complexes
1.4.1 Side Effect of Platinum Based Drugs and Disadvantages
1.4.2 Targeting and Delivery of Platinum Based Anticancer Drugs 17
1.4.3 Synthetic Methods for The Preparation of Platinum Anticancer Complexes
1.4.4 Mechanism of Action
1.5 Copper Complexes
1.5.1 Biological Applications of Copper (II) Complexes
1.5.2 Dinuclear Copper(II) Complexes
1.6 A Brief History of Uranium
1.6.1 Coordination Chemistry of Uranium

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.7 References	38
CHAPTER	
2. SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PT-BASED ANTI-CANCER DRUGS 5	57
2.1 Introduction	57
2.2 Experimental	52
2.2.1 Materials and Methods	52
2.2.2 Synthesis of DPAPlatin	52
2.2.3 Synthesis of PhenPlatin	52
2.2.4 Synthesis of TriPicolyAminePlatin	53
2.2.5 Synthesis of DiPhenPlatin	54
2.2.6 Synthesis of DCCPlatin	54
2.3 Results and discussion	55
2.3.1 ¹ H-NMR spectra6	55
2.3.2 ¹³ C-NMR Spectra	56
2.3.3 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer	13
2.4 Conclusion	17
2.5 References	19
CHAPTER	
3. SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL Platinum COMPLEXES CONTAINING CIPROFLOXACIN AS ANTI-CANCER DRUGS	31
3.1 Introduction	31
3.2 General Procedures for The Preparation of Cipro Derivatives and Their Pt (II), Pt (IV) Complexes	34
3.2.1 Synthesis of Cipro-en and Cipro-phen (L1 and L2)	34
3.2.2 Synthesis of Cipro-en-phendione (L3)	35

Table of Contents-Continued

Table of Contents-Continued

Table of Contents-Continued

5.1 Introduction		
5.2 Experimental		
5.2.1 Synthesis of The Ligands (H4L)		
5.2.1.1 Synthesis of The Ligands (L5)		
5.2.1.2 Synthesis of The Ligands (L6 and L7)		
5.2.2 Synthesis of The Copper Complexes (Cu-L) (9-11)		
5.2.3 Synthesis of The Uranium Complexes [UO ₂ L] (12-14)		
5.2.4 Synthesis of The Heterobimitallic Complexes [(CuL)UO ₂] (15-17)		
5.3 Results and Discussion		
5.3.1 ¹ H-NMR Spectra		
5.3.2 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer		
5.4 Conclusion		
5.5 References		
CHAPTER		
FUTURE WORK		
References		
APPENDIX		
A Eigures for Mass Spectrometry of Complexes and Theoretical Calculations	170	

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Shown Are The Several Carrier Drugs	18
2.	Experimental Values for Selected Physical Properties of Copper	25
3.	Decay Data for Uranium	32
4.	Coordination Shifts (Δ^{1} H coord = δ^{-1} H complex- δ^{-1} H ligand, ppm) of The Prepared Pt Complexes, in DMSO-d6	67
5.	Coordination Shifts ($\Delta^{13}C \operatorname{coord} = \delta^{13}C \operatorname{complex} - \delta^{13}C \operatorname{Ligand}$, ppm) of The Prepared Complexes, and Their Complexes (¹³ C coordination shifts, $\delta^{13}C$ coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6.	67
6.	Nominal and Exact Masses of The Most Intense Peak of [M+H] ⁺ of The Pt(II) Complexes	75
7.	¹ H NMR Chemical Shifts (δ^{1H} , ppm) of Bipy, Phendione, Phen and Their Pt(II) or Pt(IV) Chloride Complexes (¹ H coordination shifts, Δ^{1H} coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6	93
8.	¹³ C NMR Chemical Shifts (δ^{13C} , ppm) of Bipy, Phendione, Phen and Their Pt(II) or Pt(IV) Chloride Complexes (¹³ C coordination shifts, Δ^{13C} coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6	95
9.	The Theoretical and Experimental Masses of The Most Intense Peak of [M+H] of the Pt(II) and Pt(IV) Complexes 10	04
10.	¹ H NMR Chemical Shifts (δ ^{1H} , ppm) of Ligands to, Cu(II) Complexes and Cu(II)U(VI) Complexes	20
11.	Main MS Peaks of The Synthesized Mono and Heterobimetallic Complexes 12	28
12.	¹ H NMR of The Schiff Base Ligands and Its Complexes	50
13.	The Main Peaks of The Synthesized Mono and Heterobimetallic Complexes	58

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	The Structure of A Schiff Base	6
2.	The Bridged Schiff Bases	6
3.	The Structure of The Salen Ligand	10
4.	Approved Platinum-Based Anticancer Drugs	12
5.	Different Components of Platinum Anticancer agents. Additional Factors That Can Be Varied Are The Stereochemistry and The Respective Number of Non-leaving and Leaving Group Ligands	20
6.	Cis-[PtLL'X ₂], Complexes with Mixed Amine Ligands	20
7.	Monofunctional Platinum (II) Complexes	21
8.	Pt (IV) Based Complexes That Are Undergoing Clinical Trials.	22
9.	Mechanism of Action of Cisplatin "The Discovery and Development of Cisplatin	24
10.	Schematic Representations of Energy Levels of Dinuclear Copper(II) Complexes in Presence of External Magnetic Field (E is proportional to magnetic field B). The Anisotropic Term D Can Arise from Ligand Asymmetry. J Measures Strength of Magnetic Coupling	29
11.	Synthesized of Drug DPAPlatin.	62
12.	Synthesis of Drug PhenPlatin.	63
13.	Synthesis of The Synthesized Drug TriPicolyAminePlatin.	63
14.	Synthesis of Drug DiPhenPlatin.	64
15.	Synthesis of Drug DCCPlatin.	65
16.	¹ H-NMR for DPAPlatin	68
17.	¹ H-NMR for PhenPlatin	68
18.	¹ H-NMR for TriPicolyAminePlatin	69
19.	¹ H-NMR for DiPhenPlatin	69
20.	¹ H-NMR for DCCPlatin	70

21. ¹³ C-NMR for DPAPlatin)
22. ¹³ C-NMR for PhenPlatin	l
23. ¹³ C-NMR for TriPicolyAminePlatin	l
24. ¹³ C-NMR for DiPhenPlatin	2
25. ¹³ C-NMR for DCCPlatin	2
26. Mass Spectrum for DPAPlatin	5
27. Mass Spectrum for PhenPlatin	5
28. Mass Spectrum for TriPicolyAminePlatin	5
29. Mass Spectrum for DiPhenPlatin	7
30. Mass Spectrum for DCCPlatin	7
31. Chemical structure of D1, D2 and D3	3
32. Chemical Structures of D4, D5, and D6)
33. ¹ H-NMR for Cipro-en	5
34. ¹ H-NMR for Cipro-phen	5
35. ¹ H-NMR for Cipro-en-bipy	7
36. ¹ H-NMR for Cipro-en-phendione	7
37. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl ₂]	7
38. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl ₂]	3
39. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl ₂]	3
40. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂])
41. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy) ₂ Cl ₂])
42. ¹ H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione) ₂ Cl ₂])

43. ¹³ C-NMR for Cipro-phen and [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl ₂]	. 100
44. ¹³ C-NMR for Cipro-en-phendione and [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl ₂]	. 101
45. ¹³ C-NMR for Cipro-en-bipy and [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl ₂]	. 101
46. ¹³ C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂]	. 102
47. ¹³ C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione) ₂ Cl ₂]	. 102
48. ¹³ C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy) ₂ Cl ₂]	. 103
49. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl2]	. 104
50. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl2]	. 104
51. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl2]	. 105
52. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂]	. 105
53. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)2Cl2]	. 105
54. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy) ₂ Cl ₂]	. 106
55. Chemical Structures of Synthesized Ligands	. 117
56. Chemical Structures of Cu(II) Complexes	. 117
57. Chemical Structures of [(CuL)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂] Complexes	. 118
58. ¹ H-NMR for L1	. 121
59. ¹ H-NMR for L2	. 122
60. ¹ H-NMR for L3	. 122
61. ¹ H-NMR for L4	. 122
62. ¹ H-NMR for complex 1 (CuL1)	. 123
63. ¹ H-NMR for complex 2 (CuL2)	. 123
64. ¹ H-NMR for complex 3 (CuL3)	. 124

65. ¹ H-NMR for complex 4 (CuL4)	4
66. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 5 [(CuL1)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]12	5
67. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 6 [(CuL2)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂] 12.	5
68. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 7 [(CuL3)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂] 12	6
69. ¹ H-NMR for complex 8 [(CuL4)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]12	6
70. Mass Spectrum for Complex 1 (CuL1) 12	8
71. Mass Spectrum for Complex 2 (CuL2) 12	8
72. Mass Spectrum for Complex 3 (CuL3) 12	9
73. Mass Spectrum for Complex 4 (CuL4) 12	9
74. Mass Spectrum for Complex 5 [(CuL1)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂] 12	9
75. Mass Spectrum for Complex 6 [(CuL2)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]	0
76. Mass Spectrum for Complex 7 [(CuL3)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]13	0
77. Mass Spectrum for Complex 8 [(CuL4)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]	0
78. Chemical Structures of Synthesized Ligands H4L (5-7)	7
79. Chemical Structures of Cu(II) Complexes (9-11)	7
80. Chemical Structures of [UO2L] Complexes (12-14) 14	8
81. Chemical Structures of [(CuL)UO ₂] Complexes14	8
82. ¹ H-NMR for L5	1
83. ¹ H-NMR for L6	1
84. ¹ H-NMR for L7	2
85. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 9 (CuL5) 15	2
86. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 10 (CuL6)	3

8	87. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 11 (CuL7)	. 153
8	88. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 12 [UO ₂ L5]	. 154
8	89. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 13 [UO ₂ L6]	. 154
ç	90. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 14 [UO ₂ L7]	. 155
ç	91. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 15 [(CuL5)UO ₂]	. 155
ç	92. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 16 [(CuL6)UO ₂]	. 156
ç	93. ¹ H-NMR for Complex 17 [(CuL7)UO ₂]	. 156
ç	94. Mass Spectrum for Complex 9 (CuL5)	. 158
ç	95. Mass Spectrum for Complex 10 (CuL6)	. 159
9	96. Mass Spectrum for Complex 11 (CuL7)	. 159
9	97. Mass Spectrum for Complex 12 [UO ₂ L5]	. 159
ç	98. Mass Spectrum for Complex 13 [UO ₂ L6]	. 160
9	99. Mass Spectrum for Complex 14 [UO ₂ L7]	. 160
10	00. Mass Spectrum for Complex 15 [(CuL5)UO ₂]	. 160
1(01. Mass Spectrum for Complex 16 [(CuL6)UO ₂]	. 161
1(02. Mass Spectrum for Complex 17[(CuL7)UO ₂]	. 161
10	03. Structures of Ligands Containing 4-substituted Alkoxy Chain and Metal Complex	. 174

LIST OF SCHEMES

1.	The Mechanism of Schiff Base Formation of Nucleophile Addition to The Carbonyl group
2.	The General Structure of Synthesis of Schiff Base
3.	The Proposed Mechanism of Action of Chelated Agents
4.	The Proposed Mechanism of Action of Pt(IV) Based Complexes
5.	The Proposed Mechanism of Action of Zeise's Salt
6.	Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en and Cipro-phen
7.	Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en-Phendione
8.	Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en-bipy
9.	Synthetic Route of Cu(II) Complexes (5-8), and [(CuL)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂] Complexes (9-12)
10.	The H ₄ L Schiff Bases
11.	Synthetic Route of Cu(II) Complexes (4-6), [UL(acac) ₂] (7-9), and [(CuL)U(acac) ₂] Complexes (10-12)

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

The present dissertation embodies the results of reactions of phenanthroline, phendione, bipyridine, and salicylaldehyde Schiff base derivatives with platinum, copper, and/or uranium for the synthesis of mono- and heterobimetallic complexes and the characterization of the resulting complexes. The structural assessment of the complexes described in this dissertation is based on the data obtained from ¹H and ¹³C NMR and mass spectrometry. Accordingly, the present chapter gives a brief account of the importance of the platinum, copper and uranium complexes followed by a literature survey on metal organic compounds, Schiff bases and platinum, copper, and uranium complexes.

As a result of extensive efforts on research over the last few decades, the objects of the fast progressing inter-disciplinary area of metal-organic chemistry or coordination chemistry has been emerging clearly. A greater understanding of the bonding and nature of these complexes has been developing especially with the advent of crystal field and ligand field theories which make the ability of utilizing a variety of Schiff bases and their complexes in diversified fields, like medicine, agriculture, environment, and industry.¹⁻⁶ The chemistry of metal organic compounds has been studied so. extensively that these compounds now include a significant part of organic chemistry and some area of biochemistry.⁷ The concept of coordination chemistry has been associated with the complexation of metal cations (Lewis acids) by ligands (Lewis bases) that have one or more electron pairs, and the electron pairs can be donated to the central metal with the formation of a coordinate bond to the metal.⁸ The coordination compounds have been concerned with the

transition metals, groups 3-12 in the periodic table, which are generally characterized by partially filled *d* subshells in the free elements or their cations. The transition metals exhibit significant horizontal similarities in chemistry in addition to their vertical similarities.⁹

Transition metal complexes are cationic, neutral, or anionic species in which a transition metal is coordinated by ligands.¹⁰ The chemistry of metal-organic compounds has received considerable attention largely due to their potential biological activities such as antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, antimalarial and anticancer activity. The metal ions are known to affect the activity of many drugs. The efficacy of many drugs is boosted when they are coordinated to a metal, and the combined synergistic effect is greater than the sum of the individual of the drug or metal alone.⁸ Moreover, the metal ion compounds have played a crucial rule in the fields of medicine and bioinorganic chemistry and are used as a starting material for the synthesis of new catalysts and drugs.^{6,11}

The metal complexes have been studied since 1798 and till nowadays significant progress has been made in the inorganic and organic chemistry concerning the synthesis, characterization, and application of this large group of metal complexes. The study of the structure of the metal complexes has considered those compounds which do not fit within the classical theory of valence, since the combination ratio of the elements exceeded their valences. This coordination theory developed by Alfred Werner indicated that the secondary valences of the elements are involved in the formation of the second-order combinations leading to the actual representation of the complexes formed by the first coordination sphere marked between brackets [central atom (ligand)] and the second coordination sphere (ionization sphere) coming outside of the brackets.¹²

1.2 Organic Ligands

In metal-organic chemistry, a ligand is an ion or molecule with a functional group that binds to a central metal atom to form a coordination complex. The ligands have lone pairs on one or more than one atom which make the ligands bind with metal ions through multiple sites. Monodentate ligands include virtually all anions and all simple Lewis bases. Thus, the halides and pseudo-halides are significantly important anionic ligands. Moreover, ammonia, carbon monoxide, and water are particularly common charge-neutral ligands. Simple organic compounds are also heavily used in coordination chemistry as ligands. All unsaturated molecules are also considered ligands which should be capable of forming the coordinate bond by utilizing their π electrons, in forming the coordinate bond.¹³

The ligands that bind through two sites are classified as bidentate, and those with three sites as tridentate. A classic bidentate ligand is ethylenediamine, which is derived by the linking of two ammonia groups with an ethylene (-CH₂CH₂-) linker. Very versatile ligands used in complexation include monodentate (N-, P-, O-, S), bidentate (N,N-, O,O-, N,S-), and also multidentate examples.¹⁴ Polydentate or chelating ligands bind via more than one atom. Chelating ligands are commonly formed by linking donor groups via organic linkers. EDTA is a common example of a hexadentate chelating agent which is able to bind through six sites, completely surrounding some metals. Polydentate ligands can be characterized by interacting with the central atoms. For example, trans-spanning ligands are bidentate ligands that can span coordination positions on opposite sides of a coordination complex.^{15,16} The central metal ions can also attach to ambidentate ligands that are capable of binding metal-ion centers in more than one way through different donor-atom combinations to provide an efficient strategy in the construction of functional coordination assemblies.¹⁴⁻¹⁸

1.3 Schiff Base

Schiff bases and corresponding metal complexes have gained considerable attention because they are likely capable of forming stable complexes with metal ions, and they are simply prepared by the condensation aldehyde or ketone with imines both of which are easily available and relatively cheap.¹⁹ Schiff bases are the most widely used organic compounds for industrial purposes.²⁰ Schiff bases provide interesting 3D exit vectors for substitution, with drug-like properties which are synthetically accessible because they have small and non-planar ring structures with robust conformations.²¹ Schiff base compounds and their metal complexes are very important as catalysts in various biological systems, polymers, dyes and medicinal and pharmaceutical fields²² and they have various therapeutically potent applications in the field of medicinal chemistry.^{23,22}

Chelated Schiff bases are also utilized in quantitative analysis as analytical chemical reagents and/or separation reagent which have been also outlined and discussed²⁴, and in synthetic applications in the field of the organic and inorganic chemistry.²³ They have exhibited a broad range of biological activities, including antifungal, antibacterial, antimalarial, antiproliferative, anti-inflammatory, antiviral, and antipyretic properties.²⁰ It has been confirmed that some Schiff bases show increased bio-activity²⁵ and a number of metal chelates with anticancer activity have also been reported. The strong attraction for the bonding of Schiff bases to inner and non-inner transition metal ions is essential in metal complex synthesis.²⁶ These ligands coordinate to different metal atoms through the imine nitrogen and other groups such as hydroxyl, carbonyl oxygen, or amine.²⁷ They are beneficial chelating agents because of their structural varieties, ease of preparation, assorted densities, and electronic control and subtle steric on their frameworks.^{28,29}

Schiff bases have played an influencing role in development of coordination chemistry and were involved as key points in the development of inorganic biochemistry and optical materials. Schiff bases are also used as catalysts, intermediates in organic synthesis, dyes, pigments, plant growth regulator and polymer stabilizers.²⁹ They also possess antimicrobial activities, antifungal activities, antiviral activities, antitumor and cytotoxic activities, and pharmaceutical properties.³⁰ Several model systems, including those with bidentate, tridentate, tetradentate, multidentate Schiff base ligands, and their coordination chemistry of copper attract much attention because of their biological relevance and their own interesting coordination chemistry such as variable geometries, flexible redox properties, and oxidation states.³¹

1.3.1 Synthesis of Schiff Base Ligands

Schiff bases are a class of compounds carrying imine or azomethine (-C=N-) functional group³² which is a carbon-nitrogen double bond (>C=N-) as shown in figure (1). The nitrogen atom of azomethine is attached to an alkyl, aryl, cyclo-alkyl or heterocyclic group which may be variously substituted. They were first reported by Hugo Schiff in 1864.³³ These compounds are easily coordinated with metal ions through the imine nitrogen and other groups linked to the Schiff base.³⁴ Schiff base compounds are condensation products of primary amines and carbonyl compounds (aldehydes and ketones) and have the general structure (R₁R₂ C=NR) where R is a linear or cyclic alkyl and/or aryl group which gives the Schiff base its stability.³⁴ Schiff bases that are derived from aliphatic aldehydes are relatively unstable and readily polymerizable, while those of aromatic aldehydes have effective conjugation and stability.³⁵ In general, aldehydes react faster than ketones in Schiff base condensation reactions as the reaction center of aldehyde is sterically less hindered than that of ketone. Furthermore, the extra carbon of

ketone donates electron density and thus makes the ketone less electrophilic compared to aldehyde.³⁵



Figure 1. The Structure of a Schiff Base.

Chemists nowadays prepare well designed bridged Schiff bases which are represented as shown in figure (1-2). They are well known, versatile chelating agents with multiple donor atoms like O, N, S etc. A huge number of versatile metal complexes of multi-dentate Schiff base ligands with O, N, S donors have been reported with numerous applications.



Figure 2. The Bridged Schiff Bases

Where $R_1 = H$ or alkyl group, $R_2 =$ phenyl or substituted phenyl group and X = an alkyl or phenyl group.³⁶

1.3.2 Mechanism

The formation of a Schiff base from carbonyl compounds is a reversible reaction and generally goes under acid (or) base catalysis, or upon heating as shown in scheme (1).



Scheme 1. The Mechanism of Schiff Base Formation of Nucleophile Addition to The Carbonyl Group.

In scheme (1), the first step of the Schiff base mechanism, the amine reacts with the aldehyde or ketone to give an unstable addition compound called carbinolamine, which is obtained as an intermediate.³⁷ Water loss from the carbinolamine is by either acid or base catalyzed pathways, but the carbinolamine is considered an alcohol. Thus, it undergoes acid catalysis.

The dehydration of carbinolamine is considered as a rate-determining step in the formation of the Schiff Base process and that is why the reaction is catalyzed by acids or Lewis acid. But the concentration of acids present for the catalysis cannot be too high because amines are basic compounds. If the amine is deprotonated and becomes non-nucleophilic, equilibrium is pulled to the left and the carbinolamine will go back to aldehyde or ketone and primary amine, due to which this reaction is best carried out at a mildly acidic pH.³⁸

Base catalysis is also used for the dehydration of carbinolamines. The reaction is somewhat similar to the E2 elimination of alkyl halides. The formation of Schiff bases can go in two steps through an anionic intermediate, i.e., addition followed by elimination. Several studies showed that the presence of a lone pair of electrons in a sp2 hybridized orbital of nitrogen atom of the azomethine group is of considerable chemical and biological importance.³⁹ The electron-donating groups, such as azomethines can trap metal ions which have large radii and high coordination numbers. In such a case, the two or more metal atoms are placed in one cavity so that they are in close proximity to each other and in turn can be characterized by unusual magnetic properties and catalytic activity.⁴⁰

1.3.3 Potential Problem in Schiff Base Formation

The formation of the imine has a potential problem that the imine double bond could be hydrolyzed back to the starting materials. Although the formation of Schiff bases is reversible, due to the hydrolysis of the imine under certain conditions, it is still straightforward for the reaction to succeed. The Schiff bases are very sensitive to water and easily hydrolyze back to aldehyde. The successful completion is carried out by separating the Schiff base compound or removing side products, byproducts, or both. Most reactions of the Schiff base formation are generally conducted smoothly in normal coordinated dry solvent such as MeOH or EtOH, it still has the potential problem in which the Schiff bases might be hydrolyzed.⁴¹ The following three ways are focused on using some additional procedure to remove the side product, water, in the imine formation. (I) Schiff base formation involves drying agents such as anhydrous sodium sulphate or anhydrous magnesium sulphate in a dichloromethane (DCM) or chloroform solvent; (II) the method for water elimination was developed by using dehydrating solvents such as tetramethyl orthosilicate or trimethyl orthoformate;⁴² (III) some reactants require forcing conditions such as heating to reflux in a high boiling solvent and may include the use of a Dean-Stark apparatus or molecular sieves or heating in a solvent that azeotropes away the water, e.g. ethanol.⁴³⁻⁴⁵



Scheme 2. The General Structure of Synthesis of Schiff Base.

The geometries adopted about the imine double bond are generally the trans orientation, which limits the steric interactions of the bulkier R group, with R being either aryl or alkyl substituents.⁴⁶ Furthermore, the reactivity of aldehydes is generally faster than that of the ketone in condensation reaction, that is less steric and more electrophilic than the ketone which has more electron density, and is relatively unstable, and freely polymerizable.⁴⁷ The Schiff base bonding ability depends on the nature of atoms that act as the coordination site, such as N, O, and S, the electronegativity and steric factors. Schiff bases act as active ligands due to the low electronegativity of nitrogen, N of the azomethine group (>C=N), the lone pair of electrons on the nitrogen atoms, and the electron donating character of the double bonds.⁴⁸ This brings about stability in metals with several oxidation states, regulating metal activities for a variety of useful

biological, catalytic conversions. Moreover, the lone pair of electrons on imine nitrogen can supply electrons which enable the formation of a proper donor bond to a metal ion for complexation to occur.⁴⁹ Many Schiff bases have a second functional group, normally OH and SH groups or another N atom, which are near the imine group. These functional groups can allow the formation of five or six member chelate rings when coordinated with different metal ions.

1.3.4 Salen Ligands

Salen ligands are condensation products of a diamine and two moles of salicylaldehyde or its derivatives, which possess tetradentate N₂O₂ donor sites as shown in figure 3.⁵⁰ The metal-salen complexes are readily available and have structural and chemical properties similar to porphyrins, which form stable complexes with most of metals due to the chelate effect. Therefore, the chemistry of metal complexes containing salen-type ligands has attracted much attention for a long time. Furthermore, great attention has been devoted to systems in which functionalized salen is used as a ligand and it was only in the mid-1980s that metal-salen complexes were tested for their catalytic activity. Since then, they have been successfully applied in various enantioselective reactions such as epoxidation,⁵¹ aziridination,⁵² cyclopropanation⁵³ the Diels-Alder,⁵⁴ and Strecker reactions⁵⁵ and in kinetic resolution of racemic epoxides.⁵⁶



Figure 3: The Structure of The Salen Ligand

The salen complexes are conformationally flexible and adopt a variety of geometries such as square planar, tetrahedral, square pyramidal and octahedral as well, with additional ligand(s).^{57,58} The 2-hydroxybenzaldehyde is a suitable building block due to the possible substitution patterns of the aromatic ring. Once the imine bond is formed from primary amine and aldehyde, the orientation of salen-type Schiff bases will form a more stable six-member ring when binding to metal ions. Moreover, two donor atoms, nitrogen and oxygen atoms of the chelated Schiff base have two opposite effects: that the phenolic oxygen is a hard donor and stabilizes the higher oxidation state, whereas the imine nitrogen is a border-line donor and stabilizes the lower oxidation state of the metal ion.⁵⁹ Therefore, salen can stabilize many different metals in various oxidation states and also can be used in a broad range of applications as homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts in various organic transformation reactions. Although the salen ligands are sensitive towards hydrolysis which is catalyzed by acid, their metal complexes are quite stable and thus to avoid the hydrolysis of salen ligands during the applications, their metal-complexes are often used. Moreover, salen ligands have potential to stabilize metal ions in various oxidation states, making them good candidates as catalysts.⁶⁰

Salen-type ligands with N and O donor atoms are important since their metal complexes find widespread applications as homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts in various organic transformation reactions.⁶¹ Interest in the synthesis of platinum (II), platinum (IV), copper (II) and uranium (VI) complexes is of crucial importance due to their applications in bioinorganic chemistry, pharmaceutical activity, magnetochemistry and homogeneous catalysis.⁶² The main objective of the bioinorganic chemistry of these compounds is to understand the functional and structural properties. The focus of the current research is to synthesize the platinum, copper and uranium complexes of Schiff base ligands and make further investigations of their applications and structural properties.

1.4 Platinum Anticancer Complexes

Platinum-based antitumor drugs are very effective anticancer agents which are used significantly in chemotherapy and play a crucial role in the treatment of various malignant tumors.⁶³ They are the backbone of many drugs which are clinically used for the treatment of different solid tumors such as genitourinary, colorectal, and non-small cell lung cancers.⁶⁴ The big challenges with this kind of anticancer agent are the toxic side effects, eventual inefficacy, and delivery systems. Thus, it is imperative to develop effective formulations that can address the above cited challenges and provide selective targeting of tumor sites without significant damage to the viability of healthy tissues. Although the efficacy and applicability of platinum drugs are heavily restricted, different strategies have been developed to alleviate or prevent the shortcomings of platinum-based chemotherapy.^{65,66} The classical Pt (II)-drug complexes^{67,68} are cisplatin (trade names Platinol and Platinol-AQ), carboplatin, oxaliplatin, nedaplatin, lobaplatin, and heptaplatin as shown in figure 4.



Figure 4. Approved Platinum-Based Anticancer Drugs

For the last four decades, thousands of platinum complexes have been prepared, designed, and developed in the hope of finding new drugs with a more tolerable toxicological profile and higher efficacy and for improving the efficiency of cisplatin itself.⁶⁹ The cisplatin drugs have become one of the more extensively used anticancer drugs with a high activity range against many tumors. Binding to DNA is the most accepted mode of action of cisplatin, and the failure of repair mechanisms to remove Pt-DNA adducts subsequently triggers apoptotic cellular suicide. Consequently, working in this field led to the development of cisplatin and improving the effectiveness of platinum-based drugs, extending the range of its medical application as well, such as reduced cellular drug uptake or increased drug efflux, enhanced repair mechanisms in healthy cells, drug deactivation, or a combination of the above-mentioned mechanisms.⁷⁰⁻⁷⁴

Platinum-based anticancer chemotherapy has a major disadvantage which is a severe side effect because of poor specificity. For this reason, systemic toxicities for cisplatin like nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, ototoxicity, and metagenesis cause serious disorders or injuries in patients during treatment which may result in ending treatment.⁷⁵ In addition to systemic toxicities, the efficacy of cisplatin is often limited by the intrinsic and acquired resistance by various cancers.⁷⁶ Multiple mechanisms have been proposed to shed light on the cellular resistance to cisplatin and its analogues in preclinical models. The four representative mechanisms include: (i) decreased drug accumulation or increased drug efflux;⁷⁷ (ii) increased detoxification of the drug by sulfur-containing molecules within the cells;⁷⁸ (iii) enhanced repair and increased tolerance to DNA damage;⁷⁹ and (iv) changes in molecular pathways involved in the regulation of cell survival or cell death.⁸⁰

The Italian chemist Michele Peyrone (1813–1883) was the first to synthesize cisplatin (cisdiamminedichloroplatinum (II)).⁸¹ Over a century later came Rosenberg's discovery; he and his colleagues found that the cisplatin compound caused filamentation of bacteria cells and killed eukaryotic cells, including cancer cells.⁸² Many more platinum compounds have been synthesized and evaluated as potential chemotherapeutic agents, although few of them have been used in the clinical treatment.⁸³ Worldwide annual sales of platinum-based anticancer drugs are currently around two billion U.S. dollars. Several other metal compounds have been found to show anticancer activity including a variety of complexes of ruthenium and gold, as well as metallocenes of Ti, Nb, Mo, and Re. Platinum(II) drugs, carboplatin and oxaliplatin have also found clinical use.^{84,85} Cisplatin is responsible for the cure of over 90% of testicular cancer cases and it plays a vital role in the treatment of cancers such as ovarian, head and neck cancer, bladder cancer, cervical cancer, melanoma, and lymphomas, as well as several others.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁷

Barnett Rosenberg was a biophysicist at the University of Michigan who had decided to examine the electrical currents which played an important role in cellular division. This was prompted by Rosenberg's feeling that the mitotic spindles in a dividing cell appeared similar to the classic school science experiment, where magnetic field lines are formed by scattering iron filings on paper over a magnet.⁸⁷ In order to examine this, *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* cells growing in an ammonium chloride buffer had a current used on them through "inert" platinum electrodes immersed in the buffer. After a period of time, the *E. coli* cells began appearing long and filamentous, much like spaghetti, instead of their classical sausage shape. This effect was caused by inhibiting the cellular division but not the growth; after much investigation, it was determined that the phenomenon was not due to the electrical current, but that platinum hydrolysis products had formed.⁸⁰ A range of group 10 transition-metal compounds were tested and found to also result

in elongation of *E. coli* cells, and in fact, elongation of a range of gram negative bacilli is affected by the most effective platinum salt.⁸¹ It was also reported by Rosenberg and co-workers that the cis form of the platinum(IV) complex was responsible for inhibition; the trans complexes were found to be ineffective and more toxic. The complexes demonstrated "potent" activity, shrinking large solid tumors in mice where the mice survived. Indeed, the cured mice did not show any signs of cancer. Based on these results, cisplatin entered clinical trials and it became the most used clinical drug for anticancer.⁸⁸

Over 50 years ago, Cisplatin played an important role in Alfred Werner's theory of coordination chemistry that correctly proposed its square planar configuration and distinguished between the cis and trans isomers (cisplatin and transplatin).⁹⁰⁻⁹³ Werner got the Nobel Prize for Chemistry for this work in 1913. In 1970 Dhara stated "A rapid method for the synthesis of cisplatin and the majority of subsequent cisplatin syntheses are based upon this method".⁹⁴

Because of the trans effect, the procedure of preparation of cisplatin was acceptable. The concept of the trans effect is due to Chernyaev in 1926 who made the empirical observations that the rate of substitution of a ligand in a square planar or octahedral metal complex is mostly dependent on the group opposite (or trans) to it, much more so than groups in cis positions.⁹⁴ In 1965 Rosenberg et al. discovered that cisplatin was highly effective in inhibiting cellular division.⁸² At present, cisplatin is one of the most widely employed drugs because it is more effective in the clinical treatment of 70–90% of testicular cancer, and especially when cisplatin is combined with other drugs, of brain, ovarian, bladder and breast cancer (Weiss and Christian, 1993). However, it exhibits several side-effects, such as nausea and vomiting, and particularly, high nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity. In addition, it may promote cross-resistance in the neoplastic

cells (Bloemink and Reedijk, 1996). To reduce the toxicity of platinum (II)-based drugs, sulfurcontaining compounds (especially thiols or dithiocarbamates) have been administered as antidotes.⁸⁷ It is well established that glutathione (Hamers et al., 1993), which is substituted for amino ligands, and other thiolic compounds (Galbraith et al., 1987) reduced the nephrotoxic effects.^{95,96} Recently, new Pd (II), Pt (II) and Pt (IV) complexes have been synthesized providing anticancer activity and lower toxic side effects (Von Nussbaum and Danishefsky, 2000).⁹⁷ Accordingly, thousands of platinum complexes have been tested in vitro and in vivo, and only a few of these showed chemotherapeutic properties and were suitable for clinical trials.

1.4.1 Side Effect of Platinum Based Drugs and Disadvantages

Unfortunately, cancer drugs are generally not selective, they will attack healthy cells as well as cancer cells. Long period of treatment, which could be more than five years of treatment have been a big reason to make some patients to give up these drugs.⁹⁸ Various side effects might occur such as nephrotoxicity, myelotoxicity, neurotoxicity, ototoxicity, nausea, and vomiting. The current studies are made in light of obtaining a safer drug delivery with lower toxicity and higher selectivity.

The disadvantages of cisplatin have provided us a good reason to improve the platinumbased anticancer drugs. Over the last 40 years, thousands of platinum complexes have been prepared with the aim of synthesizing new platinum drugs with a more tolerable toxicological profile and higher efficacy.⁹⁹ These attempts have helped bring five more drugs into clinical use, such us carboplatin, oxaliplatin, nedaplatin, lobaplatin, and heptaplatin, while about 10 others are currently under clinical trials. Each of the latecomers shows some qualities that are not shown by cisplatin.⁶⁹ For example, nedaplatin displays less nephrotoxicity and neurotoxicity than cisplatin and carboplatin, and oxaliplatin demonstrates less toxicity and little or no cross resistance to cisplatin or carboplatin. However, since most of these drugs operate via a similar non-specific mechanism of action, some defects of cisplatin are consequently retained, albeit to a lesser extent. Thus, simple modification of the ligands seems unlikely to bring about a leap from an indiscriminative drug to a magic bullet. Systemic toxicity and drug resistance are the main concerns in the current development of platinum anticancer agents. Ideally, future platinum drugs should attack exclusively cancerous cells without affecting normal ones and enter the former more readily than the latter. However, this goal is virtually unattainable for such a complicated disease as cancer. Nonetheless, it is possible to approach the ideal situation by developing platinum-based prodrugs that are safe in the administered form but are cytotoxic within the cancer cells after being activated under certain conditions. Obviously, the realization of this ideal is determined by the tumor selectivity of platinum complexes.^{100,101}

1.4.2 Targeting and Delivery of Platinum Based Anticancer Drugs

Drug targeting and delivery (DTD) represents a crucial field of research for drugs that can go deeper to their biological targets as "magic bullets".¹⁰² If we compare cisplatin anticancer drugs with traditional chemotherapy, such targeted therapy for cancers will have two major advantages: avoidance of damage to normal tissues, and restraint of drug resistance. Recently, various DTD approaches have been developed in an endeavor to reduce the systemic toxicity and drug resistance of platinum-based anticancer drugs.¹⁰³ The ultimate goal of these endeavors is to create platinum drugs which are highly selective for tumor tissues and can be administered at lower doses with fewer side effects and an improved therapeutic index. DTD is based on the specific biomolecular interactions between drugs and cell or tissue elements. This approach can be brought to tumors containing biochemical entities with big difference in quantity or functionality from normal
tissues. In a typical active DTD system, the targeting moiety is bound to the pharmacophore via a spacer and a linker; the specific functionality of the transporter-, antigen- or receptor-based conjugate drives the drug toward the tumor tissue by virtue of its specific binding affinity.¹⁰⁴ Bioactive substances, such as hormones, sugars, amino acids, proteins, and bisphosphonates, are commonly used to overcome the targeting function. Additionally, biodegradable molecules, such as polysaccharides, poly-amino acids, proteins, and water-soluble polyethylene glycol, are adopted to perform the delivery function. The addition of targeting functionality to the drug makes it possible to differentiate the cancerous cells or tissues form healthy ones, and thereby ensures the high efficacy and low side effects of the drug.^{96,105}

No.	Carrier drugs	Structures	References
1	Estrogens as carriers		105
2	Carbohydrates as carriers	\rightarrow	106
3	Bisphosphonates as carriers	O POEt N O POEt CI Pt OEt CI O Pt OEt OEt OEt OEt OEt	107
4	Peptides and proteins as carriers	$X = \overrightarrow{RGD}, NGR, (CRGDC)c, or (RGDfK)c$	108

Table 1. Shown Are The Several Carrier Drugs

1.4.3 Synthetic Methods for The Preparation of Platinum Anticancer Complexes

In this part, we present an overview of known synthetic strategies for the synthesis of platinum anticancer complexes. The present reports provide chemists working with synthesis of inorganic materials with practical advice on the synthesis and purification of potential platinum anticancer agents. The coordination chemistry principles employed for the preparation of such compounds are emphasized and are useful to a wide audience of chemists. There are two major sections, for the synthesis of platinum(II) and platinum(IV) complexes. These sections are further divided based on the nature and stereochemistry of the target complexes. In each section, a short overview is provided of the anticancer properties of the target complexes. Multinuclear platinum complexes, some of which are excellent drug candidates, have been omitted from this review to maintain the focus on single-site reactivity.¹⁰⁹

The reaction schemes do not display fully balanced chemical reactions, but instead illustrate only the major platinum-containing species. This choice stems from the complexity of many seemingly simple reactions of platinum compounds, the chemistry of which can be deceptively complicated. Two generic ligand types, L and X, are utilized (figure below), with ligands symbolized by "L" representing either an amine or *N*-heterocyclic unit. When "(L²)" is used, the ligand is bidentate. Ligands designated with an "X" are monoanionic, like halides or carboxylates.



Figure 5. Different Components of Platinum Anticancer agents. Additional Factors That Can Be Varied Are The Stereochemistry and The Respective Number of Non-leaving and Leaving Group Ligands

1.4.3.1 Synthesis of Platinum (II) Complexes

All clinically used platinum drugs contain the element in the 2^+ oxidation state which have almost exclusively square-planar coordination geometries. The major reaction of the synthesis of platinum(II) and other square-planar d⁸ complexes involves associative ligand substitution as shown in figures 6 and 7. Reactions proceed through five-coordinate trigonal-bipyramidal intermediates. The stereochemistry of the products is dictated by the relative trans effect of the ligands within the complex. An early review on the synthesis of monodentate amine complexes of platinum (II) is also available.^{109,110}



Figure 6. Cis-[PtLL'X₂], Complexes with Mixed Amine Ligands.¹¹¹



Figure 7. Monofunctional Platinum (II) Complexes.¹¹²

1.4.3.2 Synthesis of Platinum(IV) Anticancer Complexes

Platinum(IV) complexes have been subjected to clinical trials. Octahedral coordination geometry in platinum(IV) complexes gives an advantage over their platinum(II) analogs because two additional ligands allow for further tuning of the properties, as well as giving the ability to attach functional or targeting groups.¹¹³ Moreover, being complexes of d⁶ octahedral metal ions, platinum(IV) compounds are substantially more inert than those of platinum(II). Thus, undesirable side reactions with proteins or intracellular thiols can generally be avoided using platinum(IV) complexes.¹¹⁴ The kinetic inertness of satraplatin is most likely due to the fact that platinum(IV) complexes in general are inert, and they usually undergo the reduction of platinum(II) before binding to their ultimate intracellular target, DNA.¹¹⁵ Reduction of platinum(IV) occurs with loss of two ligands, giving a square-planar geometry for the platinum(II) product. It has generally been supposed that the two ligands lost upon reduction are located trans to each other and both derive from positions along the axis orthogonal to the original plane of four ligands. There are a number of reports in recent research that the composition of the reduced platinum(II) products is dependent on the nature of the reducing agent. Furthermore, the kinetics of intracellular platinum(IV) reduction depends on the type of cell, and the ligands define the coordination sphere of the complex.¹¹⁶ The ability to rationally design new platinum(IV) anticancer drug candidates using

well-defined synthetic chemistry is critical for discovering new therapeutic agents and for further elucidating structure-activity relationships.¹¹⁷ Different platinum(IV) complexes have been under clinical trials, but none has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical use in the United States. These drugs are iproplatin, tetraplatin, and satraplatin figure 8.



Iproplatin

Satraplatin

Tetraplatin

Figure 8. Pt (IV) Based Complexes That Are Undergoing Clinical Trials

1.4.4 Mechanism of Action

Cisplatin produces anticancer activity by crosslinking and intercalating with DNA, causing cell death via "apoptosis".¹¹⁸ After introduction into the bloodstream of a patient, cisplatin faces a high concentration of chloride in the blood plasma, which is around 100 mM, and the high concentration does not allow the replacement of its chloride ligands by water molecules; therefore, the process of aquation is prevented. Nonetheless, cisplatin is vulnerable to attack by proteins found in blood plasma, in particular those that have thiol groups, such as human serum (albumin) and the amino acid (cysteine). As a matter of fact, studies have shown that one day after cisplatin administration, more than 50% of the platinum in blood plasma is protein bound.¹¹⁹ This protein is able to deactivate the drug¹²⁰ and produce some of the cisplatin treatment's severe side effects.¹¹⁹

In synthetic processes, this drug is formed together with the trans formation, which is not very cytotoxic, but is a strong systemic toxin and should be removed before treatment. The concentration, which is between 2 to 30 mM, of the chloride decreases inside cells, and after complete hydrolysis in the second step, the second chloride ligand is replaced by another water molecule forming $[Pt(NH_3)_2(H_2O)_2]^{2+}$ and Platinum binds to a second nucleotide, resulting in a rapid chelation reaction (see figure 9), forming 1,2 adducts. These aquated species readily react since H₂O is a better leaving group than Cl⁻. The primary bifunctional adducts are of guanine-guanine or adenine-guanine which cause distortion of DNA proteins, signaling DNA repair or cell death. ¹²¹

The vast difference in the reactivity of cisplatin and trans-platin is the result of the "trans effect." Trans-platin hydrolyses four times faster than cisplatin and reacts with ammonia approximately 30 times faster. The high reactivity of the trans isomer leads to side reactions and hence is not effective as an anti- cancer drug. The inability of trans isomer to form 1,2 adducts between adjacent purine bases can be attributed to steric effects. However, it has been discovered recently that trans complexes with bulky amine groups slow the rate of substitution reactions and are sources of potential drugs.¹²²



Figure 9. Mechanism of Action of Cisplatin "The Discovery and Development of Cisplatin¹²² **1.5 Copper Complexes**

Copper is a transition metal, which has an electron configuration of $[Ar]4s^{1}4p^{6}3d^{10}$ and other physical properties which are shown in table 2. Copper is found in three different oxidation states: Cu(I), Cu(II), and less commonly, Cu(III).¹²³ Cu(I) complexes configuration $[Ar]4p^{6}3d^{10}$, is usually diamagnetic and colorless. If it is colored, the color is produced by a charge transfer band or an internal transition in a ligand.¹²⁴ Cu(II) with configuration $[Ar]4p^{6}3d^{9}$, is the most common oxidation state of copper that exists in biological systems. Also, Cu(I) exists in biological systems and many important enzymes, and many proteins depend on the Cu(I)-Cu(II) interconversion. Due to its d⁹ orbital configuration, Cu(II) provides a typical example of the Jahn-Teller effect which causes a splitting of e_g and t_{2g} orbitals.¹²⁵ The distortion is usually seen as axial elongation consistent with the lability and geometric flexibility of the complex. For that reason, typical Cu(II) complexes have square planar or square pyramidal geometries with weakly attached ligands in the axial position(s), but some copper(II) complexes possess trigonal bipyramidal geometry and others exhibit distorted octahedral and tetrahedral symmetries since complexes easily undergo ligand rearrangement and/or solvent or counter anion coordination, giving more thermodynamically stable compounds with square pyramidal or trigonal bipyramidal structure.¹²⁶

Much attention has been devoted to studying copper complexes because copper centers in the complexes have a variety of distortions,^{127,128} and copper is considered hard and easily coordinates with N and O. Most Cu(II) complexes are observed in the electronic spectra of Cu(II) complexes as a single broad, poorly resolved band envelope. This envelope is typical of Cu (II) complexes in tetragonal complexes. These complexes are generally blue or green because of an absorption band in the 600-900 nm region of the spectrum.¹²⁴ A third oxidation state Cu (III) is relatively rare and difficult to attain without the use of strong π -donating ligands. These complexes usually adopt a square planar geometry due to the d⁸ Cu (III) electron configuration.¹²⁹

Property	Cu
Atomic number	29
Naturally occurring isotopes	2
Atomic weight	63.546
Electronegativity	1.9
metal radius / pm	128
ionic radius / pm. I	77
П	73
III	54
Ionization energy(eV) 1st	7.72
2 nd	20.28
3 rd	37.07

Table 2. Experimental Values for Selected Physical Properties of Copper

Copper is an essential trace element in all living organisms, important in the process of internal oxidation and reduction, employed as a structural and catalytic cofactor, and consequently it is involved in many biological pathways.¹³⁰ Focusing on this, much attention has been devoted to the mechanisms of absorption¹³¹ distribution¹³² metabolism, and excretion of copper,¹³³ as well as on its role in development of cancer and other diseases.^{134,135} The copper concentration in the human body is tightly regulated at the levels of cells, organs, and body, ¹³⁶ since copper free ions are potentially harmful. Once absorbed in the small intestine and stomach (adult human dietary recommendation is estimated at between 1.5 and 3.0 mg Cu/d),¹³⁷ the distribution of copper is regulated by the liver into the bloodstream through ceruloplasmin and albumin. Cu levels in serum and tissue have been demonstrated to be significantly greater in various human tumors, including breast, prostate, colon, lung and brain cancers.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ Kuo et al reported that serum and tissue Cu levels in breast cancer patients were markedly higher than levels in the control group.¹³⁶ Moreover, abnormal accumulation of copper is associated with several human diseases, disorders and pathological states including oxidative-stress-related disorder, aceruloplasminemia, Alzheimer, Parkinson, Wilson's disease, Menkes disease, etc., rheumatoid arthritis, gastrointestinal ulcers, epilepsy, diabetes, and cancer.¹⁴⁰

1.5.1 Biological Applications of Copper (II) Complexes

The complexes of copper (II) ion containing Schiff bases have attracted attention due to their remarkable properties as catalysts in various biological systems, polymers, dyes, antimicrobial activities, antifungal activities, antiviral activities, anti-inflammatory activities, antiradical activities, plant growth regulator, enzymatic activity, insecticides, antitumor and cytotoxic activities. They also possess wide applications in the analytical chemistry, agrochemical and pharmaceutical fields.¹⁴¹ The crucial role of copper and the acceptance of its complexes as

important bioactive compounds in vitro and in vivo actuated an ever-increasing interest in these agents as potential drugs for therapeutic finding for various diseases.¹⁴² The coordination chemistry of copper(II) has considerable attention due to its biological relevance and its own interesting coordination chemistry such as flexible geometry, redox property, and oxidation state.¹⁴³ Recently, coordination compounds have been known to be useful in constructing molecular information processing systems, particularly by biological self-organizing processes.¹⁴⁴ Especially for this purpose, synthesis of copper complexes has been directed towards mimics for metalloenzyme.¹⁴⁵

The current research efforts have been devoted to the potential chemotherapeutic properties and antibacterial activities of copper complexes.¹⁴⁶ Therefore, several strategies have been developed for new anticancer therapeutics targeting the elevated tumor-specific copper level.¹⁴⁷ Actually, control of angiogenesis, tumor growth, and metastasis could be attained by chelating the excess of copper and small molecules with copper-binding ability that are easily synthesized and structurally manipulated has become an attractive tool.¹⁴⁸

Somewhat reversing the anticancer strategy based on sequestration of copper to prevent establishment of the tumor blood supply, tumor cells may represent a suitable, selective target for a copper-based antitumor drug. For the success of copper-based anticancer strategies the chemical framework and ligand donor atom set is of crucial importance since it can modulate the hard/soft properties of the metal, the lipophilic/hydrophilic balance of the resulting complexes, and their solubility in extracellular fluids as well as the ability to permeate the bilayer lipidic membrane. Other important aspects that should be taken into account in the design of copper complexes include their stability toward trans chelation reactions with physiological molecules (individual amino acids, peculiar peptide sequencies, or whole proteins). These processes may sometimes preclude the expected tumor targeting or, on the contrary, may sometimes facilitate the cellular internalization of the metal.¹⁴⁹ In addition, the study and development of Cu complexes could be helpful in the design and production of antiviral and antibacterial materials, the ability to deactivate HIV or H1N1 viruses¹⁵⁰ and antibiotic-resistant bacteria, respectively. Towards this aim, a method of producing copper-impregnated materials that possess broad-spectrum antimicrobial properties has been reported.¹⁵¹ Cu (II) complexes of NSAIDs showing enhanced anti-inflammatory and antiulcerogenic activity, as well as reduced gastrointestinal toxicity compared to the uncomplexed drug, have been prepared and structurally characterized.¹⁵²

1.5.2 Dinuclear Copper(II) Complexes

Interacting between two copper (II) ions leads to form a singlet and a triplet and separate the energy between them. This energy is called the isotropic exchange constant 2J as shown in figure 10. The signals arising only from the triplet states are observed. When there is an antiferromagnetic coupling between two copper ions, the intensity of the triplet spectrum is found to decrease with a decrease in temperature, since the triplet state is higher in energy, which is depopulated with a low temperature. A reverse effect is found in case of ferromagnetic coupling.¹⁵³ The sign and the magnitude of the isotopic exchange constant can be estimated by analyzing the temperature dependence of the triplet. For the triplet state total spin S=1, the allowed values for the spin angular momentum are -1, 0 and +1.¹⁵⁴



Figure 10. Schematic Representations of Energy Levels of Dinuclear Copper(II) Complexes in Presence of External Magnetic Field (E is proportional to magnetic field B). The Anisotropic Term D Can Arise from Ligand Asymmetry. J Measures Strength of Magnetic Coupling.

The synthesis of polynuclear metal complexes has attracted the attention of chemists for a long time,¹⁵⁵ because these provide invaluable opportunities for crossing boundaries both within and between the fields of metallobiochemistry,¹⁵⁶ materials science and theoretical chemistry.¹⁵⁷ Among a variety of polynuclear metal complexes, those containing oxygen-bridged copper(II) are of particular interest because they might represent valuable model compounds for the active site of a number of metalloenzymes and also for their interesting magnetic properties.¹⁵⁶ Dinuclear copper(II) complexes are known to be useful systems for the study of long-distance metal-metal interactions, since the metal ion has only one unpaired electron.¹⁵⁸

The magnetic properties of bridged dinuclear copper(II) complexes have been extensively studied, since the copper(II) ions have an S = 1/2 spin, which makes them easier to deal with, from both the experimental and theoretical points of view.¹⁵⁹ Bleaney and Bowers, derived a theoretical

expression for the magnetic susceptibility of dinuclear copper(II) systems¹⁶⁰, making it possible to extract the exchange coupling constant (J) for each complex from the magnetic susceptibility curves. The wealth of available coupling constants allows the study of their relationship with structural parameters, in search for some trends that could lead to a rational design of new complexes with improved magnetic properties. For the related bis(hydroxo)¹⁶¹ and bis(alkoxo)¹⁶² bridged copper(II) complexes, linear relationships between the Cu–O–Cu bond angle and the J values obtained from a fitting of the experimental magnetic susceptibility data have been reported. For instance, in the case of hydroxo complexes, a transition from antiferromagnetism to ferromagnetism is observed for Cu–O–Cu angles smaller than 97°.¹⁶⁰

This phenomenon is attributed to an "accidental orthogonality" of the orbitals bearing the unpaired electrons. Thus, to minimize electronic repulsions, the system adopts the high spin state that corresponds in this case to a triplet. From a molecular orbital point of view, Hoffmann¹⁶³ and Kahn¹⁶⁴ gave consistent explanations within the extended Hückel framework. More recently, the use of theoretical methods based on density functional theory (DFT) has made it possible to obtain remarkably good quantitative estimates of the J values for this kind of complexes, despite the small energy differences associated to these interactions. Ruiz et al.¹⁶⁵ earlier applied such an approach to the study of magnetostructural correlations in hydroxo- and alkoxobridged copper (II) complexes.¹⁶⁶ The results indicate that several structural parameters affect the J value, but the Cu–O–Cu angle (α), correlated with the phenyl out-of-plane shift angle (1), plays a key role (see Figure 4). Among other structural parameters, a special mention of the bending of the Cu₂O₂ framework around the O···O hinge, that can also play an important role if it is sufficiently large. All dinuclear bis(phenoxo) bridged CuII complexes belong to one of two general types, having two chelate

ligands spanning terminal and bridging positions, or with the phenoxo groups incorporated into a multidentate macrocyclic ligand.

The second family, known as Robson complexes, has been studied by Thompson et al.¹⁶⁷, who showed that the exchange coupling constant is correlated to the Cu–O–Cu bond angle. An important feature of the Robson-type macrocycles is that they are generally constrained to adopt a planar configuration. Thompson et al. also analyzed the effect of different electron withdrawing substituents on the value of the coupling constant. Theoretical studies of the different electronic effects of substituents on the magnetic exchange interaction between substituted dialkoxo Cu (II) systems and substituted carboxylate Cu(II) complexes were later published by Rodríguez-Fortea et al.¹⁶⁸ The effects reported in those two publications correspond to substituents only one or two bonds away from the bridging oxygen atoms.

1.6 A Brief History of Uranium

Uranium was discovered as an element in 1789 by Martin Heinrich Klaproth, a German apothecary and early analytical chemist, Klaproth had in fact produced only the oxide, not the pure element, and in 1841 the French chemist Eugène Péligot isolated the metal by reducing uranium tetrachloride with potassium metal.^{169,170} Uranium remained a curiosity with no significant commercial use until the late 19th century, when the physicist Henri Becquerel discovered that uranium salts emitted invisible rays, now known to include gamma rays, which are at the high energy end of electromagnetic radiation which includes radio waves, microwaves, infrared, (visible) light, ultraviolet, X-rays, and gamma rays;¹⁷⁰ also emanated are alpha rays, now known to be helium nuclei and beta rays, no known to be electrons. In nature, its most common form is in uranyl $[O=U^{VI}=O]^{2+}$, which is trans-bis-oxo, including minerals such as schoepite, pitchblende, and uraninite, $U^{IV}O_2$, formed by exposure of uranium complexes to air or moisture. The most

common three isotopes are, ²³⁸U (99.28%), ²³⁵U (0.71%), and ²³⁴U (0.005%)¹⁷⁰: of these only the latter two can be used in nuclear fuels. Thus, UO₂ is oxidized to gaseous UF₆, which can be separated in ultracentrifuges to enrich the fissile isotopes. All isotopes are radioactive, with ²³⁸U having the longest half-life of 4.468×10^9 years, decaying via α -particles emission; table 3 shows the decay data for uranium.

Isotope	Natural abundance	Half-life (billions of years)	Decay mode	Decay energy
²³⁴ U	0.0045%	0.000245	α	4.8 MeV
²³⁵ U	0.71%	0.704	α, γ	4.4, 0.21MeV
²³⁶ U	499.28%	4.468	α	4.2 MeV

Table 3. Decay Data for Uranium

Demand for uranium itself grew in 1939 when physicists announced that nuclear fission was theoretically possible, and that it could be used to produce a powerful weapon.¹⁶⁹ By the mid-1950s, many aspects of uranium metallurgy had been investigated, designed, piloted, and built into operating plants.¹⁷¹ Most of the processes used today were developed and piloted in the 15-year period following World War II. The uranium industry today is considered a fully developed supply chain for the many nuclear power plants around the world. In the next process step, the respective halides or oxides can be reduced by alkali or earth alkali metals to give pure uranium metal.¹⁷¹ The ²³⁸U remaining after removal of the other isotopes, is called depleted uranium (DU), and its main applications are due to the fact that it is one of the highest metals, e.g. in armor piercing shells fired which can attain high momentum due to density. DU is nowadays also the main source for chemical transformations, while in the last century mainly uranyl containing minerals, different oxides, halides, or nitrates were used as starting materials for the development of uranium chemistry.¹⁷²

Uranium compounds are difficult to reduce due to the strongly electropositive nature of the metal. Uranium metal is also highly reactive, being known to react with almost all the elements of the periodic table (with the exception of the noble gases). When exposed to oxygen or water, the metal reacts rapidly to form a black oxide layer at room temperature.¹⁷³

As global energy consumption continues to rise, so do demands on the energy sector.¹⁷⁴ Nuclear power is a major contributor, and remains an integral asset, to carbon neutral energy production.¹⁷⁵ Even as nuclear power is integrated and essential to the energy market, there is a threat of environmental¹⁷⁶ contamination if radiation escapes, along with an increasing problem of nuclear waste storage. Interest in fundamental actinide research to better understand uranium and the other f-elements has been on the rise to elucidate their fundamental chemistry and pave the way for enhanced nuclear fuel remediation techniques.¹⁷⁷ Recently, depleted uranium, a byproduct of enriching uranium, has been investigated for applications in catalysis to complete difficult chemical transformations.¹⁷⁸ Researchers have also sought to characterize the degree of actinide covalency both synthetically and computationally using ligands featuring nitrogen donors.¹⁷⁹ Sessler and co-workers have explored changes in ligand aromatic character when bound to an actinide.¹⁸⁰

1.6.1 Coordination Chemistry of Uranium

The coordination chemistry of uranium is analogous to that of transition metals, but what distinguishes uranium from them is that its valence electrons reside in f orbitals.¹⁸¹ Unlike the 4f and 5d orbitals of lanthanides, both 5f and 6d orbitals of uranium are actually less contracted and can have better overlap with ligand-based orbitals.¹⁸² Another distinction is that the greater number of valence orbitals (seven f orbitals vs. five d orbitals for transition metals) allows uranium to support more types of coordination modes. Additionally, uranium can access a wide range of

oxidation states that are typically less accessible to transition metals. For example, uranium complexes are known for each oxidation state from +3 to +6, differentiating it from much of the f-block.^{183,184} Despite relativistic effects, f orbitals are contracted by nature, and covalency in uranium-ligand bonding is more limited than in the d-block.¹⁸⁵ This dichotomy results in interesting reactivity and electronic structure observed nowhere else in the periodic table. All the characteristics described above lead to a unique behavior for uranium compounds, and its potential to catalyze a remarkable range of transformations has been revealed in the last couple of decades.¹⁸⁶

The inspiration behind the synthesis and investigation of uranium-nitrogen complexes generally derives from four basic motives, namely a desire to: (i) explore the fundamental chemistry of 5f-elements' reactivity and coordination behavior; (ii) understand the bonding interactions between the metal center and ligand (ionic or covalent bonding); (iii) identify suitable trivalent actinide (An(III)) extractants for nuclear remediation and finally, (iv) explore possible applications of new complexes, such as in catalysis or as sensors. The first motive needs no further clarification: the rarity and radioactivity of the actinide elements has restricted them from widespread study, leaving them as one of the few unexplored areas of the periodic table. Moreover, the bonding behavior of the lanthanides and actinides has been a subject of debate for nearly 40 years¹⁸⁷, a fact that underlies the second motive for investigation. Since the report of uranocene [U(COT)2] by Streitwieser and Müller-Westerhoff in 1968¹⁸⁸, many groups have tried to prove, or disprove, covalent interactions between the actinide cations and various ligands. For instance, metal-to-ligand-bonding has been observed in uranium-phosphorus complexes¹⁸⁹, and uraniumarene complexes,¹⁹⁰ leading to the suggestion that a covalent interaction is possible with uranium. A number of complexes have also been reported in which the presence of nitrogen back donation

with U(III) is proposed.¹⁹¹ Evidence has also been put forth suggesting back bonding between amido groups and a U(II) center.¹⁹²

Uranium, while not present in the trivalent coordination state in a significant amount in nuclear waste, is often chosen as a model for the minor actinides in extraction studies. Although not a perfect match in terms of electronic structure, U(III) salts often display reactivity that is similar to those of the minor actinides. This cation is also less radioactive than other actinide cations and available in readily usable quantities. Finally, a number of uranium-containing complexes have been shown to be useful in other applications, such as catalysis, anion and neutral molecule sensing and small molecule activation. These applications are providing a less specialized and easier-to-appreciate motivation for carrying out actinide-related chemical research.¹⁹³

The most thoroughly investigated, best characterized and most stable oxometal cations are the dioxouranium (VI), dioxomolybdenum(VI) and oxovanadium(IV) ions. The strongly bound oxygens of these oxometal cations remain intact during chemical reactions and produce one or more additional absorption bands beyond those normally available in transition metal complexes. The formation of multiple covalent bonds to oxygen by uranium has been explained theoretically. The tendency of oxygen to delocalize its π electrons away from its highly compact valence shell by forming π bonds with π electron acceptor metals accounts for the formation of metal oxygen bond, at least qualitatively. Complexes of the uranyl ion, UO_2^{2+} , are of interest since they show seven-coordinate, pentagonal-bipyramidal geometry (Gatto *et al.*, 2004).¹⁹⁴ Due to the spectral properties (absorption and luminescence) and excited-state electron-transfer properties of the UO_2^{2+} ion, dioxouranium (VI) complexes have possible applications in solar energy conversion systems (Signorni and Dockal, 1996).¹⁹⁵ The dioxouranium(VI) complexes with tetradentate Schiff bases have been the subject of many investigations, while the oxouranium complexes with bi- or tridentate Schiff bases seem to be fewer in the literature (Mandlik and Anwar, 2003).¹⁹⁶ The tridentate dibasic Schiff base ligands behave as an ONO-donor ((El-Tabl *et al.*, 2002)¹⁹⁷ and react with the uranyl salts to form two types of complexes, depending on the molar ratio of the reactions. The first liquid crystal (mesogen) complex containing U (the first uranomesogen), published in 2002¹⁹⁸, showed that a very heavy MW coordination complex could form liquid crystals (at that time not generally believed possible); the liquid crystal range was only over a short temperature range. Follow-up studies¹⁹⁹ showed that more U complexes form liquid crystals, and with much longer liquid crystal range. To build on this, it should be possible to make binuclear U complexes with liquid crystal properties with heavy substituents (e.g., halogens), demonstrating the possibility of much higher MW liquid crystals. The enabling chemistry for such new materials requires us to establish that suitable binuclear U chemistry is possible.

Only a few heterometallic 3d-5f complexes are reported. These 3d-5f complexes are derived mainly from uranium in different oxidation states by using various types of ligands, for example, phosphonates, hexadentate bicompartmental N_2O_4 Schiff base metalloligands, etc.²⁰⁰ The compounds containing lower valence uranium (U^{III/IV/V}) have been synthesized mostly to explore their interesting magnetic properties.²⁰¹ On the other hand, the naturally occurring uranyl compounds which have been known for their interesting photophysical properties for centuries and have immense importance in terms of environmental, geological, or bioassay fields²⁰² are rarely explored to make photo responsive systems using interactions between transition metal complexes and uranyl ions.²⁰³ The hexadentate bicompartmental ligands have been found to be very convenient to create heterometallic complexes including 3d-4f metal ions.²⁰⁴ In recent years

the use of monocompartmental chelates derived from tetradentate salen type Schiff bases (salen = N,N'-bis(salicylidene)ethylenediamine) has also gained popularity.²⁰⁵ The oxygen atoms of the neutral Cu(II) and Ni(II)-chelate of such ligands can coordinate to a second metal ion providing a facile way for the synthesis of bi-, tri-, tetra-, or polynuclear heterometallic complexes in which the second metal ion is a s-block, p-block, d-block, or 4f-block cation.²⁰⁶ However, to date these chelates have not been used to synthesize heterometallic 3d-5f complexes. As actinyls are hard acids with a strong oxophilic character and prefer high coordination numbers (five, six or seven) around the equatorial plane, they are expected to be incorporated easily by these monocompartmental chelates.²⁰⁷

1.7 References

- 1. Nadira, W., Singh, H.B., Gajana, A. and Raichowdhary, A.V., 1987. Synthesis of metal complexes of antimalaria drugs and in vitro evaluation of their activity against Plasmodium falciparium. *Inorganica chimica acta*, *135*, *pp.133-137*.
- Heater, S.J., Carrano, M.W., Rains, D., Walter, R.B., Ji, D., Yan, Q., Czernuszewicz, R.S. and Carrano, C.J., 2000. Interaction of oxo-bridged vanadium (III) phenanthroline and bipyridine dimers with DNA. *Inorganic chemistry*, 39(17), pp.3881-3889.
- 3. Roos, J.T. and Williams, D.R., 1977. Synthesis and evaluation of several compounds with potential antiviral activity. *Journal of Inorganic and Nuclear Chemistry*, 39(7), pp.1294-1297.
- 4. Behrens, N.B., Diaz, G.M. and Goodgame, D.M., 1986. Metal complexes of the antibiotic nalidixic acid. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 125(1), pp.21-26.
- 5. Ming, L.J., 2003. Structure and function of "metalloantibiotics". *Medicinal research reviews*, 23(6), pp.697-762.
- 6. Cole, A., Goodfield, J., Williams, D.R. and Midgley, J.M., 1984. The complexation of transition series metal ions by nalidixic acid. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 92(2), pp.91-97.
- 7. George B. Kauffman and Jack Halpern, Coordination compound., *Encyclopædia Britannica., accessed August 03, 2018.*
- 8. Gudat, D., 1997. Cationic low coordinated phosphorus compounds as ligands: Recent developments. *Coordination chemistry reviews*, *163*, *pp.71-106*.
- 9. Hathaway, B.J., Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R.D. and McCleverty, J.A., 1987. Comprehensive coordination chemistry. *The synthesis, reactions, properties and applications of coordination compounds*, *5*, pp.533-774.
- 10. Cox, P.A., 2005.Instant Notes Inorganic Chemistry.2nd Edition.BIOS Scientific Publishers *New York, NY 10001–2299, USA; 237.*
- 11. Singh, A.P., Kaushik, N.K., Verma, A.K. and Gupta, R., 2011. Synthesis, structure, and anticancer activity of copper (II) complexes of N-benzyl-2-(diethylamino) acetamide and 2-(diethylamino)-N-phenylethylacetamide. *Indian Journal of Chemistry*, 50A, pp. 474-483.

- 12. Jurca, T., Marian, E., Vicaş, L.G., Mureşan, M.E. and Fritea, L., 2017. Metal complexes of pharmaceutical substances. *Spectrosc. Anal. Dev. Appl.*
- Tomson, N.C., Arnold, J. and Bergman, R.G., 2010. Synthesis, Characterization, and Reactions of Isolable (β-Diketiminato) niobium (III) Imido Complexes. Organometallics, 29(21), pp.5010-5025.
- 14. Tong, W.L., Yiu, S.M. and Chan, M.C., 2013. Crowded bis-(M-salphen)[M= Pt (II), Zn (II)] coordination architectures: luminescent properties and ion-selective responses. *Inorganic chemistry*, 52(12), pp.7114-7124.
- Kianfar, A.H., Dostani, M. and Mahmood, W.A.K., 2015. An unprecedented DDQ–nickel (II) Salen complex interaction and X-ray crystal structure of nickel (II) Salen. DDH cocrystal. *Polyhedron*, 85, pp.488-492.
- 16. Maity, D., Drew, M.G., Godsell, J.F., Roy, S. and Mukhopadhyay, G., 2010. Synthesis and characterization of Cu (II) complexes of tetradentate and tridentate symmetrical Schiff base ligands involving o-phenelenediamine, salicylaldehyde and diacetylmonoxime. *Transition Metal Chemistry*, 35(2), pp.197-204.
- 17. Meng, Q., Clegg, J.K., Brock, A.J., Jolliffe, K.A., Lindoy, L.F. and Wei, G., 2014. Mono-and dinucleating Ni (II), Cu (II), Zn (II) and Fe (III) complexes of symmetric and unsymmetric Schiff bases incorporating salicylimine functions–Synthetic and structural studies. *Polyhedron*, 74, pp.113-121.
- Alberto, R., Kyong Pak, J., van Staveren, D., Mundwiler, S. and Benny, P., 2004. Mono-, bi-, or tridentate ligands? The labeling of peptides with 99mTc-carbonyls. *Peptide Science: Original Research on Biomolecules*, 76(4), pp.324-333.
- Amalina, M.T., Hadariah, B., Karimah, K. and Nazihah, W.I.W., 2014. Pd (II) Complexes with nitrogen-oxygen donor ligands: Synthesis, characterization and catalytic activity for Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reaction. ASEAN Journal on Science and Technology for Development, 31(1), pp.15-23.
- 20. Al Zoubi, W., 2013. Biological activities of Schiff bases and their complexes: a review of recent works. *International Journal of Organic Chemistry*, 03 (03), pp. 73–95.
- 21. Evans, B.E., Rittle, K.E., Bock, M.G., DiPardo, R.M., Freidinger, R.M., Whitter, W.L., Lundell, G.F., Veber, D.F., Anderson, P.S., Chang, R.S.L. and Lotti, V.J., 1988. Methods for

drug discovery: development of potent, selective, orally effective cholecystokinin antagonists. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 31(12), pp.2235-2246.

- 22. Prakash, A. and Adhikari, D., 2011. Application of Schiff bases and their metal complexes-A Review. *Int. J. ChemTech Res, 3(4), pp.1891-1896.*
- 23. Maher, K.A. and Mohammed, S.R., 2015. Metal complexes of Schiff base derived from salicylaldehyde-A review. *International Journal of Current Research and Review*, 7(2), p.6.
- 24. Paquette, L. A., 1968 Principles of Modern Heterocyclic Chemistry; *Benjamin: New York, .p. 104.*
- 25. El-Sherif, A.A., Shehata, M.R., Shoukry, M.M. and Barakat, M.H., 2012. Synthesis, characterization, equilibrium study and biological activity of Cu (II), Ni (II) and Co (II) complexes of polydentate Schiff base ligand. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, *96*, *pp*.889-897.
- 26. Mohamed, G.G., Omar, M.M. and Hindy, A.M., 2005. Synthesis, characterization and biological activity of some transition metals with Schiff base derived from 2-thiophene carboxaldehyde and aminobenzoic acid. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 62(4-5), pp.1140-1150.
- 27. Daneshvar, N., Saghatforoush, L.A., Khandar, A.A. and Entezami, A.A., 2003. New nickle(II) complexes incorporating dissymmetric tetradentate Schiff base ligands derived from aminothioether pyridine with N₂-OS chromophore: synthesis, spectroscopic, characterization and crystal. *Acta Chim. Slov, 50, pp.207-222.*
- 28. Bu, X.R.; Jackson, C.R.; Derveer, D.V.; You, X.Z.; Meng, Q.J.; Wang, R.X. New copper(II) complexes incorporating unsymmetrical tetradentate ligands with cis-N2O2 chromophores: Synthesis, molecular structure, substituent effect and thermal stability. *Polyhedron 1997, 16, 2991-3001.*
- 29. Kajal, A., Bala, S., Kamboj, S., Sharma, N. and Saini, V., 2013. Schiff bases: a versatile pharmacophore. *Journal of Catalysts, 2013*.
- Wang, G.; Chang, J. C. Synthesis and Characterization of Copper(II) and Zinc(II) Complexes of Schiff Bases Derived from Amino Acids and 2, 4-Dihydroxybenzaldehyde. Synth. React. *Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem. 1991*, 21 (5), 897–902.

- 31. Cimerman, Z., Miljanić, S. and Galić, N., 2000. Schiff bases derived from aminopyridines as spectrofluorimetric analytical reagents. *Croatica Chemica Acta*, 73(1), pp.81-95.
- 32. Schiff, H., 1864. Mittheilungen aus dem Universitätslaboratorium in Pisa: eine neue Reihe organischer Basen. Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie, 131(1), pp.118-119.
- 33. D. N. Dhar and C. L. Taploo, "Schiff bases and their applications," *Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 501–506, 1982.*
- 34. Al Zoubi, W., 2013. Solvent extraction of metal ions by use of Schiff bases. *Journal of Coordination Chemistry*, 66(13), pp.2264-2289.
- 35. R.N. Jadeja, N.J. Parmar, Synthesis and Reactivity in Inorganic, Metal-Organic and Nano-Metal Chemistry, 35(2)(2005)111.
- 36. Sayer, J.M., Pinsky, B., Schonbrunn, A. and Washtien, W., 1974. Mechanism of carbinolamine formation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *96*(26), *pp*.7998-8009.
- 37. Streitwieser, A., Heathcock, C.H., Kosower, E.M. and Corfield, P.J., 1992. Introduction to organic chemistry (No. 547 STR). *New York: Macmillan*.
- Kabak, M., Elmali, A. and Elerman, Y., 1999. Keto–enol tautomerism, conformations and structure of N-(2-hydroxy-5-methylphenyl), 2-hydroxybenzaldehydeimine. *Journal of molecular structure*, 477(1-3), pp.151-158.
- 39. Ajlouni, A.M., Taha, Z.A., Al Momani, W., Hijazi, A.K. and Ebqa'ai, M., 2012. Synthesis, characterization, biological activities, and luminescent properties of lanthanide complexes with N, N'-bis (2-hydroxy-1-naphthylidene)-1, 6-hexadiimine. *Inorganica Chimica Acta, 388, pp.120-126*.
- 40. Qin W, Long S, Panunzio M, Biondi S. Schiff bases: A short survey on an evergreen chemistry tool. *Molecules*. 2013 Oct;18(10):12264-89.
- 41. B.S. Furniss, A.J. Hannaford, P.W.G. Smith and A.R. Tatchell, *Vogels text book of practical org. chem.*, 2006, 5, 782.
- 42. Kushwah, N.P., Pal, M.K., Wadawale, A.P. and Jain, V.K., 2009. Diorgano-gallium andindium complexes with salen ligands: Synthesis, characterization, crystal structure and C–C coupling reactions. *Journal of Organometallic Chemistry*, 694(15), pp.2375-2379

- 43. Andrez, J.C., 2009. Aromatic oxidative decompositions of copper Schiff base complexes. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 50(29), pp.4225-4228.
- 44. Y. Zhang, L. Xiang, Q. Wang, X.-F. Duan and G. Zi, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 2008, 361, 1246.
- 45. Clayden, J., Greeves, N., Warren, S. and Wothers, P., 2001. Organic chemistry.
- 46. Hine, J. and Yeh, C.Y., 1967. Equilibrium in formation and conformational isomerization of imines derived from isobutyraldehyde and saturated aliphatic primary amines. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 89(11), pp.2669-2676.
- 47. Kostova, I. and Saso, L., 2013. Advances in research of Schiff-base metal complexes as potent antioxidants. *Current medicinal chemistry*, 20(36), pp.4609-4632.
- 48. Nagesh, G.Y. and Mruthyunjayaswamy, B.H.M., 2015. Synthesis, characterization and biological relevance of some metal (II) complexes with oxygen, nitrogen and oxygen (ONO) donor Schiff base ligand derived from thiazole and 2-hydroxy-1-naphthaldehyde. *Journal of Molecular Structure*, 1085, pp.198-206.
- 49. Pfeiffer, P., Breith, E., Lübbe, E. and Tsumaki, T., 1933. Tricyclische orthokondensierte nebenvalenzringe. *Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie*, 503(1), pp.84-130.
- 50. E. N. Jacobsen, Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis, Ed. I. Ojima, VCH publishers, Inc., *New York*, 1993,159.
- 51. Nishikori, H. and Katsuki, T., 1996. Catalytic and highly enantioselective aziridination of styrene derivatives. *Tetrahedron letters*, *37*(51), pp.9245-9248.
- 52. Fukuda, T. and Katsuki, T., 1997. Highly enantioselective cyclopropanation of styrene derivatives using Co (III)-salen complex as a catalyst. *Tetrahedron*, 53(21), pp.7201-7208
- 53. Y. Yamashita, T. Katsuki, Synlett, 1995, 829; S. E. Schaus, J. Branalt, E. N. Jacobsen, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1998, 63,403.
- 54. Sigman, M.S. and Jacobsen, E.N., 1998. Enantioselective addition of hydrogen cyanide to imines catalyzed by a chiral (salen) Al (III) complex. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 120(21), pp.5315-5316.
- 55. Larrow, J.F., Schaus, S.E. and Jacobsen, E.N., 1996. Kinetic resolution of terminal epoxides via highly regioselective and enantioselective ring opening with TMSN3. An efficient,

catalytic route to 1, 2-amino alcohols. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 118(31), pp.7420-7421.

- 56. Karmakar, M. and Chattopadhyay, S., 2019. A comprehensive overview of the orientation of tetradentate N2O2 donor Schiff base ligands in octahedral complexes of trivalent 3d metals. *Journal of Molecular Structure*, 1186, pp.155-186.
- 57. Clarke, R.M. and Storr, T., 2014. The chemistry and applications of multimetallic salen complexes. *Dalton Transactions*, 43(25), pp.9380-9391.
- 58. Wilkinson, G., Gillard, R.D. and McCleverty, J.A., 1987. Comprehensive coordination chemistry. The synthesis, reactions, properties, and applications of coordination compounds. *V. 3. Main group and early transition elements*.
- 59. Akine, S., Taniguchi, T. and Nabeshima, T., 2001. Synthesis and characterization of novel ligands 1, 2-bis (salicylideneaminooxy) ethanes. *Chemistry Letters*, *30*(7), *pp.682-683*.
- 60. Nworie, F.S., 2016. Bis (salicylidene) ethylenediamine (salen) and bis (salicylidene) ethylenediamine-metal complexes: From structure to biological activity. *Journal of Analytical & Pharmaceutical Research*, *3*, *pp*.76-85.
- 61. Borer, L., Thalken, L., Ceccarelli, C., Glick, M., Zhang, J.H. and Reiff, W.M., 1983. Synthesis and characterization of a hydroxyl-bridged iron (III) dimer of N, N'-ethylenebis (salicylamine). *Inorganic Chemistry*, 22(12), pp.1719-1724.
- 62. Wang, D. and Lippard, S.J., 2005. Cellular processing of platinum anticancer drugs. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 4(4), pp.307-320.
- 63. El Kazzouli, S., El Brahmi, N., Mignani, S., Bousmina, M., Zablocka, M. and P Majoral, J., 2012. From metallodrugs to metallodendrimers for nanotherapy in oncology: a concise overview. *Current medicinal chemistry*, 19(29), pp.4995-5010.
- Heffeter, P., Jungwirth, U., Jakupec, M., Hartinger, C., Galanski, M., Elbling, L., Micksche, M., Keppler, B. and Berger, W., 2008. Resistance against novel anticancer metal compounds: differences and similarities. *Drug resistance updates*, 11(1-2), pp.1-16.
- 65. Wang, X. and Guo, Z., 2013. Targeting and delivery of platinum-based anticancer drugs. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42(1), pp.202-224.

- 66. Gabano, E., Ravera, M. and Osella, D., 2009. The drug targeting and delivery approach applied to Pt-antitumour complexes. A coordination point of view. *Current medicinal chemistry*, *16*(*34*), *pp.4544-4580*.
- 67. Gabano, E., Ravera, M., Colangelo, D. and Osella, D., 2007. Bioinorganic chemistry: the study of the fate of platinum-based antitumour drugs. *Current Chemical Biology*, *1*(3), *pp*.278-289.
- 68. Hanada, K., Asano, K., Nishimura, T., Chimata, T., Matsuo, Y., Tsuchiya, M. and Ogata, H., 2008. Use of a toxicity factor to explain differences in nephrotoxicity and myelosuppression among the platinum antitumour derivatives cisplatin, carboplatin and nedaplatin in rats. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, *60*(*3*), *pp.317-322*.
- 69. Johnstone, T.C., Suntharalingam, K. and Lippard, S.J., 2016. The next generation of platinum drugs: targeted Pt (II) agents, nanoparticle delivery, and Pt (IV) prodrugs. *Chemical reviews*, 116(5), pp.3436-3486.
- 70. Klein, A.V. and Hambley, T.W., 2014. Platinum-Based Anticancer Agents. *Ligand Design in Medicinal Inorganic Chemistry*, pp.9-45.
- 71. Argyriou, A.A., Polychronopoulos, P., Iconomou, G., Chroni, E. and Kalofonos, H.P., 2008. A review on oxaliplatin-induced peripheral nerve damage. *Cancer treatment reviews*, *34*(*4*), *pp.368-377*.
- 72. McWhinney, S.R., Goldberg, R.M. and McLeod, H.L., 2009. Platinum neurotoxicity pharmacogenetics. *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, 8(1), pp.10-16.
- 73. Yao, X., Panichpisal, K., Kurtzman, N. and Nugent, K., 2007. Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: a review. *The American journal of the medical sciences*, *334*(2), *pp.115-124*.
- 74. Stewart, D.J., 2007. Mechanisms of resistance to cisplatin and carboplatin. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*, 63(1), pp.12-31.
- 75. Yu, J.J., 2009. Unlocking the molecular mechanisms of DNA repair and platinum drug resistance in cancer chemotherapy. *Current Drug Therapy*, 4(1), pp.19-28.
- 76. Hall, M.D., Okabe, M., Shen, D.W., Liang, X.J. and Gottesman, M.M., 2008. The role of cellular accumulation in determining sensitivity to platinum-based chemotherapy. Annu. Rev. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 48, pp.495-535.

- 77. Sooriyaarachchi, M., George, G.N., Pickering, I.J., Narendran, A. and Gailer, J., 2016. Tuning the metabolism of the anticancer drug cisplatin with chemoprotective agents to improve its safety and efficacy. *Metallomics*, 8(11), pp.1170-1176.
- 78. Wang, X. and Guo, Z., 2007. The role of sulfur in platinum anticancer chemotherapy. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (*Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents*), 7(1), pp.19-34.
- 79. Martin, L.P., Hamilton, T.C. and Schilder, R.J., 2008. Platinum resistance: the role of DNA repair pathways. *Clinical cancer research*, *14*(5), *pp.1291-1295*.
- 80. Benedetti, V., Perego, P., Beretta, G.L., Corna, E., Tinelli, S., Righetti, S.C., Leone, R., Apostoli, P., Lanzi, C. and Zunino, F., 2008. Modulation of survival pathways in ovarian carcinoma cell lines resistant to platinum compounds. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 7(3), pp.679-687.
- 81. Peyrone, M., 1844. Ueber die einwirkung des ammoniaks auf platinchlorür. *Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie, 51(1), pp.1-29.*
- 82. Rosenberg, B., Van Camp, L. and Krigas, T., 1965. Inhibition of cell division in Escherichia coli by electrolysis products from a platinum electrode. *Nature*, 205(4972), pp.698-699.
- 83. Wong, E. and Giandomenico, C.M., 1999. Current status of platinum-based antitumor drugs. *Chemical reviews*, 99(9), pp.2451-2466.
- 84. N. P. Farrell, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia. *Personal* communication, 2004.
- 85. Weiss, R.B. and Christian, M.C., 1993. New cisplatin analogues in development. *Drugs*, 46(3), *pp.360-377*.
- 86. Lippert, B. ed., 1999. Cisplatin: chemistry and biochemistry of a leading anticancer drug. *John Wiley & Sons.*
- 87. Van Hennik, M.B., van der Vijgh, W.J., Klein, I., Elferink, F., Vermorken, J.B., Winograd, B. and Pinedo, H.M., 1987. Comparative pharmacokinetics of cisplatin and three analogues in mice and humans. *Cancer research*, 47(23), pp.6297-6301.
- 88. Rosenberg, B., Vancamp, L., Trosko, J.E. and Mansour, V.H., 1969. Platinum compounds: a new class of potent antitumour agents. *Nature*, 222(5191), pp.385-386.

- 89. Mellor, D.P., 1943. The Stereochemistry of Square Complexes. *Chemical Reviews*, 33(2), pp.137-183.
- 90. Kauffman, G. B., 1997. Alferd Werner's Research on the Platinum Metals. *Platinum Metals Review*, 41, 34–40.
- 91. Werner, A., Zeitschr. A., 1893. Coordination chemistry. Chem, 3, pp.267.
- 92. Dhara, S.C., 1970. A rapid method for the synthesis of cis-[Pt (NH3) 2Cl2]. *Indian J Chem*, 8(1), pp.193-194.
- 93. Chernyaev, I.I., 1926. The mononitrites of bivalent platinum. Ann Inst Platine (USSR), 4, pp.243-275.
- 94. Dilruba, S. and Kalayda, G.V., 2016. Platinum-based drugs: past, present and future. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology*, 77(6), pp.1103-1124.
- 95. Marzano, C., Trevisan, A., Giovagnini, L. and Fregona, D., 2002. Synthesis of a new platinum (II) complex: anticancer activity and nephrotoxicity in vitro. Toxicology in vitro, 16(4), pp.413-419.
- 96. Von Nussbaum, F. and Danishefsky, S.J., 2000. A rapid total synthesis of spirotryprostatin B: proof of its relative and absolute stereochemistry. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 39(12), pp.2175-2178.
- 97. De Pascali, S.A., Papadia, P., Ciccarese, A., Pacifico, C. and Fanizzi, F.P., 2005. First examples of β-diketonate platinum (II) complexes with sulfoxide ligands, *European Jornal of inorgainc chemistry 4,pp. 788-796*.
- 98. Kalud erov G.N. and Paschke, R., Curr.Med.Chem., 2011, 18, 4738–4752.
- 99. Skolekova, S., Matuskova, M., Bohac, M., Toro, L., Durinikova, E., Tyciakova, S., Demkova, L., Gursky, J. and Kucerova, L., 2016. Cisplatin-induced mesenchymal stromal cells-mediated mechanism contributing to decreased antitumor effect in breast cancer cells. *Cell Communication and Signaling*, 14(1), pp.1-13.
- 100. Hu, J., Lieb, J.D., Sancar, A. and Adar, S., 2016. Cisplatin DNA damage and repair maps of the human genome at single-nucleotide resolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(41), pp.11507-11512.

- 101. Jamieson, E.R. and Lippard, S.J., 1999. Structure, recognition, and processing of cisplatin– DNA adducts. *Chemical reviews*, 99(9), pp.2467-2498.
- 102. Strebhardt, K. and Ullrich, A., 2008. Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8(6), pp.473-480.
- 103. Sanchez-Cano, C. and Hannon, M.J., 2009. Novel and emerging approaches for the delivery of metallo-drugs. *Dalton Transactions*, (48), pp.10702-10711.
- 104. Paschke, R., Kalbitz, J., Paetz, C., Luckner, M., Mueller, T., Schmoll, H.J., Mueller, H., Sorkau, E. and Sinn, E., 2003. Cholic acid–carboplatin compounds (CarboChAPt) as models for specific drug delivery: synthesis of novel carboplatin analogous derivatives and comparison of the cytotoxic properties with corresponding cisplatin compounds. *Journal of inorganic biochemistry*, 94(4), pp.335-342.
- 105. Dahlman-Wright, K., Cavailles, V., Fuqua, S.A., Jordan, V.C., Katzenellenbogen, J.A., Korach, K.S., Maggi, A., Muramatsu, M., Parker, M.G. and Gustafsson, J.Å., 2006. International union of pharmacology. LXIV. Estrogen receptors. *Pharmacological reviews*, 58(4), pp.773-781.
- 106. Hartinger, C.G., Nazarov, A.A., Ashraf, S.M., Dyson, P.J. and Keppler, B.K., 2008. Carbohydrate-metal complexes and their potential as anticancer agents. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 15(25), pp.2574-2591.
- 107. Stresing, V., Daubiné, F., Benzaid, I., Mönkkönen, H. and Clézardin, P., 2007. Bisphosphonates in cancer therapy. *Cancer letters*, 257(1), pp.16-35.
- 108. Mukhopadhyay, S., Barnés, C.M., Haskel, A., Short, S.M., Barnes, K.R. and Lippard, S.J., 2008. Conjugated platinum (IV)- peptide complexes for targeting angiogenic tumor vasculature. *Bioconjugate chemistry*, 19(1), pp.39-49.
- 109. Wilson, J.J. and Lippard, S.J., 2014. Synthetic methods for the preparation of platinum anticancer complexes. *Chemical reviews*, 114(8), pp.4470-4495.
- 110. Mdleleni, M.M., Bridgewater, J.S., Watts, R.J. and Ford, P.C., 1995. Synthesis, structure, and spectroscopic properties of ortho-metalated platinum (II) complexes. *Inorganic Chemistry*, *34*(9), pp.2334-2342.
- 111. Drees, M., Dengler, W.M., Hendriks, H.R., Kelland, L.R. and Fiebig, H.H., 1995. Cycloplatam: a novel platinum compound exhibiting a different spectrum of anti-tumour activity to cisplatin. *European Journal of Cancer*, *31*(*3*), *pp.356-361*.

- 112. Macquet J-P, Butour J-L. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1983; 70:899. [PubMed: 6573534.
- 113. Wheate, N.J., Walker, S., Craig, G.E. and Oun, R., 2010. The status of platinum anticancer drugs in the clinic and in clinical trials. *Dalton transactions*, *39*(*35*), *pp.8113-8127*.
- 114. Hall, M.D. and Hambley, T.W., 2002. Platinum (IV) antitumour compounds: their bioinorganic chemistry. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 232(1-2), pp.49-67.
- 115. Hall MD, Mellor HR, Callaghan R, Hambley TW., 2007. Basis for design and development of platinum (IV) anticancer complexes. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*. 26;50(15):3403-11.
- 116. Zhang, J.Z., Wexselblatt, E., Hambley, T.W. and Gibson, D., 2012. Pt (IV) analogs of oxaliplatin that do not follow the expected correlation between electrochemical reduction potential and rate of reduction by ascorbate. *Chemical communications*, 48(6), pp.847-849.
- 117. Wexselblatt, E. and Gibson, D., 2012. What do we know about the reduction of Pt (IV) prodrugs?. *Journal of inorganic biochemistry*, *117*, *pp.220-229*.
- 118. Galanski, M. and Keppler, B.K., 1996. Carboxylation of dihydroxoplatinum (IV) complexes via a new synthetic pathway. Inorganic chemistry, 35(6), pp.1709-1711.
- 119. R. C. DeConti, B. R. Toftness, R. C. Lange, W. A. Creasey. Clinical and Pharmacological Studies with cis-Diamminedichloroplatinum(II). *Cancer Res. 1973, 33, 1310–1315*.
- 120. Keppler, B.K. ed., 1993. Metal complexes in cancer chemotherapy. wiley-VCH.
- 121. Miller, S.E. and House, D.A., 1989. The hydrolysis products of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum (II). I. The kinetics of formation and anation of the cis-diammine (aqua) chloroplatinum (II) cation in acidic aqueous solution. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 161(1), pp.131-137.
- 122. Alderden, R.A., Hall, M.D. and Hambley, T.W., 2006. The discovery and development of cisplatin. *Journal of chemical education*, *83*(5), *p*.728.
- 123. Liu, J.C., Guo, G.C., Huang, J.S. and You, X.Z., 2003. Different Oxidation States of Copper (I, I/II, II) Thiocyanate Complexes Containing 1, 2, 4-Triazole as a Bridging Ligand: Syntheses, Crystal Structures, and Magnetic Properties of 2-D Polymer CuI (admtrz) SCN, Linear Trinuclear [Cu^I₂Cu^{II} (admtrz)₆(SCN)₂](ClO₄)₂, and Triangular Trinuclear [Cu^{II}₃

 $(admtrz)_4(SCN)_3(\mu_3-OH)(H_2O)](ClO_4)_2H_2O$ (admtrz= 4-Amino-3, 5-dimethyl-1, 2, 4-triazole). *Inorganic chemistry*, 42(1), pp.235-243.

- 124. Sharma, N. E. E. R. A. J., R. A. V. I. Prakash, and K. Chaturvedi. "Spectroscopic and antimicrobial studies of mixed ligand complexes of transition metal (II) ions with nitro quinoline and dibenzoyl methane." *Scientific Reviews & Chemical Communications 2* (2012): 108-114.
- 125. Arnold, E., 1995. An introduction to molecular electronics. *St. Edmundsbury* Press Limited, London, p.142.
- 126. Shimizu, I., Morimoto, Y., Faltermeier, D., Kerscher, M., Paria, S., Abe, T., Sugimoto, H., Fujieda, N., Asano, K., Suzuki, T. and Comba, P., 2017. Tetrahedral Copper (II) Complexes with a Labile Coordination Site Supported by a Tris-tetramethylguanidinato Ligand. *Inorganic chemistry*, 56(16), pp.9634-9645.
- 127. Amudha, P., Akilan, P. and Kandaswamy, M., 2000. Synthesis, spectral, electrochemical and magnetic properties of new phenoxo-bridged dicopper (II) complexes derived from unsymmetrical binucleating ligands with imino and amino side arms. *Polyhedron*, 19(15), pp.1769-1775.
- 128. Rehder, D., 1997. Transition metals in biology and their coordination chemistry. Wiley-VCH
- Ruiz, R., Surville-Barland, C., Aukauloo, A., Anxolabehere-Mallart, E., Journaux, Y., Cano, J. and Muñoz, M.C., 1997. Stabilization of copper (III) complexes by disubstituted oxamides and related ligands. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions*, (5), pp.745-752.
- 130. Metzler-Nolte, N. and Kraatz, H.B., 2006. Concepts and models in bioinorganic chemistry. *Wiley-VCH*.
- 131. Leme, A.B.P., 2015. Evaluation of the bioaccessible and bioavailable fraction of nutrients and contaminants in beef cuts. University City "Zeferino Vaz" District of Barão Geraldo.
- 132. Tapiero, H., Townsend, D.Á. and Tew, K.D., 2003. Trace elements in human physiology and pathology. Copper. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy*, *57(9)*, *pp.386-398*.
- 133. Kim, B.E., Nevitt, T. and Thiele, D.J., 2008. Mechanisms for copper acquisition, distribution and regulation. *Nature chemical biology*, *4*(*3*), *pp.176-185*.

- 134. Brewer, G.J., 2005. Anticopper therapy against cancer and diseases of inflammation and fibrosis. *Drug discovery today*, *10(16)*, *pp.1103-1109*.
- 135. Tisato, F., Marzano, C., Porchia, M., Pellei, M. and Santini, C., 2010. Copper in diseases and treatments, and copper-based anticancer strategies. *Medicinal research reviews*, *30(4)*, *pp*.708-749.
- 136. Labbé, S. and Thiele, D.J., 1999. Pipes and wiring: the regulation of copper uptake and distribution in yeast. *Trends in microbiology*, 7(12), pp.500-505.
- 137. Linder, M.C., 2013. Biochemistry of copper (Vol. 10). Springer Science & Business Media.
- 138. Milne, D.B., 1998. Copper intake and assessment of copper status. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 67(5), pp.1041S-1045S.
- 139. Puig, S., Lee, J., Lau, M. and Thiele, D.J., 2002. Biochemical and genetic analyses of yeast and human high affinity copper transporters suggest a conserved mechanism for copper uptake. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(29), pp.26021-26030.
- 140. Iakovidis, I., Delimaris, I. and Piperakis, S.M., 2011. Copper and its complexes in medicine: *a biochemical approach. Molecular biology international*, 2011.
- 141. Rathod, S.V., Giri, S.S. and Maind, S.D., 2016. Synthesis, Spectral Characterization and Antimicrobial Studies of Copper (II) Complex Containing Mixed Ligands Nitrogen-Oxygen Donor Schiff Base (4-Bromo-(2-carboxyphenyl)-pyridine-2-yl ethylene amine) and 2, 2'bipyridine. *world journal of pharmaceutical research*, 5(3), pp.702-707.
- 142. Katwal, R., Kaur, H. and Kapur, B.K., 2013. Applications of copper—Schiff's base complexes: a review. *Sci Rev Chem Commun, 3, pp.1-15.*
- 143. Petty, M.C., Bryce, M.R. and Bloor, D. eds., 1995. An introduction to molecular electronics. *Oxford University Press, USA*.
- 144. Dong, Y.B., Layland, R.C., Smith, M.D., Pschirer, N.G., Bunz, U.H. and zur Loye, H.C., 1999. Syntheses and characterizations of one-dimensional coordination polymers generated from cadmium nitrate and bipyridine ligands. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 38(13), pp.3056-3060.
- 145. Lever, A.P., 1984. Inorganic electronic spectroscopy. Studies in physical and theoretical chemistry, 33.

- 146. González-Vílchez, F. and Vilaplana, R., 2005. 29Cu chemotherapeutic copper compounds. Metallotherapeutic Drugs and Metal-Based Diagnostic Agents: The Use of Metals in Medicine, pp.219-236.
- 147. Peng, X. and Gandhi, V., 2012. ROS-activated anticancer prodrugs: a new strategy for tumorspecific damage. *Therapeutic delivery*, *3*(7), *pp.823-833*.
- 148. Lowndes, S.A., Adams, A., Timms, A., Fisher, N., Smythe, J., Watt, S.M., Joel, S., Donate, F., Hayward, C., Reich, S. and Middleton, M., 2008. Phase I study of copper-binding agent ATN-224 in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(22), pp.7526-7534.
- 149. Wadas, T.J., Wong, E.H., Weisman, G.R. and Anderson, C.J., 2007. Copper chelation chemistry and its role in copper radiopharmaceuticals. *Current pharmaceutical design*, 13(1), pp.3-16.
- 150. Lebon, F., Boggetto, N., Ledecq, M., Durant, F., Benatallah, Z., Sicsic, S., Lapouyade, R., Kahn, O., Mouithys-Mickalad, A., Deby-Dupont, G. and Reboud-Ravaux, M., 2002. Metalorganic compounds: a new approach for drug discovery: N1-(4-methyl-2-pyridyl)-2, 3, 6trimethoxybenzamide copper (II) complex as an inhibitor of human immunodeficiency virus 1 protease. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 63(10), pp.1863-1873
- 151. Borkow, G. and Gabbay, J., 2004. Putting copper into action: copper-impregnated products with potent biocidal activities. *The FASEB journal*, 18(14), pp.1728-1730.
- 152. Weder, J.E., Dillon, C.T., Hambley, T.W., Kennedy, B.J., Lay, P.A., Biffin, J.R., Regtop, H.L. and Davies, N.M., 2002. Copper complexes of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: an opportunity yet to be realized. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 232(1-2), pp.95-126.
- 153. Sinn, E., 1969. Ferromagnetic and antiferromagnetic interactions. Bi-, tri-and poly-nuclear copper (II) complexes. *Inorganic and Nuclear Chemistry Letters*, 5(3), pp.193-197.
- 154. Sinn, E., 1986. Structures and properties of homo-and hetero-binuclear and polynuclear complexes containing copper. *Biological and Inorganic Copper Chemistry*, *Karlin, KD*; *Zubieta, J., Eds*.
- 155. Butcher, R.J., Diven, G., Erickson, G., Jasinski, J., Mockler, G.M., Pozdniakov, R.Y. and Sinn, E., 1995. Binuclear copper (II) complexes containing phenols and catechols. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 239(1-2), pp.107-116.

- 156. Kitajima, N. and Tolman, W.B., 1995. Coordination chemistry with sterically hindered hydrotris (pyrazolyl) borate ligands: organometallic and bioinorganic perspectives. *Progress in Inorganic Chemistry*, pp.419-531.
- 157. Desplanches, C., Ruiz, E., Rodríguez-Fortea, A. and Alvarez, S., 2002. Exchange coupling of transition-metal ions through hydrogen bonding: A theoretical investigation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 124(18), pp.5197-5205.
- 158. Weng, C.H., Cheng, S.C., Wei, H.M., Wei, H.H. and Lee, C.J., 2006. Magnetostructural correlations and catecholase-like activities of μ-alkoxo-μ-carboxylato double bridged dinuclear and tetranuclear copper (II) complexes. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 359(7), pp.2029-2040.
- Ruiz, E., Alvarez, S., Rodríguez-Fortea, A., Alemany, P., Pouillon, Y. and Massobrio, C., 2004. Electronic Structure and Magnetic Behavior in Polynuclear Transition-Metal Compounds. Magnetism: *Molecules to Materials: 5 Volumes Set, pp.227-279.*
- 160. Bleaney, B. and Bowers, K.D., 1952. Anomalous paramagnetism of copper acetate. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. *Mathematical and Physical Sciences*, 214(1119), pp.451-465.
- 161. Crawford, V.H., Richardson, H.W., Wasson, J.R., Hodgson, D.J. and Hatfield, W.E., 1976. Relation between the singlet-triplet splitting and the copper-oxygen-copper bridge angle in hydroxo-bridged copper dimers. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 15(9), pp.2107-2110.
- 162. Merz, L. and Haase, W., 1980. Exchange interaction in tetrameric oxygen-bridged copper (II) clusters of the cubane type. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions, (6), pp.*875-879.
- 163. Hay, P.J., Thibeault, J.C. and Hoffmann, R., 1975. Orbital interactions in metal dimer complexes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 97(17), pp.4884-4899.
- 164. Kahn, O. and Briat, B., 1976. Exchange interaction in polynuclear complexes. Part 1.-Principles, model and application to the binuclear complexes of chromium (III). Journal of the Chemical Society, Faraday Transactions 2: *Molecular and Chemical Physics*, 72, pp.268-281.
- 165. Ruiz, E., Alemany, P., Alvarez, S. and Cano, J., 1997. Structural modeling and magnetostructural correlations for hydroxo-bridged copper (II) binuclear complexes. *Inorganic chemistry*, *36*(*17*), *pp.3683-3688*.

- 166. Ruiz, E., Alemany, P., Alvarez, S. and Cano, J., 1997. Toward the prediction of magnetic coupling in molecular systems: hydroxo-and alkoxo-bridged Cu(II) binuclear complexes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 119(6), pp.1297-1303.
- 167. Thompson, L.K., Mandal, S.K., Tandon, S.S., Bridson, J.N. and Park, M.K., 1996. Magnetostructural correlations in bis (μ2-phenoxide)-bridged macrocyclic dinuclear copper (II) complexes. Influence of electron-withdrawing substituents on exchange coupling. *Inorganic chemistry*, 35(11), pp.3117-3125.
- 168. Rodríguez-Fortea, A., Alemany, P., Alvarez, S. and Ruiz, E., 2001. Exchange Coupling in Carboxylato-Bridged Dinuclear Copper (II) Compounds: A Density Functional Study. *Chemistry–A European Journal*, 7(3), pp.627-637.
- 169. F. Habashi. A short history of uranium. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Uranium, volume 1, pages 3-15. *the Metallurgical Society of the CIM, CIM, 2010.*
- 170. Ahrland, S., Bagnall, K.W. and Brown, D., 2016. The chemistry of the actinides: comprehensive inorganic chemistry. *Elsevier*
- 171. Bailar, J. C.; Trotman-Dickenson, A. F. Comprehensive Inorganic Chemistry.; *Pergamon Press; distributed by Compendium Publishers [Elmsford, N.Y.: Oxford, 1973.*
- 172. King, D.M., Tuna, F., McInnes, E.J., McMaster, J., Lewis, W., Blake, A.J. and Liddle, S.T., 2012. Synthesis and structure of a terminal uranium nitride complex. *Science*, 337(6095), pp.717-720.
- 173. Morss, L.R., 1986. Thermodynamic properties. *In The chemistry of the actinide elements (pp. 1278-1360). Springer, Dordrecht.*
- 174. Peterson, T.C., Connolley, W.M. and Fleck, J., 2008. The myth of the 1970s global cooling scientific consensus. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 89(9), pp.1325-1338.
- 175. Annual Energy Outlook 2016. 2016, 256.
- 176. ODS Metered Paywall /content/cen/articles/odsmeter.html (accessed Apr 24, 2019).
- 177. Chatelain, L., Scopelliti, R. and Mazzanti, M., 2016. Synthesis and structure of nitridebridged uranium (III) complexes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 138(6), pp.1784-1787.
- 178. Halter, D.P., Heinemann, F.W., Bachmann, J. and Meyer, K., 2016. Uranium-mediated electrocatalytic dihydrogen production from water. *Nature*, *530*(7590), *pp.317-321*
- 179. Arnold, P.L., Farnaby, J.H., White, R.C., Kaltsoyannis, N., Gardiner, M.G. and Love, J.B., 2014. Switchable π -coordination and C–H metallation in small-cavity macrocyclic uranium and thorium complexes. *Chemical Science*, *5*(2), *pp*.756-765.
- 180. Ho, I.T., Zhang, Z., Ishida, M., Lynch, V.M., Cha, W.Y., Sung, Y.M., Kim, D. and Sessler, J.L., 2014. A hybrid macrocycle with a pyridine subunit displays aromatic character upon uranyl cation complexation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 136(11), pp.4281-4286
- 181. Kaltsoyannis, N.; Scott, P., The f elements. Oxford University Press: 1999. 4.
- 182. Kaltsoyannis, N., Hay, P.J., Li, J., Blaudeau, J.P. and Bursten, B.E., 2008. Theoretical studies of the electronic structure of compounds of the actinide elements. In The Chemistry of the Actinide and Transactinide Elements (pp. 1893-2012). Springer, Dordrecht.
- 183. Lewis, A.J., Mullane, K.C., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Carroll, P.J. and Schelter, E.J., 2014. The inverse trans influence in a family of pentavalent uranium complexes. *Inorganic chemistry*, 53(13), pp.6944-6953
- 184. Lewis, A.J., Carroll, P.J. and Schelter, E.J., 2013. Stable uranium (VI) methyl and acetylide complexes and the elucidation of an inverse trans influence ligand series. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 135(35), pp.13185-13192.
- 185. Löble, M. W.; Keith, J. M.; Altman, A. B.; Stieber, S. C. E.; Batista, E. R.; Boland, K. S.; Conradson, S. D.; Clark, D. L.; Lezama Pacheco, J.; Kozimor, S. A.; Martin, R. L.; Minasian, S. G.; Olson, A. C.; Scott, B. L.; Shuh, D. K.; Tyliszczak, T.; Wilkerson, M. P.; Zehnder, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2506.
- 186. Fox, A.R., Bart, S.C., Meyer, K. and Cummins, C.C., 2008. Towards uranium catalysts. Nature, 455(7211), pp.341-349.
- 187. Jones, C.J., 1990. Sc, Y, the lanthanides and the actinides. Annual Reports Section" A"(Inorganic Chemistry), 87, pp.75-104.
- 188. Streitwieser Jr, A. and Müller Westerhoff, U., 1968. Bis (cyclooctatetraenyl) uranium (uranocene). A new class of sandwich complexes that utilize atomic f orbitals. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 90(26), pp.7364-7364.

- 189. Takahashi, A., Yamaki, D., Ikemura, K., Kurahashi, T., Ogura, T., Hada, M. and Fujii, H., 2012. Effect of the axial ligand on the reactivity of the oxoiron (IV) porphyrin π -cation radical complex: higher stabilization of the product state relative to the reactant state. *Inorganic chemistry*, *51*(*13*), *pp.7296-7305*.
- 190. Diaconescu, P.L. and Cummins, C.C., 2002. Diuranium inverted sandwiches involving naphthalene and cyclooctatetraene. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 124(26), pp.7660-7661.
- 191. Wietzke, R., Mazzanti, M., Latour, J.M. and Pécaut, J., 2000. Solution and solid state structures of uranium (III) and lanthanum (III) iodide complexes of tetradentate tripodal neutral N-donor ligands. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions, (22), pp.4167-4173.*
- 192. Duhović, S., Khan, S. and Diaconescu, P.L., 2010. In situ generation of uranium alkyl complexes. *Chemical Communications*, 46(19), pp.3390-3392.
- 193. Nash, K.L., 1993. A review of the basic chemistry and recent developments in trivalent felements separations. *Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange*, 11(4), pp.729-768.
- 194. Gatto, C.C., Schulz Lang, E., Kupfer, A., Hagenbach, A., Wille, D. and Abram, U., 2004. Dioxouranium complexes with acetylpyridine benzoylhydrazones and related ligands. *Zeitschrift für anorganische und allgemeine Chemie*, 630(5), pp.735-741.
- 195. Signorini, O., Dockal, E.R., Castellano, G. and Oliva, G., 1996. Synthesis and characterization of aquo [N, N'-ethylenebis (3-ethoxysalicylideneaminato)] dioxouranium (VI). Polyhedron, 15(2), pp.245-255.
- 196. Mandlik, P.R. and Aswar, A.S., 2003. Schiff base metal complexes of chromium (III), manganese (III), iron (III), oxovanadium (IV), zirconium (IV) and dioxouranium (VI). *Polish Journal of Chemistry*, 77(2), pp.129-136.
- 197. El-Tabl, H.M., El-Saied, F.A. and Ayad, M.I., 2002. Manganese (II), iron (III), cobalt (II), nickel (II), copper (II), zinc (II), and uranyl (VI) complexes of N-(4-formylantipyrine) benzothiazol-2-ylacetohydrazide. Synthesis and reactivity in inorganic and metal-organic chemistry, 32(7), pp.1245-1262.
- 198. Elliott, J.M., Chipperfield, J.R., Clark, S., Teat, S.J. and Sinn, E., 2002. Criteria for liquid crystal formation in 5-alkoxy-, 5-alkylamino-, and 5-alkanoyl-tropolone complexes of transition metals (Cu^{II}, Zn^{II}, Ni^{II}, Co^{II}, UO₂^{VI}, VO^{IV}). The first uranium metallomesogen.

Crystal structure of Bis (5-hexadecyloxytropolonato) copper (II). *Inorganic chemistry*, 41(2), pp.293-299.

- 199. Clark, S., Elliott, J.M., Chipperfield, J.R., Styring, P. and Sinn, E., 2002. The first uranium based liquid crystals. Uranyl metallomesogens from β-diketone and tropolone ligands. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, *5*(4), *pp.249-251*.
- 200. Alsobrook, A.N., Zhan, W. and Albrecht-Schmitt, T.E., 2008. Use of bifunctional phosphonates for the preparation of heterobimetallic 5f- 3d systems. *Inorganic chemistry*, 47(12), pp.5177-5183.
- 201. Mougel, V., Chatelain, L., Pécaut, J., Caciuffo, R., Colineau, E., Griveau, J.C. and Mazzanti, M., 2012. Uranium and manganese assembled in a wheel-shaped nanoscale single-molecule magnet with high spin-reversal barrier. *Nature chemistry*, 4(12), p.1011.
- 202. Del Nero, M., Galindo, C., Barillon, R. and Madé, B., 2011. TRLFS evidence for precipitation of uranyl phosphate on the surface of alumina: environmental implications. *Environmental science & technology*, 45(9), pp.3982-3988.
- 203. Natrajan, L.S., 2012. Developments in the photophysics and photochemistry of actinide ions and their coordination compounds. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 256(15-16), pp.1583-1603.
- 204. Sakamoto, M., Manseki, K. and Ōkawa, H., 2001. d–f Heteronuclear complexes: synthesis, structures and physicochemical aspects. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 219, pp.379-414.
- 205. Novitchi, G., Shova, S., Caneschi, A., Costes, J.P., Gdaniec, M. and Stanica, N., 2004. Hetero di-and trinuclear Cu–Gd complexes with trifluoroacetate bridges: synthesis, structural and magnetic studies. *Dalton Transactions*, (8), pp.1194-1200.
- 206. Biswas, S., Naiya, S., Drew, M.G., Estarellas, C., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2011. Trinuclear and tetranuclear adduct formation between sodium perchlorate and copper (II) complexes of salicylaldimine type ligands: Structural characterization and theoretical investigation. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, *366(1)*, *pp.219-226*.
- 207. Takao, K., Kato, M., Takao, S., Nagasawa, A., Bernhard, G., Hennig, C. and Ikeda, Y., 2010. Molecular structure and electrochemical behavior of uranyl (VI) complex with pentadentate schiff base ligand: Prevention of uranyl (V) cation– cation interaction by fully chelating equatorial coordination sites. *Inorganic chemistry*, 49(5), pp.2349-2359.

CHAPTER 2

SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PT-BASED ANTI-CANCER DRUGS

2.1 Introduction

Cancer is an abnormal growth of cells. Over 100 types of cancer have been diagnosed, including breast cancer, skin cancer, lung cancer, colon cancer, prostate cancer, and lymphoma. Symptoms vary depending on the type. The fundamental reason for approximately 13% of all types of worldwide human deaths is cancer. Cancer treatment may include chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and/or surgery. Chemotherapy, commonly used to treat cancer cells, uses specific drugs to kill fast growing cells by stopping them from multiplying and spreading to other parts of the body. Even though remarkable processes have been studied, including chemotherapy, there is currently a significant increase in cancer diagnosis. The antitumor drug (cisplatin) discovered in the 1960s has become one of the most useful agents to treat different types of cancer.¹ Nowadays, it has been used in more than 50 percent of cancer treatments.² Over 100 drugs have been studied, tested, and used in chemotherapy. Anticancer drugs are used and relied on for specific kinds of cancer. Because of their cytotoxic activity, many Pt(II) and Pt(IV) complexes have been developed to improve the applicability on a broader spectrum of cancers, increase their therapeutic window and reduce the dose-limiting side effects. However, cisplatin has significant side effects that reduce its efficacy. These effects include nephrotoxicity, myelotoxicity, neurotoxicity, ototoxicity, nausea, vomiting, and harming healthy cells due to insufficient specificity in targeting tumor cells.³ All those obstacles have been an incentive to scientists to overcome them with sophisticated solutions that will not affect healthy cells.

In this project, three different types of platinum-based anticancer drugs are considered. The first type, chelated agents, are produced by having starting materials together in water. The platinum center will react with the organic ligand compound and the solvent to work as a leaving group.⁴ Bidentate ligands have two donor atoms, allowing them to bind to a central metal atom. Common examples of bidentate ligands are ethylenediamine, which can be used as a non-leaving group, and the oxalate ion can be used as an anionic leaving ligand.^{3,4} It bonds via nitrogen or oxygen atoms on the adjacent edges of a planar Pt(II); each donor has two free electrons that can be used to bond to a central metal atom or ion. However, none of the approved drugs has organic bidentate ligands and monodentate anionic ligands, which is worth trying, as it can have a similar mechanism of action to that of cisplatin. If the leaving group is chloride, such as DPAPlatin, its loss is substantial before binding to target DNA. Another option to consider is having water molecules as leaving groups instead of chloride, such as the leaving group of PhenPlatin. In the present case, it is considered that the complex is very reactive and can interact with target DNA without any additional step. PhenPlatin can apply a second possibility, which is the second platinum's loss, leading to different drugs, which can work as two different drugs that can be administrated simultaneously.⁴



Scheme 3. Proposed Mechanism of Action of Chelated Agents

The second type is Pt(IV)-based complexes, which has two additional ligands that essentially keep the drugs inactive until they reach target DNA. Platinum(IV) complexes have sixcoordinate octahedral coordination geometry, with two additional ligands, which allows for further tuning of the properties. Additionally, these complexes are more inert due to being d⁶ octahedral metal ions. Therefore, the deactivation of the original platinum (II) drugs that can occur when they interact with thiol is prevented by using platinum (IV)-based anticancer drugs.⁴ As platinum (IV)based complexes are inert, the reduction to Pt (II) usually occurs before binding to the target, DNA.1 Reduction of Pt (IV) happens with the loss of two ligands, leading to the square planar geometry characteristic of Pt (II) complexes. It is believed that the (monodentate) ligands that are located trans to each other will be lost in the reduction step. Once the loss of two ligands occurs, the mechanism of action of the Pt (IV) prodrug will be reasonably similar to cisplatin, where it binds to the plasma protein, and then the loss of chloride will occur after substituting it with a water molecule, which is highly reactive towards the nucleus; then the formation of Pt-DNA will occur to prevent the cell from dividing and growing.²



Scheme 4. Proposed Mechanism of Action of Pt (IV) Based Complexes

The third type is π -bond binding, a new and interesting field. The stability of the metalolefin bond in platinum (II) complexes related to the formal charge on the complex has been the subject of studies in the past few years.⁵ The action occurs when pi-acid alkene donates electron density to the platinum d-orbital from a π symmetry bonding orbital between the carbon atoms. Then, the platinum donates electrons back from another filled d-orbital into the vacant π antibonding orbital. These two effects decrease the carbon-carbon bond order, resulting in an elongated C-C distance and a reduction of the vibrational frequency. One of the well-known examples is Zeise's salt K[PtCl₃(C₂H₄)].H₂O, which is believed to be the first known organometallic³, and its C-C bond length increases from 133 picometer for ethylene to 134 picometres on bonding to the metal.⁶ This action encourages the carbon atoms to have rehybridization to sp³, which occurs by bending back the hydrogen atoms to ethylene from the metal.⁷ The mechanism of action is quite similar to the mechanism of this action of chelate agents.



Scheme 5. The Proposed Mechanism of Action of Zeise's Salt

Scheme 5 involves bimolecular displacement of either chloride or water trans to ethylene by the amino group of the entering amino acid anion via parallel second-order routes, i.e., k₂ and ks, to the intermediate I. An overall second-order kinetic pattern results from the platinum substrate's solvolysis being faster than the subsequent reaction of the aqua species with the entering nucleophile. This is at variance customary behavior of platinum complexes toward nucleophilic displacements, where solvolysis is the rate-determining step for the solvent-assisted reaction pathway.⁸ This may well be readily due to the extremely low concentration of the nucleophile (Ala) compared to water. The experimental rate constant related to the reactivity of Zeise's anion toward Ala, kz, is affected by a rather larger standard deviation than the ks term. To the extent that of Zeise's parent chloride, reflecting the higher lability of water as a leaving group.⁹ Both ks and kz are greater than the second-order rate constant for a displacement of the chloride trans to ethylene in Zeise's anion by bipyridyl⁷ (1.45 X 103 M"1 sec"1 at 25° in 95% aqueous methanol).

This is not unexpected since the nucleophilic ability of the primary amine group of alanine is greater than that of the tertiary nitrogen of bipyridyl.

2.2 Experimental

2.2.1 Materials and Methods

All chemicals used were of AnalaR grade and obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and Fluka. Metal salts were purchased from E. Merck and were used as received. Solvents were purified by standard methods and dried before use by conventional methods.

2.2.2 Synthesis of DPAPlatin

A suspension of dipicolylamine (0.2 mmol) in water (5 mL) was titrated with 0.1 M HCl by stirring until all the solids had dissolved, followed by the addition of a solution of K₂PtCl₄ (0.18 mmol) in water (3 mL). The precipitate of Pt-complex is formed after the above mixture has been refluxed at 70 °C for 2 h. The precipitate is collected and washed with 0.1 M HCl, water, and ethanol and then is dried at 50 °C under vacuum for 5 h.



Figure 11. Synthesized of Drug DPAPlatin.

2.2.3 Synthesis of PhenPlatin

1,10-phenanthrolin-5-amine (0.2 mmol) in water (5 ml) was mixed with (2 ml) of MeOH and the solution was stirred until solid was dissolved, followed by the addition of a solution of

K₂PtCl₄ (0.18 mmol) in water (2 ml). The precipitate of Pt-complex is formed after the above mixture has been refluxed at 100 °C for 4 h. The precipitate is collected and washed with 0.1 M HCl, water and ethanol and then is dried at 50 °C under rotary evaporation for 8 hours.



Figure 12. Synthesis of Drug PhenPlatin.

2.2.4 Synthesis of TriPicolyAminePlatin

125 mg of potassium tetrachloroplatinate (K₂PtCl₄) was added to 200 μ l of water via a micro-syringe. The solution was heated while stirring in an oil bath to 70 °C. To this a solution of 300 mg of KI in 500 μ l of warm water was added. The mixture was heated to 80 °C with continuous stirring. As soon as the temperature reached 80 °C, the mixture was cooled down to room temperature. The solution was filtered using a Hirsch funnel to remove any solid impurities. Using a syringe, 0.4 mmol of the organic compound was added with HCl and water, after 45 min of stirring, another 0.4 mol of organic compound was added and stirred for another 45 min. An oily complex was obtained. The beaker was left to stand for an additional 20 min at room temperature.¹⁰



Figure 13. Synthesis of The Synthesized Drug TriPicolyAminePlatin.

2.2.5 Synthesis of DiPhenPlatin

125 mg of potassium tetrachloroplatinate (K₂PtCl₄) was added 200 μ l of water via a microsyringe. The solution was heated while stirring in an oil bath to 70 °C. A solution of 300 mg of KI in 500 μ l of warm water was added. The mixture was heated to 80 °C with continuous stirring. As soon as the temperature reached 80 °C, the mixture was cooled down to room temperature. Cl₂ gas was bubbled through the solution. This generated pale yellow solid products. After bubbling for another hour, the pale-yellow products were filtered using a Hirsch funnel to remove any solid impurities. Using a syringe, 0.4 mmol of the organic compound was added. As soon as the compound was added, fine red crystals of the complex precipitated. The beaker was allowed to stand for an additional 20 min at room temperature. The product was washed with 500 μ l ice-cold ethanol, followed by 1 ml ether.¹⁰



Figure 14. Synthesis of Drug DiPhenPlatin.

2.2.6 Synthesis of DCCPlatin

The hydrate is commonly prepared from K₂PtCl₄ and N,N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide in the presence of a catalytic amount of SnCl₂. The water of hydration can be removed in vacuo.¹¹



Figure 15: Synthesis of Drug DCCPlatin.

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 ¹H-NMR Spectra

We have recorded ¹H NMR spectra in DMSO-d6, because the solubility of the complexes in some other solvents (CDCl₃, CD₂Cl₂) was much smaller. The ¹H-NMR spectra of the complexes shown in figures (16-20), were recorded to confirm the structure of the mode of bonding in platinum complexes. ¹H NMR measurements, performed for complexes, in all cases exhibited the presence of distinct sets of sharp signals by coordinating between the free ligand molecules and the metal. The significant difference between the spectra of uncoordinated ligands and their platinum-bound complexes is deshielding of the peaks, which is expected to be higher for protons closer to the metal atom.^{12,13} ¹H chemical shifts (δ ¹H; ppm) of all ligands and complexes, as well as the respective coordination shifts (Δ ¹H coord = δ ¹H complex - δ ¹H ligand, ppm) are listed in Table 4.

The comparison of δ ¹H values of the DPAPlatin complex with a free ligand reveals the deshielding of H (4,6,1,5,7) atoms upon DPA replacement (yellow powder (95%) of the DPAplatin. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d6, 400 MHz,): δ /ppm = 8.95(m, 2H), 8.52 (m, 1H), 8.15 (m, 2H), 7.53 (m, 2H), 4.51 (d, 2H), respectively. The ¹H-NMR spectra of the Phenplatin complex show signals corresponding to protons were observed at 9.00 (dddd, 2H), 8.81 (m, 2H), 8.68 (m, 2H), 8.16 (m,2H), 7.85 (m, 2H), 7.51 (m, 2H). The ¹H-NMR spectra of TriPicolyAminePlatin shows

chemical shifts corresponding to protons were observed at 9.03 (s, 1H), 8.69 (m,3H), 7.76 (m, 1H) 7.55 (m,1H), 3.95 (dd,2H), 1.78 (dd, 2H). δ /ppm of DiPhenPlatin = 9.55 (d, 1H), 9.35 (d, 1H), 8.70 (d, 1H), 8.35 (m, 1H), 8.02 (m, 1H), 7.81 (d,1H), 7.55 (s,1H), 5.76 (s,2H) respectively. The ¹H-NMR spectra of DCCplatin complex shows signals corresponding to protons were observed at 3.47 (m, 1H), 2.039 (dddd, 2H), 1.80 (dddd, 2H), 1.58 (m,2H), 1.44 (m, 2H), 1.37 (m, 2H).

2.3.2¹³C-NMR Spectra

¹³C NMR measurements for all complexes have been performed in DMSO-d6. The significant difference between the spectra of uncoordinated ligands and their platinum-bound complexes is shielding of the peaks, which is expected to be higher for carbon atoms closer to the metal atom. ¹³C chemical shifts (δ^{13} C; ppm) of complexes as shown in Figures (21-25): their chemical and coordination shifts (Δ^{13} C coord = δ^{13} C complex - δ^{13} C ligand; ppm) are listed in Table 5. The complexation of five complexes results in ¹³C NMR high-frequency shifts. Surprisingly, they are mostly expressed for these carbons that are not directly adjacent to nitrogen, their Δ^{13} C coord parameters being ca 2–6 ppm. In contrast, Δ^{13} C coord values for carbon atoms neighboring to N are much smaller (up to ca. 2 ppm) or even negative (down to ca -2 ppm). Such an unusual pattern of coordination shifts suggests a competition of two opposite effects: general deshielding of all ¹³C nuclei, and specific shielding of C atoms positioned in the nearest moiety of the coordination site. The relevant C atoms (adjacent to N (3) coordination site) were shielded by ca 2-10 ppm, in contrast to all other, slightly deshielded carbons.^{14,15}

DPAPlatin and	PhenPlatin	TriPicolyAminePlatin	DiPhenPlatin	DCCPlatin
DPA	and Phen	and PA.	and Phen	and DCC
H4	H6	H12	H3	H3
+0.838	+0.19	+0.45	+0.66	+0.32
H6	H9	H8	H13	H2, H2
+1.01	0.45	+0.25	+0.63	+0.49, +0.15
H1	H16	H10	H5	-
+0.72	+3.18	+0.15	+0.15	
H5	H5	H9	H11	-
+0.27	+0.45	+21	+0.18	
H8	H12	H24	H12	-
+1.6	+0.01	+0	+0.36	
H7	H13	H23	H4	-
+0.35	+0.06	+0	+0.35	

Table 4. Coordination Shifts (Δ^{1} H coord = δ^{-1} H Complex - δ^{-1} H ligand, ppm) of The Prepared Pt Complexes, in DMSO-d6

Table 5. Coordination shifts ($\Delta^{13}C$ coord = $\delta^{13}C$ complex - $\delta^{13}C$ ligand, ppm) of The Prepared Complexes, and Their Complexes (^{13}C coordination shifts, $\delta^{13}C$ coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6

DPAPlatin and	PhenPlatin	TriPicolyAminePlatin	DiPhenPlatin	DCCPlatin
DPA	and Phen	and PA.	and Phen	and DCC
C2 (157.03)	C8(139)	C8(139.03)	C3(148)	C3(52)
-8.03	-8.02	-10.02	-2.21	-5.02
C4(144)	C2(145.6)	C12(138.03)	C13(147)	C4(28)
-15.1	-2.09	-10.1	-3.02	-7.12
C6(137)	C12(130.7)	C11(144)	C1(143)	C1(22)
-3.19	-2	+8.01	-5.03	-3.01
C1(119)	C6(129)	C10(127)	C10(140)	C6(23)
-2.43	-2.12	-11.05	-5.5	0
C5(122)	C7(115.05)	C9(119)	C5(135)	C8(83)
-2.55	-3.11	-6.03	-8.01	+3.023
C7(56)	C9(105)	C23(125)	C11(134)	-
+4.22	-5.04C8	+2.01	-7.011	



Figure 16. ¹H-NMR for DPAPlatin



Figure 17. ¹H-NMR for PhenPlatin



Figure 18. ¹H-NMR for TriPicolyAminePlatin



Figure 19. ¹H-NMR for DiPhenPlatin



Figure 20. ¹H-NMR for DCCPlatin



Figure 21: ¹³C-NMR for DPAPlatin



Figure 22. ¹³C-NMR for PhenPlatin



Figure 23. ¹³C-NMR for TriPicolyAminePlatin



Figure 24. ¹³C-NMR for DiPhenPlatin



Figure 25. ¹³C-NMR for DCCPlatin

2.3.3 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer

As one of the most important traditional spectroscopy analytical techniques, MS has been widely used to analyze the chemical structures of organic compounds and small biological molecules. Moreover, MS can provide information on the molecular mass of a sample. Since Thomson discovered isotopes of Ne by mass spectrometry in 1912, the MS technique has been developed rapidly in physics, chemistry, biology, and environmental and material sciences. The modern MS techniques allow more precise determination of atomic masses and analysis of compound structures. More importantly, with the discoveries of two soft ionization techniques, i.e., electrospray and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization in the late 1980s, MS can be successfully applied to analyze the mass of high molecular weight compounds, such as polymers, proteins, nucleic acids (DNA and RNA), etc. ^(16–18)

For the mass spectrometry measurement, samples must be ionized first by a beam of high energy electrons or other ionization techniques to generate (positively or negatively) charged molecular ions and possible fragmentations. After ionization, the charged molecular ions are then separated by acceleration under an electronic or electromagnetic field according to their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z). The separated ions and fragments are detected and analyzed. The output signals are finally transmitted to the data system, producing a mass spectrum.³³ A mass spectrum is usually presented as a plot of ion abundance versus mass-to-charge ratio. The relative amount of the ionized molecules and fragments is reflected from the height of each peak corresponding to the m/z values. In a mass spectrum, the strongest peak is called the base peak and assigned the relative abundance of 100%. The abundance of all the other peaks is given their proportionate values, as a percentage of the base peak. A mass spectrometer works based on the ionized molecules which should provide information concerning the nature and structure of the

corresponding precursor molecule. Therefore, in the spectrum of a pure compound, the highest value of m/z should correspond to the molecular ion, and the mass of the compound can be derived from the peaks. To avoid the collisions with other air molecules during the travel of molecular ions to the detector, is maintained under high vacuum (low pressure). In fact, possible collisions would make the molecular ions deviate from the original trajectory, and the ions would lose their charge against the walls of the instrument. On the other hand, collisions could produce unwanted species and hence increase the complexity of the spectrum and mass analysis. To date, various ionization techniques have been developed for mass spectrometry, including electron ionization (EI), chemical ionization (CI), field ionization (FI), fast atom bombardment (FAB), electrospray ionization (ESI), plasma desorption (PD), matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI), laser desorption (LD), thermospray ionization (TI), atmosphere pressure chemical ionization (APCI). Each ionization method has its own advantages and disadvantages, so they can be used selectively on the basis of the type of analyzed sample and the mass spectrometer. For example, FD can only be used to analyze the molecules with low-mass ions ($m/z \sim 5000$), while MALDI mass spectrometers have been successfully applied to the analysis of high-mass molecules, such as proteins, polymers, large organometallic compounds, and metallic clusters up to approximately m/z of 500 000. It should be noted that some ionization techniques are very energetic and lead to the formation of extensive fragmentations. Other techniques, however, are softer and produce predominantly the molecular ions, such as FAB, ESI, and MALDI. Due to the fine fragmentation, one of the advantages of the soft ionization methods is that the mass spectra are relatively easy to analyze and interpret. Sector, quadrupole, ion trap (IT), time-of-flight (TOF), and Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR) are the main types of mass analyzers used currently in mass spectrometers. The ion energy of the fragments with different mass-to-charge ratios is then

converted into electrical signals by the detector. The mass spectra were finally produced and analyzed with the data system. For more details about the principles of mass spectrometery and the structure of mass spectrometers, please refer to the comprehensive reference books. ⁽¹⁹⁻²³⁾

The ESI mass spectrometric analysis of DPAplatin, Phenplatin, Tripicolylamineplatin, Diphenplatin, and DCCplatin complexes leads to the mass spectrum reported in Figures (26, 27, 28, 29, and 30). The protonated molecular ions $[M + H]^+$ are easily detected at m/z values centered at 430.052, 622.153. 608.127, 622.153 and 473.0887 respectively. The mass spectrum for Phenplatin shows 656.134 and the mass spectrum for Tripicolylamineplatin shows one peak at one peak at 698.126 due to impurities or biproducts. The isotopic metal is in agreement with the theoretical isotope patterns. This feature indicates the formation of the complexes. The comparison between the theoretical and experimental masses of synthesized complexes has been collected in Table 6.

Complex	Theoretical	Experimental
DPAPlatin	429.0446	430.052
PhenPlatin	621.1450	622.153
TriPicolyAminePlatin	607.1199	608.127
DiPhenPlatin	621.1450	622.153
DCCPlatin	471.08807	473.086

Table 6. Nominal and Exact Masses of The Most Intense Peak of [M+H]⁺ of The Pt(II) Complexes







Figure 27. Mass Spectrum for PhenPlatin



Figure 28. Mass Spectrum for TriPicolyAminePlatin







Figure 30. Mass Spectrum for DCCPlatin

2.4 Conclusion

Due to the severe systemic toxicity and side effects of these drugs, alternative platinumbased anticancer drugs are needed in order to obtain a drug that has lower or no side effects. For the last four decades, thousands of platinum-based anticancer drugs have been synthesized for hope in finding a new drug that can be administrated with a lower dose and higher efficacy. Five new platinum based anticancer drugs have been synthesized and categorized under three different types; Chelate agents provide the ability to have cis-configuration complexes which is the desired configuration for platinum-based anticancer drugs. Pt (IV)-based complex is a highly active field with motivating results such as inertness before reaching the target cells. Platinum- π backbonding complex is a new field with a unique property where platinum metal is attached to the π bond of organic compounds. Due to the less solubility, it was not possible to purify these complexes that leads to show the peaks have masses bigger than the desired compounds. Although none of the complexes has yet been obtained in the crystalline state, the experimental results suggest that the coordination of the ligands show well-defined structure as suggested by the mass and NMR spectra.

2.5 References

- 1. Hall, M.D. and Hambley, T.W., 2002. Platinum (IV) antitumour compounds: their bioinorganic chemistry. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 232(1-2), pp.49-67.
- 2. Lippard, S.J., 1982. New chemistry of an old molecule: cis-[Pt(NH₃) 2Cl₂]. *Science*, 218(4577), pp.1075-1082.
- 3. Zeise, W.C., 1831. Von der Wirkung zwischen Platinchlorid und Alkohol, und von den dabei entstehenden neuen Substanzen. *Annalen der Physik*, 97(4), pp.497-541.
- 4. Wilson, J.J. and Lippard, S.J., 2014. Synthetic methods for the preparation of platinum anticancer complexes. *Chemical reviews*, 114(8), pp.4470-4495.
- 5. Chatt, J. and Duncanson, L.A., 1953. 586. Olefin co-ordination compounds. Part III. Infrared spectra and structure: attempted preparation of acetylene complexes. *Journal of the Chemical Society (Resumed)*, pp.2939-2947.
- Love, R.A., Koetzle, T.F., Williams, G.J., Andrews, L.C. and Bau, R., 1975. Neutron diffraction study of the structure of Zeise's salt, KPtCl3 (C₂H₄). H₂O. Inorganic chemistry, 14(11), pp.2653-2657.
- 7. G. L. Miessler, D. A. Tarr. Inorganic Chemistry. 2014 Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc. Pearson Prentice Hall.
- 8. Tobe, M.L., 1972. Reaction mechanisms in inorganic chemistry. *Nelson and Sons, Ltd, London, Chapter 5.*
- 9. Chanon, M. and Tobe, M.L., 1982. ETC: A mechanistic concept for inorganic and organic chemistry. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*, 21(1), pp.1-23.
- 10. Alderden, R.A., Hall, M.D. and Hambley, T.W., 2006. The discovery and development of cisplatin. *Journal of chemical education*, *83*(5), *p*.728.
- 11. Panunzi, A., Palumbo, R., Pedone, C. and Palaro, G., 1966. Monochloro-amino-acidolefin-platinum (II) complexes. *Journal of Organometallic Chemistry*, 5(6), pp.586-588.
- Pazderski, L., 2006. 15N NMR Coordination Shifts in Transition Metal Chloride Complexes with Azines versus Type of Central Ion. *Polish Journal of Chemistry*, 80(7), pp.1083-1093.
- Pazderski, L., Toušek, J., Sitkowski, J., Kozerski, L., Marek, R. and Szłyk, E., 2007. 1H, 13C and 15N NMR coordination shifts in gold (III), cobalt (III), rhodium (III) chloride complexes with pyridine, 2, 2'-bipyridine and 1,10-phenanthroline. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry*, 45(1), pp.24-36.

- Szłyk, E., Grodzicki, A., Pazderski, L., Wojtczak, A., Chatłas, J., Wrzeszcz, G., Sitkowski, J. and Kamieński, B., 2000. Palladium (II) chloride complexes with 1, 2, 4-triazolo [1, 5a] pyrimidines: X-ray, 15 N–1H NMR and 15 N CP MAS studies. Journal of the Chemical Society, *Dalton Transactions*, (6), pp.867-872.
- 15. Szlyk, E., Pazderski, L., Lakomska, I., Surdykowski, A., Glowiak, T., Sitkowski, J. and Kozerski, L., 2002. The X-ray structure of bis (5, 7-dimethyl-1, 2, 4-triazolo-[1, 5α]pyrimidinium) hexachloroplatinate (IV) and spectroscopic properties of Pt (II) and Pt (IV) chloride complexes with 1, 2, 4-triazolo-[1, 5α]-pyrimidines. *Polyhedron*, 21(3), pp.343-348.
- 16. Konermann, L., Ahadi, E., Rodriguez, A.D. and Vahidi, S., 2013. Unraveling the mechanism of electrospray ionization.
- 17. Fenn, J.B., 2003. Electrospray wings for molecular elephants (Nobel lecture). Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 42(33), pp.3871-3894.
- Hsieh, S., Dreisewerd, K., van der Schors, R.C., Jiménez, C.R., Stahl-Zeng, J., Hillenkamp, F., Jorgenson, J.W., Geraerts, W.P. and Li, K.W., 1998. Separation and Identification of Peptides in Single Neurons by Microcolumn Liquid Chromatography– Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry and Postsource Decay Analysis. *Analytical chemistry*, 70(9), pp.1847-1852.
- 19. Hoffmann, E. and Stroobant, V. (2007) Mass Spectrometry: Principles and Applications, 3rd ed. *John Wiley: Chichester, West Sussex, UK.*
- 20. Henderson, W. and McIndoe, J.S., 2005. Mass Spectrometry of Inorganic and Organometallic Compounds: Tools-Techniques-Tips. *John Wiley & Sons*.
- 21. 21. Ashcroft, A. E. Ionization methods in organic mass spectrometry; *Royal Society of Chemistry Information Services: Cambridge, 1997.*
- 22. Downard, K., 2007. Mass spectrometry: a foundation course. Royal Society of Chemistry.
- 23. Herbert, C.G. and Johnstone, R.A., 2002. Mass spectrometry basics. CRC press.

CHAPTER 3

SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL PLATINUM COMPLEXES CONTAINING CIPROFLOXACIN AS ANTI-CANCER DRUGS

3.1 Introduction



Chemical Structure of Ciprofloxacin

Ciprofloxacin (Cipro) is an antibiotic drug that belongs to a class of drugs called fluoroquinolones, and their first use in the medical practice was in 1987. It is relatively nontoxic, with broad-spectrum activity against Gram-negative aerobic bacilli but also against Gram-positive bacterial cells. Its bactericidal action is based on the inhibition of the bacterial DNA topoisomerase I. The highest concentrations of Cipro (several times higher than in serum) can be obtained in the lung, prostate, and urine.¹ Ciprofloxacin also inhibits topoisomerase II in eukaryotic cells, including mammalian cells. Cipro is frequently used in oncology patients with chemotherapyinduced neutropenia and antimicrobial fever prophylaxis in prostate biopsy and other infectious complications usually found in cancer patients.²⁻⁴ Bacterial infections are a major cause of complications and death in cancer patients who suffer from granulocytopenia because of intensive myelosuppressive chemotherapy.^{5,6} In addition, infections are recognized as major obstacles impeding patients' successful management of malignant diseases. The most common organisms causing these infections include Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus.⁷ There are hopes of finding a much-needed antibiotic that may exert both antimicrobial and antitumor activity, to be used for prophylaxis and treatment of bacterial superinfections in cancer patients while also being effective in preventing the growth of cancer cells.

Moreover, Cipro showed anticancer properties like inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis and creating double-strand breaks in nucleic acid. In 1989, Cipro exerted dose-dependent inhibition of colony formation of hematopoietic progenitor cells and leukemic cell lines.⁸ The concentration required for this inhibition was between 25 and 50 micrograms/ml. Therefore, Cipro is attractive to chemists for its anticancer effects. In 1990, two possible mechanisms for this inhibition were described:⁹ 1) Uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation with reduced intracellular energy (decrease of ATP) achieved with 200 microM¹⁰; this is preceded by selective loss of mitochondrial DNA content. 2) Inhibition of topoisomerase II.¹¹⁻¹³ This mechanism of action is probably the main effect in the order of an antiproliferative activity. Pessina et al. developed a leukemia cell line with specific resistance to Cipro.¹⁴ The resistance was characterized by a decreased capacity of Cipro to produce cleavage of DNA, and they propose a decreased affinity of Cipro for the topoisomerase II-DNA complex in these cells. Recently other possible mechanisms were added: 3) Inhibition of Mcm2-7 replicative helicase¹⁵ (minichromosome maintenance protein 2-7) preventing the proliferation of human cells. 4) In lymphoblastoid cells, a growth arrest pathway was described that does not include double-strand DNA breaks, including topoisomerase II mediated DNA changes without a double-strand break but with ATM activation that triggers the G2 M check point and G2 arrest.¹⁶ 5) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization inducing apoptosis through the mitochondrial membrane permeabilization.¹⁷

Fluoroquinolones are lysosomotropic agents, which means that they are lipophilic bases that accumulate inside the lysosome, producing a detergent-like effect on lysosomal membranes. Cipro is a lysosomotropic agent and can induce apoptosis through the permeabilization of the lysosomal membrane.^{18,19} Cipro also showed synergistic activity with interferon alpha-2a against leukemia cells²⁰ and activity against a murine bladder carcinoma cell line²¹, synergistic effects with cisplatin on head and neck squamous carcinoma cells²² and inhibition of proliferation of human transitional cell carcinoma lines,²³⁻²⁶ human osteosarcoma cells²⁷, canine osteosarcoma cells²⁸, hamster ovarian cancer cells²⁹, and Jurkat cells³⁰. They also found a decrease in mitochondrial calcium with altered mitochondrial permeability due to depolarization, which led to apoptosis.³¹ Urothelial cancer cell lines seem particularly sensitive to Cipro, particularly when associated with chemotherapeutic drugs like epirubicin.³² Chondrosarcoma cells treated with Cipro do not proliferate, and apoptosis is induced. Cipro produces abnormal lysosomes with degeneration products at the ultrastructural level and dilation of the endoplasmic reticulum.³³ It also enhances cisplatin's apoptotic effect via ERK activation.³⁴ Colorectal carcinoma cells also show susceptibility to anti-proliferative effects of Cipro, as shown by Herol et al., but the concentrations used in this research were high (200-500 micrograms/ml; the concentrations clinically achievable are between 50 and 400 micrograms/ml).³⁵ There is evidence that Cipro may enhance cancer cell death due to radiation therapy while protecting normal cells.³⁶ A Cipro derivative, piperonal ciprofloxacin hydrazine inhibited the proliferation of human hepatocarcinoma cells in a dose-dependent manner and induced apoptosis via inhibition of topoisomerase II.³⁷ Another Cipro derivative, trovafloxacin, showed growth inhibition of P388 murine leukemia cells and prolonged survival of experimental animals.³⁸ Kloskowski et al. tested Cipro in vitro against five different cancer cell lines: human non-small cell lung cancer, human

and mouse melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and rat glioblastoma. An important reduction in cell viability was observed in human non-small cell lung cancer, while rat glioblastoma was insensitive to Cipro.³⁹ The other 3 lines showed partial sensitivity. They worked with concentrations between 10 and 1000 micrograms/ml. In a comparative study of apoptosis induction among four different fluoroquinolones used on a human non-small cell lung carcinoma cell line in culture, all of them caused growth inhibition. The most effective was enoxacin, followed by norfloxacin, Cipro, and levofloxacin.⁴⁰

The design of these Pt-Cipro conjugates was based on the premise that attaching Cipro to cisplatin derivatives should result in simultaneous release inside the cell of two antiproliferative agents that act by different mechanisms on different cellular targets. Thus, the platinum conjugates could also improve targeting in the tumor cells, along with the free antitumor Pt (II) compound, also free Cipro in the amount that could make it possible to execute their biological function.

3.2 General Procedures for The Preparation of Cipro Derivatives and Their Pt (II), Pt (IV) Complexes

3.2.1 Synthesis of Cipro-en and Cipro-phen (L1 and L2)

1 mmol of Ciprofloxacin was added to 1 mmol of amine (ethylene diamine and 1,10phenanthroline-5-amine), and 3 mmol of triethylamine (Et₃N) in dichloromethane (DCM), then 1 mmol of SOCl₂ was added at room temperature. The mixture was stirred for 6 hours at room temperature. The recovery of the reaction product was performed by evaporating the solvent under reduced pressure (Scheme 6). The resulting residue was taken up in dichloromethane and washed first with 1 N HCl and then with 1 N NaOH. The organic phase was dried with anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and evaporated to dryness to afford the corresponding carboxylic amide.⁴¹



Scheme 6. Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en and Cipro-phen

3.2.2 Synthesis of Cipro-en-phendione (L3)

For synthesis of (Cipro-en-phendione) (*E*)-1-cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-*N*-(2-((6-oxo-1,10-phenanthrolin-5(6*H*)-ylidene)amino)ethyl)-7-(piperazin-1-yl)-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxamide (L2), 1,10-phenanthroline-5,6-dione (100 mg, 0.48 mmol) and *N*-(2-aminoethyl)-1-cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-7-(piperazin-1-yl)-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxamide (0.114 g, 0.48 mmol) were taken in ethanol (50 ml) and refluxed for 4 h. After solvent evaporation at room temperature, a yellow powder appeared (Scheme 7). This product was future purified by column chromatography using alumina as the column support and chloroform–methanol (6:10, v/v) as the eluent.⁴²



Scheme 7. Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en-Phendione

3.2.3 Synthesis of Cipro-en-bipy (L4)

A monoester of 2,2'-bipyridyl-4,4'- dicarboxylic acid was prepared by a reported protocol.⁴³ For this purpose, thionyl chloride (4 equiv) was added dropwise in the suspension of 2,2'-bipyridyl-4,4'-dicarboxylic acid (1 equiv) in MeOH. The mixture was stirred under reflux conditions for 12 h. The solvent was removed, and the residue was partitioned between DCM and water. The organic part was washed thoroughly with saturated NaHCO₃ (aq) 3 times and kept over hot Na₂SO₄ for drying. The solvent was evaporated by using a rotovap to get solid dimethyl 2,2'-bipyridine-4,4'- dicarboxylate. This diester was further subjected to hydrolysis with NaOH to obtain the monoester (4'-(methoxycarbonyl)-2,2'-bipyridine-4-carboxylic acid). To a diester solution in MeOH/THF (1:1 v/v mL) was mixed aqueous NaOH (1 equiv in 2 mL of water). The reaction mixture was kept stirring overnight. The solvent was then evaporated, and the white solid was dissolved in water, followed by washing with EtOAc twice. The aqueous layer was acidified by adding HCl to pH=2. The white precipitation was collected and dried in a vacuum pump to

obtain the pure 4'-(methoxycarbonyl)-2,2'-bipyridine-4-carboxylic acid. The addition of Ciprofloxacin-en to a chloroform solution of the monoester (4'-(methoxycarbonyl)-2,2'-bipyridine-4-carboxylic acid) at room temperature affords Cipro-en-bipy in good yield (shown in Scheme 8). The use of chloroform avoids the formation of the cyclic lactone as a byproduct.



Scheme 8. Synthesis Procedure of Cipro-en-bipy

3.2.4 Synthesis of Pt (II) Based Drugs

L1, L3 and L4 (0.2 mmol) in water (5 ml) with (2 ml) of MeOH and solution was stirred until solid was dissolved, followed by the addition of a solution of K₂PtCl₄ (0.18 mmol) in water (2 ml). The precipitate of Pt-complex was formed after refluxing the above mixture at 100 °C for 4 h. The precipitate was collected and washed with 0.1 M HCl, water and ethanol and then is dried at 50 °C under rotary evaporation for 8 hours.⁴⁴



Figure 31: Chemical structure of (Cis-[PtCl₂(Cipro-en)] D1, Cis-[PtCl₂(Cipro-en-phendione)] D2, and Cis-[PtCl₂(Cipro-en-bipy)] D3)

3.2.5 Synthesis of Pt (IV) Based Drugs

125 mg of potassium tetrachloroplatinate (K₂PtCl₄) was added to 200 μ l of water via a micro-syringe. The solution was heated while stirring in an oil bath to 70 °C. A solution of 300 mg of KI in 500 μ l of warm water was added. The mixture was heated to 80 °C with continuous stirring. As soon as the temperature reached 80°C, the mixture was cooled down to room temperature. The solution was filtered using a Hirsch funnel to separate any solid impurities. Using

a syringe, 0.4 mmol of the organic compound was added. As soon as the compound was added, fine red product of the complex precipitated. The beaker was left to stand for an additional 20 min at room temperature. The product was washed with 500 μ l ice-cold ethanol, followed by 1 ml ether.⁴⁵




Figure 32: Chemical Structures of ([Pt(Cipro-en)₂(H₂O)(MeO)] D4, [Pt(Cipro-enphendione)₂(H₂O)(MeO)] D5, and [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂(H₂O)(MeO) D6)

3.3 Result and Discussion

3.3.1 ¹HNMR and ¹³CNMR Spectra

¹H–¹³C spectra of the ligands and complexes were measured in saturated CDCl₃ or DMSO-d6 solutions. Due to the low solubility of some complexes in other solvents, we have recorded ¹H and ¹³CNMR spectra in DMSO-d6 only. After complexation, all proton signals are noticeably highfrequency shifted (by ca 0.15-0.7 ppm). The prepared complex + ligand mixtures (1:1 and 1:2; in DMSO-d6) have revealed distinct ¹H peaks for coordinated and uncoordinated species, which excludes a fast exchange of substituted ligands between the platinide coordination sphere and the solution. Indeed, the signals are most affected by coordination. These protons are also the most sensitive probes respect to the nature of metal core. ¹H chemical shifts (δ^{1H} ; ppm) of all ligands and complexes, as well as the respective coordination shifts (Δ^{1H} coord = δ^{1H} complex - δ^{1H} ligand, ppm) are presented in Table 6. Analogous deshielding of protons directly adjacent to nitrogens coordinated to a metal center ion was already described in a number of Au(III) chloride complexes $([Au(bpy)Cl_2][AuCl_4],^{46,47}]$ [Au(bpv)Cl₂]PF₆,⁴⁸ with unsubstituted phen bpy or [Au(phen)Cl₂]Cl,⁵⁰ $[Au(phen)Cl_2][AuCl_4],^{46}$ $[Au(phen)Cl_2]PF_6,$ 51 $[Au(bpy)Cl_2]ClO_4,^{49}$ [Au(phen)Cl₂] ClO₄)⁴⁹. Similar ¹H high-frequency shifts were also observed for H(6) in $[Au(dmbpy)Cl_2]ClO_4 (\delta H(6) = 9.34 \text{ ppm, in } CD_3OD)^{49} \text{ and } H(2) \text{ in } [Pt(dpphen)Cl_4] (\delta H(2) = 9.80)$ ppm, in DMSO-d6),⁵² whereas in case of [Au(dpphen)Cl₂]Cl the latter signal was surprisingly lowfrequency shifted (δ H(2)= 8.31 ppm, in CD₃CN)⁴⁹. Such an anomaly, unusual among squareplanar coordination compounds, suggests that this compound had, in fact, another [Au(dpphen)Cl₃] formula, with geometry intermediate between trigonal bipyramid and tetragonal pyramid (by analogy to the Au(III) chloride complex containing another bulky bidentate ligand, i.e. 2,2'-biguinoline – [Au(bquin)Cl3] (AUBQNL)).⁵³ The ¹H-NMR spectra of the Cipro-en,

Ciprophen, Cipro-enbipy, and Cipro-en-phendione as shown in figures (28-31) were recorded to confirm the structure of the ligands. The presence of amide, amine, and methyl protons of Ciproen were confirmed by observing one proton triplet at 9.36 ppm, two multiplet at 3.39 ppm, and four protons multiplet at 3.05-3.31 ppm. One singlet corresponding to one proton assigned to O=C-NH of amide group of Cipro-phen was observed at 10.18 ppm. The ¹H-NMR spectra of Cipro-enbipy shows two triplet signals at 9.58 and 8.58 ppm integrating for one proton each, assigned to O=C-NH(Cipro) and O=C-NH (bipy) respectively. The presence of amide protons of Cipro-enphendione were confirmed by observing one proton triplet at 9.25 ppm. Signals due to aromatic protons were observed at 7.58–9.01 ppm.⁵⁴ The ¹H-NMR spectra of the Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂, and Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂ as shown in figures (32-37) were recorded to confirm the structure of the Pt(II) complexes and the Pt(IV) complexes. The observed ¹H high-frequency coordination shifts are mostly expressed for protons directly adjacent to nitrogens H(2,3,4,7,8,9) for Ciprophen/Cipro-en-phendione and H(3,5,6,3',5',6') for Cipro-en-bipy, being always deshielded in case of Pt(II) and Pt(IV) complexes: $\Delta^{1H(2,9)}$ coord = +0.11, +0.14, +0.11, +0.24 ppm for [Pt(Ciprophen)Cl₂]/ [Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂], and $\Delta^{1H(2,9)}$ coord= +0.45, +0.2, +0.39, +0.23 ppm for [Pt(Ciproen-phendione)Cl₂]/ [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂] respectively, as well as $\Delta^{1H(6,6)}$ coord = +0.3, +0.31, +0.28, +0.1 ppm for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl₂]/[Pt(Cipro-en bipy)₂Cl₂]respectively. Some of the 1H NMR spectra show asymmetric peaks due to the calibration of the instrument or impurities coming from platinum salt, starting materials or biproducts. A purification of platinum complexes is not performed due to their less solubility in the organic solvents.



Table 7. ¹H NMR Chemical Shifts (δ^{1H} , ppm) of Bipy, Phendione, Phen and Their Pt (II) or Pt (IV) Chloride Complexes (¹H coordination shifts, Δ^{1H} coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6

Compound	H (2)	H (3)	H (4)	H (7)	H (8)	H (9)
Cipro-phen	9.107	7.600	8.271	8.422	7.83	9.030
Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl ₂	9.222	7.759	8.465	8.931	7.91	9.142
	[+0.11]	[+0.16]	[+0.19]	[+0.51]	[+0.08]	[+0.11]
Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂	9.25	8.07	8.51	9.01	7.92	9.27
	[+0.14]	[+0.47]	[+0.28]	[+0.53]	[+0.09]	[+0.24]
Cipro-en-phendione	8.79	7.58	7.93	8.21	7.55	8.84
Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl ₂	9.24	8.30	8.59	9.11	8.30	9.23
	[+0.45]	[+0.72]	[+0.66]	[+0.9]	[+0.75]	[+0.39]
Pt(Cipro-en-phendione) ₂ Cl ₂	8.99	8.37	8.12	8.31	8.42	9.07
	[+0.2]	[+0.79]	[+0.19]	[+0.1]	[+0.87]	[+0.23]
Compound	H (6)	H (5)	H (3)	H (6')	H (5')	H (3')
Cipro-en-bipy	8.83	7.68	8.46	8.71	7.76	8.71
Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl ₂	9.10	7.89	8.60	8.99	7.89	8.57
	[+0.3]	[+0.21]	[+0.14]	[+0.28]	[+0.13]	[-0.14]
Pt(Cipro-en-bipy) ₂ Cl ₂	9.11	7.75	8.56	8.81	7.94	8.60
	[+0.31]	[+0.07]	[+0.1]	[+0.1]	[+0.18]	[-0.11]

The ¹³C-NMR spectra of the Cipro-en, the Ciprophen, the Cipro-enbipy, and the Cipro-enphendione as shown in figure (38-40) were recorded to confirm the structure of the ligands. The presence of all signals of Cipro-phen were confirmed by observing $\delta^{C2,9} = 150.39$ ppm, 150.13 ppm, $\delta^{C3,8} = 123.63$ ppm, 120.79 ppm, $\delta^{C4,7} = 133.55$ ppm, 130.42 ppm, and $\delta^{C10a,10b} = 146.37$ ppm, 143.24 ppm. The ¹³C-NMR spectra of Cipro-enbipy shows observing $\delta^{C6,6'} = 149.84$ ppm, 152.23

ppm, $\delta^{C5,5'} = 122.66$ ppm, 125.69 ppm, $\delta^{C4,4'} = 140.13$ ppm, 147.42 ppm, $\delta^{C3,3'} = 120.57$ ppm, 123.90 ppm, and $\delta^{C2,2'} = 150.70$ ppm, 156.64 ppm. The presence of signals of Cipro-en-phendione were confirmed by observing observing $\delta^{C2,9} = 156.26$ ppm, 151.38 ppm, $\delta^{C3,8} = 125.91$ ppm, 126.19 ppm, $\delta^{C4,7} = 136.80$ ppm, 133.74 ppm, and $\delta^{C10a,10b} = 149.62$ ppm, 152.38 ppm.⁵⁴

¹³C chemical shifts (δ^{13C} ; ppm) of all ligands and complexes, as well as the respective coordination shifts (Δ^{13C} coord = δ^{13C} complex - δ^{13C} ligand, ppm) are presented in Table 7. The ¹³C-NMR spectra of the Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-enbipy)₂Cl₂, Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl₂, and Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂ as shown in figure (41-43) were recorded to confirm the structure of the Pt(II) complexes and Pt(IV) complexes. the observed ¹³C high-frequency coordination shifts are mostly expressed for carbons directly adjacent to nitrogens C(2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9) for Cipro-phen/Cipro-en-phendione and C(2, 3, 5, 6, 2', 3', 5', 6') for Cipro-en-bipy, being shielded in case of Pt(II) and Pt(IV) complexes: $\Delta^{13C(2,9)}$ coord = -17.3/-9.51, -15.49/-10.86 ppm, and $\Delta^{13C(10a,10b)}$ coord = -10.14/-10.41, -14.53/-4.62 ppm for [Pt(Ciprophen)Cl₂]/[Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂], and $\Delta^{13C(2,9)}$ coord = -16.53/-12.31, -15.14/-8.98 ppm, $\Delta^{13C(10a,10b)}$ coord= -8.75/-7.1,-7.21/-6.03 ppm for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl₂]/[Pt(Cipro-enphendione)₂Cl₂] respectively, and $\Delta^{13C(6,6')}$ coord= -12.08/-7.61, -14.65/-10.26 ppm and $\Delta^{13C(2,2')}$ coord = -11.81/-8.02, -16.82/-14.67 ppm for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl₂]/[Pt(Cipro-enbipy)₂Cl₂ respectively.

Compound	C(2)	C(3)	C(4)	C(10b)	C(9)	C(8)	C (7)	C(10a)
Cipro-phen	150.39	123.63	133.55	143.24	150.13	121.79	130.42	146.37
Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl ₂	133.07	121.01	125.64	128.71	134.64	120.50	125.95	136.23
	[-17.3]	[-2.62]	[-7.91]	[-14.53]	[-15.49]	[-0.29]	[-4.47]	[-10.14]
Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂	140.88	125.74	126.84	138.62	139.27	125.86	126.66	135.96
	[-9.51]	[+2.11]	[-6.71]	[-4.62]	[-10.86]	[+4.07]	[-3.76]	[-10.41]
Cipro-en-phendione	156.26	125.91	136.80	152.38	151.38	126.19	133.74	149.62
Pt(Cipro-en-	139.74	124.23	130.45	145.17	136.24	124.23	128.54	140.87
phendione)Cl ₂	[-16.53]	[-1.68]	[-6.35]	[-7.21]	[-15.14]	[-1.96]	[-5.2]	[-8.75]
Pt(Cipro-en-	143.95	129.88	131.45	146.35	142.40	129.12	129.11	142.52
phendione)2Cl2	[-12.31]	[+3.97]	[-5.35]	[-6.03]	[-8.98]	[+2.93]	[-4.63]	[-7.1]
Compound	C(6)	C(5)	C(3)	C(2)	C(6')	C(5')	C(3')	C(2')
Cipro-en-bipy	149.84	122.66	120.57	155.70	152.23	125.69	123.90	156.64
Pt(Cipro-en-	137.76	127.72	123.49	140.42	137.58	128.22	125.65	139.82
bipy)Cl ₂	[-12.08]	[+5.06]	[+2.95]	[-11.81]	[-14.65]	[+2.53]	[+1.75]	[-16.82]
Pt(Cipro-en-	142.23	128.71	124.32	147.68	141.97	129.31	129.31	141.97
bipy)2Cl2	[-7.61]	[+6.05]	[+3.75]	[-8.02]	[-10.26]	[+3.62]	[+5.41]	[-14.67]

Table 8. ¹³C NMR Chemical Shifts (δ^{13C} , ppm) of Bipy, Phendione, Phen and Their Pt (II) or Pt (IV) Chloride Complexes (¹³C coordination shifts, Δ^{13C} coord, in parentheses), in DMSO-d6



Figure 33. ¹H-NMR for Cipro-en



Figure 34. ¹H-NMR for Cipro-phen





Figure 35. ¹H-NMR for Cipro-en-bipy

Figure 36. ¹H-NMR for Cipro-en-phendione



Figure 37. ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl₂]



Figure 38. ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl₂]



Figure 39. ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl₂]



Figure 40. ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂]



Figure 41. ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂Cl₂]



Figure 42: ¹H-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂]



Figure 43. ¹³C-NMR for Cipro-phen and [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl₂]



Figure 44. ¹³C-NMR for Cipro-en-phendione and [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl₂]



Figure 45. ¹³C-NMR for Cipro-en-bipy and [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)Cl₂]



Figure 46. ¹³C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂]



Figure 47. ¹³C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂]



Figure 48. ¹³C-NMR for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂Cl₂]

3.3.2 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer

The ESI mass spectrometry is considered one of the most powerful analytical techniques in the field of organometallic compounds.⁵⁵ For this reason, all the studied compounds were analyzed by such a technique. In the case of Pt(II) complexes, the ESI mass spectra, reported in Figures (49, 50, and 51) has been obtained operating in positive ion mode. The molecular ions are detected the base peaks of the spectra at m/z 774,112 831.134, and 865.139 respectively for three Pt(II) complexes. These correspond to the protonated molecular ion [M+H]⁺ and they can be generated by the ionization conditions or by ion-molecule reactions inside the ion trap analyzer. The ESI mass spectra for complexes of Pt(IV) are shown in Fig (52, 53, and 54). The protonated molecular ions [M + H]⁺ are detected at m/z values centered at 1282.314, 1396.350, and 1464.368 respectively: the isotopic cluster is in agreement with the theoretical one. This feature indicates the formation of the complexes. The comparison between the theoretical and experimental masses of

synthesized complexes has been collected in Table 9.

Table 9. The Theoretical and Experimental Masses of The Most Intense Peak of [M+H] of the H	Pt
(II) and Pt (IV) complexes	

Complex	Theoretical	Experimental
Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl ₂	773.1048	774.112
Pt(Cipro-phendione)Cl ₂	830.1263	831.134
Pt(Cipro-bipy)Cl ₂	864.1317	865.139
Pt(Cipro-phen) ₂ Cl ₂	1281.3071	1282.314
Pt(Cipro-phendione) ₂ Cl ₂	1395.3500	1396.350
Pt(Cipro-bipy)2Cl2	1463.3610	1464.368



Figure 49. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-phen)Cl2]



Figure 50. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)Cl2]







Figure 52. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-phen)₂Cl₂]



Figure 53. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-phendione)₂Cl₂]



Figure 54. Mass Spectrum for [Pt(Cipro-en-bipy)₂Cl₂]

3.4 Conclusion

Six complexes of Pt(II) and Pt(IV) have been prepared and characterized by spectroscopic methods. The complexes described above represent a development of the class of organometallic Pt(II) derivatives with two nitrogen-donor ligands bound to the same metallic center. Platinide(II) and (IV) chloride coordination of bpy and phen ligands results in the deshielding of all ¹H NMR signals. This effect is mostly pronounced for protons directly adjacent to nitrogens, i.e., H (6) in bipy and H(2) in phen. For all studied complexes, usually observed ¹³C NMR high-frequency shifts are noticeably larger for carbons far distanced from nitrogen than for those directly adjacent to the N atom (the latter ¹³C signals can be even low frequency shifted). Most likely, such a pattern results from a general deshielding effect appearing for all carbon nuclei, in combination with a specific shielding of C atoms in the nearest moiety of the coordination site. Although none of the complexes has been obtained in the crystalline state, the experimental results suggest that the coordination of the ligands show well-defined structure as suggested by the mass spectra.

3.5 References

- 1. Walker, R.C., 1999, October. The fluoroquinolones. *In Mayo Clinic Proceedings (Vol. 74, No. 10, pp. 1030-1037). Elsevier.*
- Sipsas, N.V., Kosmas, C., Ziakas, P.D., Karabelis, A., Vadiaka, M., Skopelitis, E., Kordossis, T. and Tsavaris, N., 2007. Comparison of two oral regimens for the outpatient treatment of low-risk cancer patients with chemotherapy-induced neutropenia and fever: Ciprofloxacin plus cefuroxime axetil versus ciprofloxacin plus amoxicillin/clavulanate. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 39(9), pp.786-791.
- Leibovici, L., Paul, M., Cullen, M., Bucaneve, G., Gafter-Gvili, A., Fraser, A. and Kern, W.V., 2006. Antibiotic prophylaxis in neutropenic patients: new evidence, practical decisions. Cancer, 107(8), pp.1743-1751.
- 4. Picazo JJ. Management of the febrie neutropenic patient. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2005 Dec;26 Suppl2:S120-2;discussion S133-40.
- 5. Pizzo, P.A., 1995. Empirical therapy and prevention of infection in the immunocompromised host. *Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseses*, pp.2686-2696.
- 6. Schimpff, S., Satterlee, W., Young, V.M. and Serpick, A., 1971. Empiric therapy with carbenicillin and gentamicin for febrile patients with cancer and granulocytopenia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 284(19), pp.1061-1065.
- 7. Bodey, G.P., 1986. Infection in cancer patients: a continuing association. *The American journal of medicine*, 81(1), pp.11-26.
- 8. Somekh, E., Douer, D., Shaked, N. and Rubinstein, E., 1989. In vitro effects of ciprofloxacin and pefloxacin on growth of normal human hematopoietic progenitor cells and on leukemic cell lines. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 248(1), pp.415-418.
- 9. Lawrence, J.W., Darkin-Rattray, S., Xie, F., Neims, A.H. and Rowe, T.C., 1993. 4-Quinolones cause a selective loss of mitochondrial DNA from mouse L1210 leukemia cells. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 51(2), pp.165-174.
- 10. Lyons, S.D. and Christopherson, R.I., 1990. Effects of brequinar and ciprofloxacin on de novo nucleotide biosynthesis in mouse L1210 leukemia. *Biochemistry international*, 22(6), pp.939-949.

- Eder, J.P., Teicher, B.A., Holden, S.A., Senator, L., Cathcart, K.N. and Schnipper, L.E., 1990. Ability of four potential topoisomerase II inhibitors to enhance the cytotoxicity ofcisdiamminedichloroplatinum (II) in Chinese hamster ovary cells and in an epipodophyllotoxin-resistant subline. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology*, 26(6), pp.423-428.
- Lynch, A., Harvey, J., Aylott, M., Nicholas, E., Burman, M., Siddiqui, A., Walker, S. and Rees, R., 2003. Investigations into the concept of a threshold for topoisomerase inhibitorinduced clastogenicity. *Mutagenesis*, 18(4), pp.345-353.
- Kloskowski, T., Gurtowska, N., Olkowska, J., Nowak, J.M., Adamowicz, J., Tworkiewicz, J., Dębski, R., Grzanka, A. and Drewa, T., 2012. Ciprofloxacin is a potential topoisomerase II inhibitor for the treatment of NSCLC. *International journal of oncology*, 41(6), pp.1943-1949.
- Pessina, A., Raimondi, A., Croera, C., Acchini, M., Mineo, E., Foti, P. and Neri, M.G., 2001. Altered DNA-cleavage activity of topoisomerase II from WEHI-3B leukemia cells with specific resistance to ciprofloxacin. Anti-cancer drugs, 12(5), pp.441-451.
- 15. Simon, N., Bochman, M.L., Seguin, S., Brodsky, J.L., Seibel, W.L. and Schwacha, A., 2013. Ciprofloxacin is an inhibitor of the Mcm2-7 replicative helicase. *Bioscience reports*, 33(5), p.e00072.
- 16. Smart, D.J., Halicka, H.D., Traganos, F., Darzynkiewicz, Z. and Williams, G.M., 2008. Ciprofloxacin-induced G2 arrest and apoptosis in TK6 lymphoblastoid cells is not dependent on DNA double-strand break formation. *Cancer biology & therapy*, 7(1), pp.113-119.
- 17. Boya, P., Andreau, K., Poncet, D., Zamzami, N., Perfettini, J.L., Metivier, D., Ojcius, D.M., Jäättelä, M. and Kroemer, G., 2003. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization induces cell death in a mitochondrion-dependent fashion. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 197(10), pp.1323-1334.
- 18. Ouèdraogo, G., Molière, P., Maziere, C., Maizière, J.C. and Santus, R., 2000. Alteration of the Endocytotic Pathway by Photosensitization with Fluoroquinolones. Photochemistry and photobiology, 72(4), pp.458-463.
- 19. Erdal, H., Berndtsson, M., Castro, J., Brunk, U., Shoshan, M.C. and Linder, S., 2005. Induction of lysosomal membrane permeabilization by compounds that activate p53-

independent apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(1), pp.192-197.

- 20. Hahn, T., Shtalrid, M., Berrebi, A., Malach, L., Barak, Y. and Rubinstein, E., 1992. Interferon α-2a and Ciprofloxacin Synergistically Inhibit Leukemic Cell Growth. *Journal* of the National Cancer Institute, 84(9), pp.723-724.
- 21. Zehavi-Willner, T. and Shalit, I., 1992. The inhibitory effect of ciprofloxacin on proliferation of a murine bladder carcinoma cell line. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 29(3), pp.323-328.
- 22. Haller, J., Burgess, R. and Dawson, D., 1993. Increased cytotoxicity of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck by combining cisplatin with VP-16 and ciprofloxacin. *The Laryngoscope*, 103(10), pp.1081-1083.
- 23. Seay, T.M., Peretsman, S.J. and Dixon, P.S., 1996. Inhibition of human transitional cell carcinoma in vitro proliferation by fluoroquinolone antibiotics. *The Journal of urology*, 155(2), pp.757-762.
- Ebisuno, S., Inagaki, T., Kohjimoto, Y. and Ohkawa, T., 1997. The cytotoxic effects of fleroxacin and ciprofloxacin on transitional cell carcinoma in vitro. *Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society*, 80(12), pp.2263-2267.
- 25. Kamat, A.M., DeHaven, J.I. and Lamm, D.L., 1999. Quinolone antibiotics: a potential adjunct to intravesical chemotherapy for bladder cancer. Urology, 54(1), pp.56-6.
- 26. Aranha, O., Wood, D.P. and Sarkar, F.H., 2000. Ciprofloxacin mediated cell growth inhibition, S/G2-M cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis in a human transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder cell line. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 6(3), pp.891-900.
- Miclau, T., Edin, M.L., Lester, G.E., Lindsey, R.W. and Dahners, L.E., 1998. Effect of ciprofloxacin on the proliferation of osteoblast-like MG-63 human osteosarcoma cells in vitro. *Journal of orthopaedic research*, 16(4), pp.509-512.
- 28. Kw, S., Holt, R., Jung, Y.S., Rodriguez Jr, C.O., Chen, X. and Rebhun, R.B., 2012. Fluoroquinolone-mediated inhibition of cell growth, S-G2/M cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis in canine osteosarcoma cell lines. *Plos one*, 7(8), pp.e42960-e42960.

- 29. Kloskowski, T., Olkowska, J., Nazlica, A. and Drewa, T., 2010. The influence of ciprofloxacin on hamster ovarian cancer cell line CHO AA8. *Acta Pol Pharm*, 67(4), pp.345-9.
- Koziel, R., Szczepanowska, J., Magalska, A., Piwocka, K., Duszynski, J. and Zablocki, K., 2010. Ciprofloxacin inhibits proliferation and promotes generation of aneuploidy in Jurkat cells. *Journal of physiology and pharmacology*, 61(2), p.233.
- Aranha, O., Zhu, L., Alhasan, S., Wood, D.P., Kuo, T.H. and Sarkar, F.H., 2002. Role of mitochondria in ciprofloxacin induced apoptosis in bladder cancer cells. *The Journal of urology*, 167(3), pp.1288-1294.
- 32. Engeler, D.S., Scandella, E., Ludewig, B. and Schmid, H.P., 2012. Ciprofloxacin and epirubicin synergistically induce apoptosis in human urothelial cancer cell lines. Urologia internationalis, 88(3), pp.343-349.
- 33. Multhaupt, H.A.B., Alvarez, J.C., Rafferty, P.A., Warhol, M.J. and Lackman, R.D., 2001. Fluoroquinolone's Effect on Growth of Human Chondrocytes and Chondrosarcomas: In Vitro: and: in Vivo: *Correlation. JBJS*, 83(2), pp.S56-61.
- 34. Yadav, V., Varshney, P., Sultana, S., Yadav, J. and Saini, N., 2015. Moxifloxacin and ciprofloxacin induce S-phase arrest and augments apoptotic effects of cisplatin in human pancreatic cancer cells via ERK activation. *BMC cancer*, 15(1), pp.1-15.
- 35. Herold, C., Ocker, M., Ganslmayer, M., Gerauer, H., Hahn, E.G. and Schuppan, D., 2002. Ciprofloxacin induces apoptosis and inhibits proliferation of human colorectal carcinoma cells. *British journal of cancer*, 86(3), pp.443-448.
- 36. Kiang, J.G., Garrison, B.R., Smith, J.T. and Fukumoto, R., 2014. Ciprofloxacin as a potential radio-sensitizer to tumor cells and a radio-protectant for normal cells: differential effects on γ-H2AX formation, p53 phosphorylation, Bcl-2 production, and cell death. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*, 393(1), pp.133-143.
- 37. Shi, Z.Y., Li, Y.Q., Kang, Y.H., Hu, G.Q., Huang-Fu, C.S., Deng, J.B. and Liu, B., 2012. Piperonal ciprofloxacin hydrazone induces growth arrest and apoptosis of human hepatocarcinoma SMMC-7721 cells. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, 33(2), pp.271-278.
- 38. Thadepalli, H., Salem, F., Chuah, S.K. and Gollapudi, S., 2005. Antitumor activity of trovafloxacin in an animal model. *In vivo*, 19(1), pp.269-276.

- Kloskowski, T., Gurtowska, N., Nowak, M., Joachimiak, R., Bajek, A., Olkowska, J. and Drewa, T., 2011. The influence of ciprofloxacin on viability of A549, HepG2, A375. S2, B16 and C6 cell lines in vitro. *Acta Pol Pharm*, 68(6), pp.859-865.
- 40. Mondal ER, Das SK, Mukherjee P., 2004. Comparative evaluation of antiproliferative activity and induction of apoptosis by some fluoroquinolones with a human non-small cell lung cancer cell line in culture. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.*;5(2):196-204.
- Leggio, A., Belsito, E.L., De Luca, G., Di Gioia, M.L., Leotta, V., Romio, E., Siciliano, C. and Liguori, A., 2016. One-pot synthesis of amides from carboxylic acids activated using thionyl chloride. *RSC Advances*, 6(41), pp.34468-34475.
- Shahroosvand, H., Abbasi, P., Mohajerani, E. and Janghouri, M., 2014. Red electroluminescence of ruthenium sensitizer functionalized by sulfonate anchoring groups. *Dalton Transactions*, 43(24), pp.9202-9215.
- Chang, K.H., King, O.N., Tumber, A., Woon, E.C., Heightman, T.D., McDonough, M.A., Schofield, C.J. and Rose, N.R., 2011. Inhibition of histone demethylases by 4-carboxy-2, 2'-bipyridyl compounds. *ChemMedChem*, 6(5), p.759.
- 44. Gude, L., Fernandez, M.J., Grant, K.B. and Lorente, A., 2002. DNA Interaction and photonicking properties of DNA-Targeted acridine (2, 2'-Bipyridine) Platinum (II) complexes. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters*, 12(21), pp.3135-3139.
- 45. Alderden, R.A., Hall, M.D. and Hambley, T.W., 2006. The discovery and development of cisplatin. *Journal of chemical education*, 83(5), p.728.
- 46. Pazderski, L., Toušek, J., Sitkowski, J., Kozerski, L., Marek, R. and Szłyk, E., 2007. 1H, 13C and 15N NMR coordination shifts in gold (III), cobalt (III), rhodium (III) chloride complexes with pyridine, 2, 2'-bipyridine and 1, 10-phenanthroline. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry*, 45(1), pp.24-36.
- 47. Constable, E.C. and Leese, T.A., 1989. Cycloaurated derivatives of 2-phenylpyridine. *Journal of organometallic chemistry*, 363(3), pp.419-424.
- 48. Cinellu, M.A., Minghetti, G., Pinna, M.V., Stoccoro, S., Zucca, A. and Manassero, M., 2000. Gold (III) derivatives with anionic oxygen ligands: mononuclear hydroxo, alkoxo and acetato complexes. Crystal structure of [Au (bpy)(OMe) 2][PF 6]. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions,* (8), pp.1261-1265.

- 49. Ivanov, M.A., Puzyk, M.V., Tkacheva, T.A. and Balashev, K.P., 2006. Effect of heterocyclic diimine ligands with donor and acceptor substituents on the spectroscopic and electrochemical properties of Au (III) complexes. *Russian journal of general chemistry*, 76(2), pp.165-169.
- 50. Ivanov, M.A., Puzyk, M.V. and Balashev, K.P., 2006. Spectroscopic and electrochemical properties of dichlorodiimine complexes of Au (III) and Pt (II) with 1, 4-diazine derivatives of o-phenanthroline. Russian journal of general chemistry, 76(6), pp.843-848.
- 51. Palanichamy, K. and Ontko, A.C., 2006. Synthesis, characterization, and aqueous chemistry of cytotoxic Au (III) polypyridyl complexes. Inorganica chimica acta, 359(1), pp.44-52.
- 52. Gaballa, A., Wagner, C., Schmidt, H. and Steinborn, D., 2003. Ligand Substitution Reactions on Aquapentachloro-and Hexachloroplatinic Acid—Synthesis and Characterization of Tetrachloroplatinum (IV) Complexes with Heterocyclic N, N Donors. *Zeitschrift für anorganische und allgemeine Chemie*, 629(4), pp.703-710.
- 53. Charlton RJ, Harris CM, Patil H, Stephenson NC. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett. 1966; 2: 409.
- 54. Son, S., Ahn, H. and Chung, M., 2016. A Synthesis and Characterization of Pt (II) Complexes with Bipyrimidine-based Back-bone System. *Korean Chemical Engineering Research*, 54(4), pp.555-559.
- 55. Plattner, D.A., 2001. Electrospray mass spectrometry beyond analytical chemistry: studies of organometallic catalysis in the gas phase. *International Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, 207(3), pp.125-144.

CHAPTER 4

SYNTHESIS, CHARACTERICATION OF METALLOLIGANDS AND USE THEM IN FORMATION OF HETEROBIMETALLIC COPPER(II)-URANYL COMPLEXES

4.1 Introduction

Transition metal complexes of multidentate ligands especially tetradentate Schiff bases have important applications in catalysis and material chemistry.¹⁻⁵ The coordination and organometallic chemistry of actinides, especially uranium, have been explored extensively over last two decades.⁶⁻¹² These studies have great applications not only in the extraction of actinides, ¹³⁻¹⁵ nuclear fuel processing,¹⁶ environmental remediation,¹⁷ and nuclear forensics¹⁸ but also in the fields of magnetism,^{19,20} optics,^{21,22} catalysis,^{23,24} and electrochemistry.²⁵⁻²⁷ Tetradentate Schiff bases N,O-donor ligands set atoms provide suitable coordination environments for a wide variety of metal ions.²⁸ Metal complexes which involve derivatives of salicylaldehyde and diamine act as potential catalysts for the insertion of oxygen into an organic substrate.²⁹⁻³² Moreover, metal complexes of Schiff bases derived from salicylaldehyde and diamine can increase their dimensionality and can form supramolecular architectures through O–H…N and N–H…O type of hydrogen bonds. One of the recent trends in coordination chemistry is to explore new types of molecular architectures using relatively less common metal ions.

The f-block metals have shown potential toward multifunctional materials in terms of magnetic and optical properties.³³ In contrast to recently developed copious novel multifunctional heteronuclear 3d-4f molecular compounds and co-ordination polymers, only a few heterometallic 3d-5f complexes are reported. These 3d-5f complexes are derived mainly from uranium in different oxidation states by using various types of ligands, for example, phosphonates, hexadentate bicompartmental N₂O₄ Schiff base metalloligands, etc.³⁴ The compounds containing

lower valence uranium (UIII/IV/V) have been synthesized mostly to explore their interesting magnetic properties.³⁵ On the other hand, the naturally occurring uranyl compounds which are known for their interesting photophysical properties for centuries and have immense importance in terms of environmental, geological, or bioassay fields³⁶ are rarely explored to make photo-responsive systems using interactions between transition metal complexes and uranyl ions.³⁷

As actinyls are hard acids with a strong oxophilic character and prefer high coordination numbers (five, six or seven) around the equatorial plane, they are expected to be incorporated easily by these monocompartmental chelates.³⁸ On the other hand, N,O-donor ligands have been used widely for the synthesis of heterometallic complexes in past few decades. The relatively softer N-donor sites of such ligands bind the soft metal ions (e.g., transition metal), and harder O-donor groups select the hard cations (e.g., alkali and alkaline earth, Ln³⁺. etc.).³⁹⁻⁴² One such notable group of ligands is N2O4-donor bicompartmental Schiff bases, which form stable neutral chelates incorporating divalent transitions metal ions within their inner N_2O_2 core. These chelates quite successfully accommodate another guest metal ion inside the outer $O_2O'_2$ compartment to produce the desired heterometallic complexes.⁴³ These ligands were originally designed to accommodate 4f metal ions in the outer compartment, but it was later found that most of the other metal ions could also be housed there.^{44,45} However, when such ligands were used to synthesize 3d-5f complexes with UO₂(NO₃)₂, in some cases U entered into the outer compartment to form the desired complexes while in some other cases it stayed outside of its O2O'2 compartment and resulted in solid co-crystallized products.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ However, the N,O-donor monocompartmental ligands, which usually form less stable heterometallic complexes than the bicompartmental ligands with other metal ions, produced the desired 3d-U coordination complexes in all reported

instances.^{49,50} To date, these apparently inconsistent phenomena have not been rationalized by any theoretical calculations or systematic experimental observations.

Nuclear fuel is of potential concern in terms of economic and environmental issues, such as recycling and radioactive waste handling.⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ During the nuclear fission process, a number of radioactive fission products, e.g., cesium, strontium, barium, lanthanides, etc., are formed and need to be separated from the spent nuclear fuel in a timely manner.⁵⁵ One of the convenient ways to separate these metal ions is to use a ligand that can selectively bind either uranium or these metal ions.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ The selectivity of such a ligand exploits the key differences of size and chemistry between the linear triatomic uranyl cation, which allows the coordination of the ligand only to the equatorial plane from these metal ions with no coordination site preference. Moreover, if the ligand is stereochemically rigid, then it often shows unusual coordination behavior toward metal ions with a coordination preference due to the mismatch in cavity size and denticity of ligand vs the size and available coordination site of the guest, which is crucial for selectivity.⁵⁹

In the present work, Cu(II) complexes of N₂O₂ Schiff base ligands, [CuL] were reacted with uranyl nitrate to investigate their ability to form coordination [(CuL)UO₂(NO₃)₂] complexes with it. All the complexes were characterized by several analytical techniques.



Scheme 9. Synthetic Route of Cu(II) Complexes (5-8) and [(CuL)UO₂(NO₃)₂] Complexes (9-12)

4.2 Experimental

All chemicals used were of AnalaR grade and obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and Fluka. Metal salts were purchased from E. Merck and were used as received. Uranyl nitrate is a watersoluble yellow salt with the formula UO₂(NO₃)₂).6(H₂O). The compound is mainly of interest because it is an intermediate in the preparation of nuclear fuels.

4.2.1 Synthesis of The Ligands (H₂L) 1-4

Tetradentate Schiff-base ligands, H₂L (1-4) were prepared by standard methods.⁶⁰ Briefly, 5 mmol of 1,3-diaminopropanol was mixed with 10 mmol of the required carbonyl compound (2'-hydroxyacetophenone (1.2 mL) or 2'-hydroxypropiophenone (1.5 mL) , 3-hydroxy-2-naphthaldehyde (1.72 g) and 4-(diethylamino)-2-hydroxybenzaldehyde (1.932 g) respectively) in

methanol (20 mL). The resulting solutions were refluxed for about 2 h and allowed to cool. The yellow colored methanolic solutions were used directly for complex formation.^{61,62}



Figure 55: Chemical Structures of Synthesized Ligands

4.2.2 Synthesis of The Copper Complexes (Cu-L) 5-8

A methanolic solution (20 mL) of Cu(ClO4)2·6H2O (1.852 g, 5 mmol), a methanolic solution of H₂L(1-4) (5 mmol, 10 mL) and triethyl amine (1.4 mL, 10 mmol) were added to prepare the respective precursor "metalloligands" [CuL5-8], as reported earlier.^{60,61}



Figure 56. Chemical Structures of Cu(II) Complexes

4.2.3 Synthesis of The Heterobimetallic Complexes [(CuL)UO₂(NO₃)₂] (9-12)

Caution: Uranium is a radioactive and toxic element, uranium-containing samples must be handled with suitable care and protection, together with a plan for safe waste disposal.

The metalloligand [CuL] (5-8) (0.04 mmol) was dissolved in acetonitrile (5 mL) and added to solution of UO₂(NO₃) \cdot 6H₂O (20.0 mg, 0.04 mmol in 5 mL of acetonitrile), the mixed solution was stirred for 5 min and then left to stand overnight at room temperature when reddish product deposited at the bottom of the vessel. These compounds were isolated by filtration and redissolved in 5 mL of acetone by warming, and the solution was kept in a long tube for slow evaporation.⁶²



Figure 57. Chemical Structures of [(CuL)UO2(NO3)2] Complexes

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 ¹H-NMR Spectra

The ¹H NMR spectra of the Schiff base ligands and complexes were recorded in DMSOd₆ or chloroform-d in Table (10). In the ¹HNMR spectra of Schiff base ligand, peaks appeared at 13.85, 12.5, 11.55 and 11.66 ppm were assigned to the protons of phenolic group in ligands respectively. In the ¹H NMR spectra of ligands exhibit sharp multiple signals between 6.24 to 8.22 ppm due to Ar-H.

The NMR spectra of the copper(II) complexes shown in Figures (62, 63, 64, and 65). The phenolic OH signals observed in the spectrum of the ligands are not seen in the spectrum of the Cu(II) complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in chelation with proton displacement. The signal due to the azomethine proton gets shifted upon complexation, which is probably due to the donation of the lone pair of electrons by the nitrogen to the central metal atom, resulting in the formation of a coordinate linkage (M-N). The azomethine proton signal shifts downfield upon complexation, confirming that the azomethine nitrogen as the second coordination site. The coordination of the azomethine nitrogen is inferred by the downfield shifting of the - CH=N- proton signal from 8.22 and 8.5 ppm in the ligand 3 and 4 respectively to 8.4 and 8.6 ppm in the Cu(II) complexes. The downfield shifting of the -CH-OH protons is observed at 4.1, 4.1, 4.39 and 3.76 ppm for (H3) in the ligands to 4.34, 4,52, 4,52 and 3.97 ppm in the complexes respectively. The chemical shifts for (H12) in the ligands are 4.78, 4,75, 4.62 and 3.84 ppm are shifts downfield to 4.8, 4.87, 4.87 and 4.10 ppm in spectrum of the Cu(II) complexes respectively.⁶³

In the spectra of [(CuL)UO₂(NO₃)₂] complexes the protons of the Ar-H, the azomethine group and the -CH-OH are shifted downfield compared to that of the free ligand and Cu(II)

complexes as a result of chelation of azomethine group and phenolic group to copper and uranium ions, indicating that the chelation of the ligand with the metal ions involves the nitrogen atom of the ligands.⁶⁴ Furthermore, the number of protons calculated from the integration curves, and those obtained from the values of the mass spectra match.

Table 10. ¹H NMR Chemical Shifts (δ^{1H} , ppm) of Ligands to, Cu (II) Complexes and Cu (II)-U(VI) Complexes

Compound	-OH	-CH=N-	Ar-H	H (4,4')	H (12)	H (3)
L1	13.85	-	7.00-7.23	3.09 & 3.48	4.69	4.18
CuL1	-	-	7.04-7.43	3.42 & 3.59	4.79	4.33
[(CuL1)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]	-	-	6.29-7.28	3.82 & 4.00	4.83	4.73
L2	12.5	-	7.00-7.55	3.23 & 3.52	4.72	4.09
CuL2	-	-	7.07-7.68	3.77 & 4.07	4.87	4.52
[(CuL2)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]	-	-	7.04-7.29	3.71 & 4.07	4.87	4.39
L3	11.43	8.52	7.42-8.17	3.41 & 3.65	4.62	4.34
CuL3	-	8.58	7.44-8.21	3.65 & 3.94	4.87	4.50
[(CuL3)UO ₂ (NO ₃) ₂]	-	8.62	7.50-8.23	3.54 & 4.01	4.89	4.24
L4	11.6	8.18	6.24-7.48	3.67 & 3.93	3.91	3.84
CuL4	-	8.27	6.00-7.55	3.69 & 3.95	4.42	3.96
$[(CuL4)UO_2(NO_3)_2]$	-	8.35	6.52-7.70	3.81 & 4.02	4.29	4.02



Figure 58. ¹H-NMR for L1



Figure 59. ¹H-NMR for L2



Figure 60. ¹H-NMR for L3



Figure 61. ¹H-NMR for L4



Figure 62. ¹H-NMR for complex 1 (CuL1)



Figure 63. ¹H-NMR for complex 2 (CuL2)



Figure 64. ¹H-NMR for complex 3 (CuL3)



Figure 65: ¹H-NMR for complex 4 (CuL4)



Figure 66. ¹H-NMR for Complex 5 [(CuL1)UO₂(NO₃)₂]



Figure 67. ¹H-NMR for Complex 6 [(CuL2)UO₂(NO₃)₂]


Figure 68. ¹H-NMR for Complex 7 [(CuL3)UO₂(NO₃)₂]



Figure 69. ¹H-NMR for complex 8 [(CuL4)UO₂(NO₃)₂

4.3.2 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer

The mass spectra of the copper complexes and heterobimetallic of Cu-U were recorded and compared for their stoichiometric composition. The mass spectral data of copper complexes [Cu-L] reported in figures (70,71,72, and 73) were obtained operating in positive ion mode. The mass spectra of the metal complexes showed molecular ion peaks, which were in good agreement with the expected values. The molecular ions are detected the base and the main peaks of the spectra at m/z 388.084, 416.116, 460.084 and 502.200 respectively for the four Cu(II) complexes. These correspond to the protonated molecular ion [M+H]⁺ and they can be generated either by the ionization conditions or by ion-molecule reactions inside the ion trap analyzer. Moreover, the mass spectra for complexes Cu-U were shown in Figures (74, 75, 76 and 77). The protonated molecular ions $[M1-M2 + H]^+$ were detected at m/z values centered at 782.1005, 810.138, 854.1005 and 896.216 respectively: the isotopic cluster is in agreement with the theoretical one for the complexes 5 and 8. The fragmentation pattern of [Cu-U] complexes also displayed important peaks at m/z 388.08, 414.09, 442.07 and 502.19 respectively, because of loss of $[H_3N_2O_8U]^+$ from the parent complex at m/z 397.039. This feature further confirms the formation of the complexes: the comparisons between the main peaks of synthesized complexes have been collected in table 11.

The results of mass spectrometry are consistent with the proposed formulas for these compounds as the peaks observed in these spectra correspond to fragments resulting from the expected fragmentations of the compounds.

Ligands	[CuL+H] ⁺	[(CuL)UO ₂ (NO ₃)+H] ⁺	[H ₃ N ₂ O ₈ U]	Theoretical
L1	388.084	782.101	397.039	$[C_{19}H_{20}CuN_2O_3]^+$ (387.077)
L2	416.116	810.132	397.039	$[C_{21}H_{23}CuN_2O_3]^+$ (415.1083)
L3	460.084	854.101	397.039	$[C_{25}H_{19}CuN_2O_2]^+ (459.077)$
L4	502.200	896.216	397.039	[C ₂₅ H ₃₅ CuN ₄ O ₃] ⁺ (501.1927)

Table 11. Main MS Peaks of The Synthesized Mono and Heterobimetallic Complexes



Figure 70. Mass Spectrum for Complex 1 (CuL1)



Figure 71. Mass Spectrum for Complex 2 (CuL2)



Figure 72. Mass Spectrum for Complex 3 (CuL3)



Figure 73. Mass Spectrum for Complex 4 (CuL4)



Figure 74. Mass Spectrum for Complex 5 [(CuL1)UO₂(NO₃)₂]



Figure 75. Mass Spectrum for Complex 6 [(CuL2)UO₂(NO₃)₂]



Figure 76. Mass Spectrum for Complex 7 [(CuL3)UO₂(NO₃)₂]



Figure 77. Mass Spectrum for Complex 8 [(CuL4)UO₂(NO₃)₂

4.4 Conclusion

The four different N_2O_2 functionalized, potentially tetradentate ligands (H₂L1 to H₂L4) showed variation in their coordination properties when binding to metal ion Copper. Structures of 1to 4 confirm that the denticity of the Schiff bases are four in the respective complexes. Four heterobimetallic copper(II)-uranium(VI) complexes have been synthesized by reacting Cu (II)derived metalloligands with UO₂(NO₃)₂·6H₂O in 1:1 ratio. In this research, we report the synthesis and the structural characterization of new mixed metal complexes corresponding to the coordination of the uranium by (CuL). According to the phenolic OH signals observed in the spectrum of the ligands are not seen in the spectrum of the Cu(II) complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in chelation with proton displacement. The Mass spec discussed above, it was deduced that the uranium ions in the copper-uranium heterobimetallic complexes bind to the outer oxygen sites of the nitrate ion ligands and are coordinated to the oxygen atoms of both the phenolic groups. The column purification of the ligands and complexes is not performed due to the formation of a Schiff base from carbonyl compounds is a reversible reaction and Silica gel is consisting of oxygen atoms which caused to hydrolyze back to starting materials.

4.5 References

- 1. Burrows, C.J., Muller, J.G., Poulter, G.T. and Rokita, S.E., 1996. Nickel-catalyzed oxidations: from hydrocarbons to DNA. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica (Copenhagen, Denmark:* 1989), 50(4), pp.337-344.
- Lopez-Garriga, J.J., Hanton, S., Babcock, G.T. and Harrison, J.F., 1986. Rehybridization of the carbon-nitrogen double bond upon protonation of methylimine increases its stretching force constant. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 108(23), pp.7251-7254.
- 3. Oki, A.R. and Hodgson, D.J., 1990. Synthesis, characterization and catalytic properties of manganese (III) Schiff base complexes. Inorganica chimica acta, 170(1), pp.65-73.
- Larson, E.J. and Pecoraro, V.L., 1991. The peroxide-dependent. mu. 2-O bond formation of manganese complex [Mn (IV) SALPN (O)]₂. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 113(10), pp.3810-3818.
- 5. Salata, C.A., Youinou, M.T. and Burrows, C.J., 1991. Preparation and structural characterization of dicopper (II) and dinickel (II) imidazolate-bridged macrocyclic Schiff base complexes. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 30(18), pp.3454-3461.
- 6. Jones, M.B. and Gaunt, A.J., 2013. Recent developments in synthesis and structural chemistry of nonaqueous actinide complexes. *Chemical reviews*, 113(2), pp.1137-1198.
- Baker, R.J., 2012. The coordination and organometallic chemistry of UI3 and U {N (SiMe₃)₂}₃: Synthetic reagents par excellence. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 256(23-24), pp.2843-2871.
- La Pierre, H.S. and Meyer, K., 2013. Uranium–Ligand Multiple Bonding in Uranyl Analogues,[L=U=L]ⁿ⁺, and the Inverse Trans Influence. *Inorganic Chemistry*.52, 2, 529– 539.
- 9. Pedrick, E.A., Wu, G. and Hayton, T.W., 2015. Oxo ligand substitution in a cationic uranyl complex: synergistic interaction of an electrophile and a reductant. *Inorganic chemistry*, 54(14), pp.7038-7044.
- 10. Wooles, A.J., Mills, D.P., Tuna, F., McInnes, E.J., Law, G.T., Fuller, A.J., Kremer, F., Ridgway, M., Lewis, W., Gagliardi, L. and Vlaisavljevich, B., 2018. Uranium (III)-

carbon multiple bonding supported by arene δ -bonding in mixed-valence hexauranium nanometre-scale rings. *Nature communications*, 9(1), pp.1-11.

- 11. Sarsfield, M.J. and Helliwell, M., 2004. Extending the chemistry of the uranyl ion: Lewis acid coordination to a UO oxygen. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *126(4)*, *pp.1036-1037*.
- Anderson, N.H., Xie, J., Ray, D., Zeller, M., Gagliardi, L. and Bart, S.C., 2017. Elucidating bonding preferences in tetrakis (imido) uranate (VI) dianions. *Nature chemistry*, 9(9), pp.850-855.
- 13. Abney, C.W., Mayes, R.T., Saito, T. and Dai, S., 2017. Materials for the recovery of uranium from seawater. *Chemical reviews*, 117(23), pp.13935-14013.
- 14. Chen, L., Bai, Z., Zhu, L., Zhang, L., Cai, Y., Li, Y., Liu, W., Wang, Y., Chen, L., Diwu, J. and Wang, J., 2017. Ultrafast and efficient extraction of uranium from seawater using an amidoxime appended metal–organic framework. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 9(38), pp.32446-32451.
- 15. Parker, B.F., Zhang, Z., Rao, L. and Arnold, J., 2018. An overview and recent progress in the chemistry of uranium extraction from seawater. *Dalton Transactions*, 47(3), pp.639-644.
- 16. Das, S., Kedari, C. and Tripathi, S., 2010. Spectrophotometric determination of trace amount of uranium (VI) in different aqueous and organic streams of nuclear fuel processing using 2-(5-bromo-2-pyridylazo-5-diethylaminophenol). *Journal of radioanalytical and nuclear chemistry*, 285(3), pp.675-681.
- 17. Xie, Y., Chen, C., Ren, X., Wang, X., Wang, H. and Wang, X., 2019. Emerging natural and tailored materials for uranium-contaminated water treatment and environmental remediation. *Progress in Materials Science*, *103*, *pp.180-234*.
- Trujillo, M.J., Jenkins, D.M., Bradshaw, J.A. and Camden, J.P., 2017. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering of uranyl in aqueous samples: implications for nuclear forensics and groundwater testing. *Analytical Methods*, 9(10), pp.1575-1579.
- 19. Kindra, D.R. and Evans, W.J., 2014. Magnetic susceptibility of uranium complexes. *Chemical reviews*, *114(18)*, *pp.8865-8882*.

- Salmon, L., Thuéry, P., Rivière, E. and Ephritikhine, M., 2006. Synthesis, structure, and magnetic behavior of a series of trinuclear Schiff base complexes of 5f (U^{IV}, Th^{IV}) and 3d (CuII, ZnII) ions. *Inorganic chemistry*, 45(1), pp.83-93.
- Wang, Y.; Yin, X.; Liu, W.; Xie, J.; Chen, J.; Silver, M. A.; Sheng, D.; Chen, L.; Diwu, J.; Liu, N.; Chai, Z.; Albrecht-Schmitt, T. E.; Wang, S. Emergence of Uranium as a Distinct Metal Center for Building Intrinsic X-ray Scintillators. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition.* 2018, 57, 7883–7887.
- Nockemann, P., Servaes, K., Van Deun, R., Van Hecke, K., Van Meervelt, L., Binnemans, K. and Görller-Walrand, C., 2007. Speciation of uranyl complexes in ionic liquids by optical spectroscopy. *Inorganic chemistry*, 46(26), pp.11335-11344.
- 23. Ghosh, S., Srivastava, A.K., Govu, R., Pal, U. and Pal, S., 2019. A diuranyl (VI) complex and its application in electrocatalytic and photocatalytic hydrogen evolution from neutral aqueous medium. *Inorganic chemistry*, 58(21), pp.14410-14419.
- 24. Fox, A.R., Bart, S.C., Meyer, K. and Cummins, C.C., 2008. Towards uranium catalysts. *Nature*, 455(7211), pp.341-349.
- 25. Kumar, A., Lionetti, D., Day, V.W. and Blakemore, J.D., 2020. Redox-Inactive Metal Cations Modulate the Reduction Potential of the Uranyl Ion in Macrocyclic Complexes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *142*(6), *pp.3032-3041*.
- 26. Ghosh, T.K., Mahapatra, P., Drew, M.G., Franconetti, A., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2020. The effect of guest metal ions on the reduction potentials of uranium (VI) complexes: Experimental and theoretical investigations. *Chemistry–A European Journal*, 26(7), pp.1612-1623.
- 27. Coughlin, E.J., Qiao, Y., Lapsheva, E., Zeller, M., Schelter, E.J. and Bart, S.C., 2018. Uranyl functionalization mediated by redox-active ligands: generation of O–C bonds via acylation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 141(2), pp.1016-1026.
- 28. LIU, J., Wu, B.W., Zhang, B. and Liu, Y., 2006. Synthesis and characterization of metal complexes of Cu (II), Ni (II), Zn (II), Co (II), Mn (II) and Cd (II) with tetradentate Schiff bases. *Turkish Journal of Chemistry*, 30(1), pp.41-48.
- 29. Nishinaga A, Tojo T, Matsuura T., 1974. A model catalytic oxygenation for the reaction of quercetinase. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 21, pp. 896-897.

- Kessel, S.L., Emberson, R.M., Debrunner, P.G. and Hendrickson, D.N., 1980. Iron (III), manganese (III), and cobalt (III) complexes with single chelating o-semiquinone ligands. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 19(5), pp.1170-1178.
- 31. Bailey, N.A., Higson, B.M. and McKenzie, E.D., 1972. Crystal and molecular structure of benzoylacetonato-[NN'-ethylenebis (salicylideneiminato)] cobalt (III)–1 ⋅ 5 water. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions*, (4), pp.503-508.
- 32. Cummins, D., McKenzie, E.D. and Milburn, H., 1976. Steric strain in cobalt (III) compounds. Crystal and molecular structure of dibenzoylmethanato-O, O'-[NN'-o-phenylenebis (salicylideneiminato)] cobalt (III). *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions, (2), pp.130-135.*
- 33. Ghosh, S., Biswas, S., Bauza, A., Barceló-Oliver, M., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2013. Use of metalloligands [CuL](H₂L= salen type di-Schiff bases) in the formation of heterobimetallic copper (II)-uranyl complexes: Photophysical investigations, structural variations, and theoretical calculations. *Inorganic chemistry*, 52(13), pp.7508-7523.
- Alsobrook, A.N., Zhan, W., and Albrecht-Schmitt, T.E., 2008. Use of bifunctional phosphonates for the preparation of heterobimetallic 5f–3d systems. *Inorganic chemistry*, 47(12), pp.5177-5183.
- 35. Mazzanti, M., 2011. Uranium memory. Nature chemistry, 3(6), pp.426-427.
- 36. Del Nero, M., Galindo, C., Barillon, R. and Madé, B., 2011. TRLFS evidence for precipitation of uranyl phosphate on the surface of alumina: environmental implications. *Environmental science & technology*, 45(9), pp.3982-3988.
- Natrajan, L.S., 2012. Developments in the photophysics and photochemistry of actinide ions and their coordination compounds. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 256(15-16), pp.1583-1603.
- 38. Takao, K., Kato, M., Takao, S., Nagasawa, A., Bernhard, G., Hennig, C. and Ikeda, Y., 2010. Molecular structure and electrochemical behavior of uranyl (VI) complex with pentadentate Schiff base ligand: Prevention of uranyl (V) cation– cation interaction by fully chelating equatorial coordination sites. *Inorganic chemistry*, 49(5), pp.2349-2359.
- Biswas, S., Naiya, S., Drew, M.G., Estarellas, C., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2011. Trinuclear and tetranuclear adduct formation between sodium perchlorate and copper (II)

complexes of salicylaldimine type ligands: Structural characterization and theoretical investigation. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, 366(1), pp.219-226.

- 40. Maity, S., Ghosh, S. and Ghosh, A., 2019. Elucidating the secondary effect in the Lewis acid mediated anodic shift of electrochemical oxidation of a Cu(II) complex with a N₂O₂ donor unsymmetrical ligand. *Dalton Transactions*, *48*(39), pp.14898-14913.
- 41. Zhang, J., Cheng, S., Wang, X., Yuan, L., Xue, M., Wang, Y. and Liu, W., 2013. Heterometallic coordination polymers based on dipeptide schiff base Cu (II) metalloligand: synthesis, structures, and magnetic properties. *CrystEngComm*, 15(30), pp.6074-6082.
- 42. Maity, S., Bhunia, P., Ichihashi, K., Ishida, T. and Ghosh, A., 2020. SMM behaviour of heterometallic dinuclear Cu^{II} Ln^{III} (Ln=Tb and Dy) complexes derived from N₂O₃ donor unsymmetrical ligands. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 44(16), pp.6197-6205.
- 43. Maity, S., Mondal, A., Konar, S. and Ghosh, A., 2019. The role of 3d–4f exchange interaction in SMM behaviour and magnetic refrigeration of carbonato bridged Cu^{II}₂Ln^{III}₂ (Ln=Dy,Tb and Gd) complexes of an unsymmetrical N₂O₄ donor ligand. *Dalton Transactions*, 48(40), pp.15170-15183.
- 44. Sarkar, S., Mohanta, S., 2011. Syntheses, crystal structures and supramolecular topologies of nickel(II)–s/p/d¹⁰/NH₄⁺ complexes derived from a compartmental ligand. *RSC Advances.* 1, 640–650.
- 45. Bhowmik, P., Harms, K. and Chattopadhyay, S., 2013. Formation of polynuclear copper(II)–sodium(I) heterometallic complexes derived from salen-type Schiff bases. *Polyhedron*, 49(1), pp.113-120.
- 46. Bhattacharya, S., Jana, A. and Mohanta, S., 2013. Crystal structures of discrete, onedimensional and cocrystalline copper (II)–uranyl (VI) systems: the influence of the reactant ratio in the competition between hydrogen bonds and coordinate bonds. *CrystEngComm*, 15(47), pp.10374-10382.
- 47. Bhattacharya, S., Mondal, S., Sasmal, S., Sparkes, H.A., Howard, J.A., Nayak, M. and Mohanta, S., 2011. Bis (nitrate) diaquauranyl (vi) synthon to generate [1× 2+ 1× 1] and [1× 1+ 1× 1] co-crystalized 3d… 5f self-assemblies. *CrystEngComm*, 13(3), pp.1029-1036.

- 48. Bhattacharya, S., Jana, A., Fleck, M. and Mohanta, S., 2013. Diaquadinitratouranyl (VI) enforces the O (phenoxo) 2O (methoxy) 2 compartment of 3-methoxysalicylaldehyde-diamine ligands to interact with water molecules. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, 405, pp.196-202.
- 49. Ghosh, S., Biswas, S., Bauza, A., Barceló-Oliver, M., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2013. Use of metalloligands [CuL](H2L= salen type di-Schiff bases) in the formation of heterobimetallic copper (II)-uranyl complexes: Photophysical investigations, structural variations, and theoretical calculations. *Inorganic chemistry*, 52(13), pp.7508-7523.
- 50. Ghosh, S. and Ghosh, A., 2016. Coordination of metalloligand [NiL](H2L= salen type N2O2 Schiff base ligand) to the f-block elements: Structural elucidation and spectrophotometric investigation. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, 442, pp.64-69.
- 51. Lindley, B.A., Fiorina, C., Gregg, R., Franceschini, F. and Parks, G.T., 2015. The effectiveness of full actinide recycle as a nuclear waste management strategy when implemented over a limited timeframe–Part I: Uranium fuel cycle. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 85, pp.498-510.
- 52. Smetana, V., Kelley, S.P., Titi, H.M., Hou, X., Tang, S.F., Mudring, A.V. and Rogers, R.D., 2019. Synthesis of Anhydrous Acetates for the Components of Nuclear Fuel Recycling in Dialkylimidazolium Acetate Ionic Liquids. *Inorganic chemistry*, 59(1), pp.818-828.
- 53. Suppes, G.J. and Storvick, T.S., 2007. Recycling and Waste Handling for Spent Nuclear Fuel. *Sustainable Nuclear Power*, pp.283-317.
- 54. Biswas, S., Steudtner, R., Schmidt, M., McKenna, C., Vintró, L.L., Twamley, B. and Baker, R.J., 2016. An investigation of the interactions of Eu³⁺ and Am³⁺ with uranyl minerals: implications for the storage of spent nuclear fuel. *Dalton Transactions*, 45(15), pp.6383-6393.
- 55. Fan, F.L., Qin, Z., Cao, S.W., Tan, C.M., Huang, Q.G., Chen, D.S., Wang, J.R., Yin, X.J., Xu, C. and Feng, X.G., 2018. Highly efficient and selective dissolution separation of fission products by an ionic liquid [Hbet][Tf2N]: a new approach to spent nuclear fuel recycling. *Inorganic chemistry*, 58(1), pp.603-609.
- Gorden, A.E., Xu, J., Raymond, K.N. and Durbin, P., 2003. Rational design of sequestering agents for plutonium and other actinides. *Chemical reviews*, 103(11), pp.4207-4282.

- 57. Loubert, G., Henry, N., Volkringer, C., Duval, S., Tamain, C., Arab-Chapelet, B., Delahaye, T. and Loiseau, T., 2020. Quantitative Precipitation of Uranyl or Plutonyl Nitrate with N-(1-Adamantyl) acetamide in Nitric Acid Aqueous Solution. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 59(16), pp.11459-11468.
- 58. Veliscek-Carolan, J., 2016. Separation of actinides from spent nuclear fuel: A review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 318, pp.266-281.
- 59. Satake, A., Katagami, Y., Odaka, Y., Kuramochi, Y., Harada, S., Kouchi, T., Kamebuchi, H. and Tadokoro, M., 2020. Synthesis of Double-Bridged Cofacial Nickel Porphyrin Dimers with 2, 2'-Bipyridyl Pillars and Their Restricted Coordination Space. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 59(12), pp.8013-8024.
- Drew, M.G., Prasad, R.N. and Sharma, R.P., 1985. Structures of (N, N'trimethylenedisalicylideneaminato)nickel(II)(1)and(N,N'trimethylenedisalicylideneamina to)copper(II)(2). Acta Crystallographica Section C: Crystal Structure Communications, 41(12), pp.1755-1758.
- 61. Iida, K., Oonishi, I., Nakahara, A. and Komiyama, Y., 1970. The Crystal Structure of Bis-(2-hydroxyacetophenone) trimethylenediiminocopper (II). *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan*, 43(8), pp.2347-2354.
- 62. Ghosh, S., Biswas, S., Bauza, A., Barceló-Oliver, M., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2013. Use of metalloligands [CuL](H2L= salen type di-Schiff bases) in the formation of heterobimetallic copper (II)-uranyl complexes: Photophysical investigations, structural variations, and theoretical calculations. *Inorganic chemistry*, 52(13), pp.7508-7523.
- 63. Mayadevi, S.; Prasad, P. G.; Yusuff, K. K. M., 2003. Studies on Some Transition Metal Complexes of Schiff Bases Derived from Quinoxaline-2-carboxaldehyde. *Synthesis and Reacivityt in Inorganic Metal-Organic Chemistry*. 33 (3), 481–496.
- 64. Abou-Hussein, A. A.; Linert, W. Synthesis, Spectroscopic, Coordination and Biological Activities of Some Organometallic Complexes Derived from Thio-Schiff Base Ligands. *Spectrochim. Acta. A. Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc.* 2014, *117*, 763–771.

CHAPTER 5

SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERIZATION OF HEXADENDATE SCHIFF BASE LIGANDS AND THEIR NOVEL CU(II)-U(IV) DERIVATIVES

5.1 Introduction

A great interest has been dedicated to the formation of bonds between metal ions of the transition elements in the past few years. These compounds may be divided into several classes, depending on the interaction between the metal atoms which may be direct, or indirect involving interaction via other atoms. Compounds with the direct interaction show a weak interaction or strong covalent bonding, depending upon the metal chosen, the oxidation state, and the attached ligands. Bonds between dissimilar transition metal atoms are less common than those between similar metal atoms, but this appears to be due to lack of purposeful effort to obtain such derivatives until recently.¹

Although it was considered at one stage to be a relatively rare type of bonding, it has now been claimed in some valency state for every element of the transition block. For elements of the later transition elements, this type of interaction is mainly confined to the low oxidation states, as typified by carbonyl and substituted carbonyl compounds, but with the earlier elements it occurs in the higher oxidation states when many oxide and simple halide systems have been shown to exhibit this kind of interaction. For the latter categories of compounds, it has been more difficult to recognize the formation of this type of bond as one of the most readily applied criterion for detecting such an interaction, namely the magnetic properties of the complexes, is complicated because of the polymeric nature of these complexes. It is becoming more apparent, however, as more data are being obtained, that the chemistry of the compounds in this area of the periodic table likely tends to form metal-metal bonds and polymeric structures.¹⁻³

The tendency to form metal-metal bonds appears to increase in the second and third rows of the transition series, and as stated above to be more common with the higher oxidation states to the left-hand side of the transition series, whereas it is more favored by lower oxidation states for the elements on the right-hand side of the transition series.^{2,3} This may be correlated with the effective nuclear charge of the metal ion. Moving across the periodic table, the effective nuclear charge of the ions will increase, and the bonding orbitals will tend to be contracted in size. This will alter the overlap properties between orbitals of different atoms and may well reduce the effective overlap to negligible proportions. Within a given series the orbital size will increase on descending a group and hence this will affect the probability of metal-metal bonding. For a given element a reduction in oxidation state will be accompanied by an increase in the size of the orbital as the effective nuclear charge will be reduced by the screening of the added electrons. There is obviously the possibility of a large variation in the size of the metal orbitals depending upon the position of the element in the periodic table and oxidation state of the metal. If it is assumed that favorable overlap occurs with the early transition elements for the higher oxidation states, the probability of favorable orbital overlap must decrease across the periodic table for the higher oxidation states, because of this orbital contraction.⁴ The stability of the metal-metal bonds in the lower oxidation states for the later transition elements may then be related to the more favorable orbital overlap properties associated with the increase in orbital size. For the early transition elements, the lower oxidation states are not as well established, and this may be associated with the lower effective charge on the metal nucleus leading to ready loss of electrons from these systems with oxidation to higher oxidation states. There are obviously other factors involved in determining the stability of the metal-metal bonds in complexes, but there does often appear to be a critical balance between the charge on the atom and the stability of the metal-metal bond.

Heterometallic complexes are important in catalysis and small-molecule activation because of the multimetallic synergistic effects from different metals. However, multimetallic species that contain uranium-metal bonds remain very rare due to the difficulties in their synthesis.⁴ A multidentate ligand platform is introduced that enables the isolation of both homo- and heterobimetallic complexes. Hexadentate Schiff bases possess two cavities and are widely used as ditopic ligands.⁴ Ditopic ligands are capable of coordination at two separate sites and allow the creation of complexes containing different cations.⁵ They are usually N-, P-, O-, and S-containing (or in their N, O-, N, S,- and N, P-combinations) organic molecules, and have been used in various applications such as monitoring guest exchange and the creation of metal organic frameworks.⁵ However, these molecules are also able to bind more than two cations and act as metallic cluster assemblers because of the bridging ability of their oxygen atoms and their conformational flexibility. Due to the latter, which is enhanced in the case of the largest di-imino bridges, they may even be converted from convergent into divergent ligands.⁴ The relatively softer N-donor sites of such ligands bind the soft metal ions (e.g., transition metal), and harder O-donor groups select the hard cations (e.g. alkali and alkaline earth, Ln³⁺. etc.).⁶⁻⁹ One such notable group of ligands is N₂O₄-donor bicompartmental Schiff bases, which form stable neutral chelates incorporating divalent transitions metal ions within their inner N₂O₂ core. These chelates quite successfully accommodate another guest metal ion inside the outer $O_2O'_2$ compartment to produce the desired heterometallic complexes.¹⁰

The interest of compartmental Schiff bases as ligands in the building of high-nuclearity metallic complexes has recently been demonstrated in the case of d transition metals¹¹ and of uranium(IV).¹² Compartmental systems have received a growing interest in the recent past owing to their ability to give rise to compounds with unusual, although preordered, properties.¹³⁻¹⁷ The

presence of two recognition sites in close proximity confers the capability to undergo two similar or dissimilar recognition processes, for instance the coordination of two identical or different metal ions in a well-defined stereochemistry and at an appropriate from distance each other.¹⁸⁻²⁰ This causes a mutual influence between the two metal ions giving rise to systems with new physicochemical properties which have been used in the design of molecular magnetic or optical devices, molecular probes for the selective recognition of charged and neutral molecules or polynuclear catalytic systems. It was proved, in fact, that two metal ions, communicating with each other through suitable bridging groups, can give rise to antiferro- or ferromagnetic interactions, to electron-transfer processes or can produce asymmetric or symmetric activation of specific molecules and hence peculiar, highly selective and efficient catalytic processes.²¹⁻²⁴ Moreover, dinucleating systems containing a paramagnetic center fixed in one chamber (i.e., lanthanide(III), manganese(II), etc.) can considerably influence the properties of the second metal ion coordinated to the adjacent chamber (i.e., an alkali metal ion) and hence can serve as molecular devices for its recognition and qualitative detection in the solid state and in solution.²⁵ Synthesis of compartmentalized multimetallic compounds is also of particular interest as precursors for the production of mixed metal oxides²⁶⁻³⁰ via the single-source precursor method.^{31,32} Although diketonates³³⁻³⁵ and ketoimines^{36,37} are the typical ligands for binding alkaline-earth ions, a multitopic polyetherbased ligand with specific chelating sites has been designed, allowing the selective coordination of Cu(II) in one site and Ba(II) or Ca(II) in a second site.³⁸ The obtained heterometallic complexes were further thermally decomposed to stoichiometric mixed metal compounds. The choice of a versatile organic ligand with specific coordination sites is thus of crucial importance for the synthesis of such compounds.³⁹ During the past few years, several

research groups have carried out numerous studies on multi-metal-containing host-guest complexes based on salen-type ligands.⁴⁰⁻⁴²

The design and synthesis of new mixed transition-metal complexes are of interest in many fields such as catalysis,^{43,44} material science,^{45,46} or biochemistry,^{47,48} Moreover, since the discovery, in 1985, of ferromagnetic coupling in Cu₂Gd complexes,⁴⁹ many studies have been devoted to such compounds of the lanthanides (Ln) in order to understand the basics of the interaction of the 3d and 4f ions and to develop the molecular approach to magnetic materials with controlled and tunable properties.⁵⁰ In contrast, virtually nothing is known about the magnetic behavior of molecular compounds containing simultaneously 3d and 5f ions, even though interesting magnetic properties should be anticipated, since the f electrons for the actinide ions are less shielded than they are for the lanthanide ions. Magnetic properties of the most accessible uranium(IV) complexes (Th⁴⁺ is diamagnetic) are difficult to analyze because this 5f² ion possesses a first-order orbital momentum, which prevents the use of a spin-only Hamiltonian for the description of the spectrum of the low-lying states; 51 the temperature dependence of ${}^{\chi}_{M}\,T\,({}^{\chi}_{M}\,being$ the molar magnetic susceptibility and T the temperature) is due to both the thermal population of the excited states and the exchange interaction. It is for the same reason, that is, the lack of a general theoretical model to describe the magnetic susceptibility χ_M of a Ln³⁺ ion in its ligand field, that the magnetic studies on 3d-4f complexes were at first essentially limited to the case of the lanthanide(III) ion. The isotropic gadolinium(III) has an ⁸S_{7/2} single-ion ground state without firstorder orbital momentum in these complexes. The 3d ion is usually Cu^{2+} , 5^{2-54} can also be Co^{2+} , Ni^{2+} , Fe³⁺, and the vanadyl ion VO³⁺.⁵⁵ Magnetic studies on Cu-Ln complexes other than those of Gd have been rather scarce.⁵⁶ However, the problem of the spin-orbit coupling of the 4f ions was overcome by the empirical approach, proposed in 1998, in which one compares the magnetic

properties of a 3d-4f complex with those of an isostructural derivative in which the paramagnetic ion (Cu²⁺) has been replaced with a diamagnetic ion, and low-spin such as Ni²⁺ or Zn^{2+,57,58} Therefore, in the Zn-Ln compounds; the deviation of x_M with respect to the Curie law reflects the sole thermal population of the f ion Stark levels, and by transferring this information to the magnetic properties of the former 3d-4f complex. In the Cu-Ln complexes, it is possible to determine the nature of the exchange interaction. This method was applied to two series of Cu-Ln ⁵⁸ and Cu₃Ln₂ ⁵⁷ compounds; it is clearly transposable to uranium complexes, as demonstrated in this project. The other reason for the lack of magnetic studies on molecular 3d-5f complexes that is obviously related to the first one, is the scarcity of such compounds, which is interesting from a magnetic point of view; most of these complexes are organometallics with the 3d ion diamagnetic.⁵⁹ Very recently, the Mn-U compound [K₂Mn(C₂O₄)₄U].9H₂O was synthesized, but no magnetic coupling was detected in this three-dimensional network of paramagnetic units.⁶⁰ A large number of 3d-4f compounds have been synthesized with the aid of Schiff bases as dinucleating ligands, and we have considered this approach for the preparation of heteropolymetallic complexes containing both 3d and uranium ions, although U^{3+} and U^{4+} complexes with Schiff base ligands are quite uncommon.⁶¹⁻⁶³

In this work, we have synthesized and characterized the heterometallic systems derived from 2,3-dihydroxybenzaldehyde-diamine and 2-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzaldehyde-diamine ligand (H4L) containing two specific coordination sites. Three CuL, UL(acac)₂ and new mixed metal complexes correspond to the coordination of the uranium(IV) by Cu-L as shown in schemes 10 and 11. The results reveal that the Cu(II)–U(IV) interaction, is strongly dependent on structural and ligand effects. All the complexes were characterized by studying NMR and the Mass spectra for all monometallic complexes and heterobimetallic complexes.



Scheme 10. The H₄L Schiff bases.



Scheme 11. Synthetic Route of Cu(II) Complexes (9-11), [UO₂L] (12-14), and [(CuL)UO₂] Complexes (15-17)

5.2 Experimental

All chemicals employed for the synthesis were of analytical reagent grade and of highest purity available. 1,3-diaminopropane, 1,3-diamino-2-propanol, 1,2-diaminopropane, 2,3dihydroxybenzaldehyde, and 2`,3`-dihydroxyacetophenone obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and Fluka. Copper acetate monohydrate Cu(CO₂CH₃)₂.H₂O and uranyl acetylacetonate [UO₂(acac)₂] were purchased from E. Merck and were used as received. Solvents were purified by standard methods and dried before use by conventional methods.

5.2.1 Synthesis of The Ligands (H₄L)

5.2.1.1 Synthesis of The Ligands (L5)

Hexadentate Schiff-base ligand, H₄L (L5) was prepared by standard methods.⁶⁰ Briefly, 5 mmol of propane-1,2-diamine was mixed with 10 mmol of the required carbonyl compound 2,3-dihydroxybenzaldehyde in methanol (20 mL). The resulting solution was refluxed for about 2 h and allowed to cool. The yellow colored methanolic solution was used directly for complex formation.^{64,65}

5.2.1.2 Synthesis of The Ligands (L6 and L7)

Two hexadentate Schiff-base ligands, H₄L (6 and 7) were prepared by standard methods.⁶⁰ Briefly, 5 mmol of 1,3-diaminopropan or 1,3-diaminopropan-2-ol was mixed with 10 mmol of the required carbonyl compound $2^{,3^{-}}$ -dihydroxyacetophenone in methanol (20 mL). The resulting solutions were refluxed for about 2 h and allowed to cool. The yellow colored methanolic solutions were used directly for complex formation.^{64,65}



Figure 78. Chemical Structures of Synthesized Ligands H4L (5-7)

5.2.2 Synthesis of The Copper Complexes (Cu-L) (9-11)

A methanolic solution (20 mL) of Cu(acac)₂ (5 mmol), a methanolic solution of H₄L(5,7) (5 mmol, 10 mL) and triethyl amine (1.4 mL, 10 mmol) were mixed to prepare the respective precursor "metalloligands" [CuL] (9-11), as reported earlier.^{64,65}



Figure 79. Chemical Structures of Cu(II) Complexes (9-11)

5.2.3 Synthesis of The Uranium Complexes [UO₂L] (12-14)

Caution: Uranium is a radioactive and toxic element, uranium-containing samples must be handled with suitable care and protection, together with a plan for safe waste disposal.

A Solution of UO₂L (5 mmol) in methanol (20 mL) was added dropwise to methanolic solution of H₄L (5,7) (5 mmol, 10 mL) with constant stirring. The solution reaction mixture was

stirred for 5h at RT and left for evaporation. After a few days, orange product of "metalloligands" [UO₂L] complexes (12-14) were seperated.³



Figure 80. Chemical Structures of [UO₂L] Complexes (12-14)

5.2.4 Synthesis of The Heterobimitallic Complexes [(CuL)UO₂] (15-17)

The metalloligands [CuL] (9-11) (0.04 mmol) were dissolved in acetonitrile (5 mL) and a solution of $UO_2(acac)_2$ (0.04 mmol in 5 mL of acetonitrile) was added, stirred for 5 min and then allowed to stand overnight at room temperature when complexes (15-17) deposited at the bottom of the vessel. These compounds were isolated by filtration and redissolved in 5 mL of acetone by warming, and the solution was kept in a long tube for slow evaporation.⁶⁶



5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 ¹H-NMR Spectra

The ¹H NMR chemical shifts of the organic ligands and their complexes shown in table (12) were recorded in DMSO-d₆ or Chloroform-d. In the ¹HNMR spectra of ligands, peaks appeared at (12.20,12.30), 10.61 and 10.55 ppm were assigned to the protons of phenolic group in ligands and (8.60,8,73), 9.04 and 9.02 ppm were assigned to the protons of the second phenolic group respectively. In the ¹H NMR spectra of ligands exhibit sharp multiple signals between 6.50 to 7.27 ppm due to Ar-H as shown in Figure (82-84)

The NMR spectra of the copper (II) complexes were recorded in Figures (85, 86, and 87). The phenolic OH signals observed in the spectrum of the ligands are not seen in the spectrum of the Cu (II) complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in chelation with proton displacement. However, the peaks appeared at (7.95-8.00), 8.04 and 6.51 ppm were assigned to the protons of the second phenolic group in ligands.

The NMR spectra of the uranium complexes were recorded in Figures (88, 89, and 90). The phenolic OH signals observed in the spectrum of the ligands are not seen in the spectrum of the uranium complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in chelation with proton displacement. However, the peaks appeared at (7.65,7.71), 7.78 and 7.62 ppm were assigned to the protons of the second phenolic group in ligands.

The NMR spectra of [(CuL)UO₂] complexes were recorded in Figures (91, 92, and 93) showed the absence of the signal assigned to the proton of the first and second phenolic group in the ligands which indicated that deprotonation of the phenolic group occurred on complexation and that the phenolic oxygens take part in the copper and uranium to form heterobimetallic complexes. In the spectra of [(CuL)UO₂] complexes the protons of the Ar-H, the -CH-OH are

shifted downfield compared to that of the free ligand and Cu (II) complexes as a result of chelation of azomethine group, the first and the second phenolic group to copper and uranium ions, indicate that, the coordination of the ligand with the metal ions involves the nitrogen atom of the ligands. Furthermore, the number of protons calculated from the integration curves, and those obtained from the values of the mass spectra.

Compound	-OH	-OH	Ar-H	H(23,23`)	Other
L5	12.20,12.30	8.60,8.73	6.66-6.83	3.40,3.82	-CH=N- 8.10,8.30
CuL5	-	7.95,8.00	7.33-7.74	3.53,3.73	8.43,8.51
UO ₂ L5	-	7.65,7.71	6.79-7.07	2.77-2.94	8.54,8.62
[(CuL1)UO ₂]	-	-	6.86-7.23	3.10,3.17	8.44,8.50
L6	10.61	9.04	6.82-7.08	3.43	H(25) 2.02
CuL6	-	8.04	6.84-6.98	3.11,3.16	1.91
UO ₂ L6	-	7.78	6.83-7.10	3.18,3.26	2.07
[(CuL2)UO ₂]	-	-	7.01-7.73	4.02	2.3
L7	10.55	9.02	6.50-7.27	3.68,3.90	H(25) 3.93
CuL7	-	6.51	7.02-7.46	3.60,3.91	4.15
UO ₂ L7	-	7.62	7.10-7.37	3.23,3.43	4.07
[(CuL3)UO ₂]	-	-	7.21-7.98	3.26,3.55	4.12

Table 12. ¹H NMR of The Schiff Base Ligands and Its Complexes



Figure 82. ¹H-NMR for L5



Figure 83. ¹H-NMR for L6



Figure 84. ¹H-NMR for L7



Figure 85. ¹H-NMR for Complex 9 (CuL5)



Figure 86. ¹H-NMR for Complex 10 (CuL6)



Figure 87. ¹H-NMR for Complex 11 (CuL7)



Figure 88. ¹H-NMR for Complex 12 [UO₂L5]



Figure 89. ¹H-NMR for Complex 13 [UO₂L6]







Figure 91. ¹H-NMR for Complex 15 [(CuL5)UO₂]



Figure 92. ¹H-NMR for Complex 16 [(CuL6)UO₂]



Figure 93. ¹H-NMR for Complex 17 [(CuL7)UO₂]

5.3.2 Mass Spectroscopy and Mass Spectrometer

The mass spectra of the copper complexes, uranium complexes and heterobimetallic of $[(CuL)UO_2]$ complexes were recorded and compared for their stoichiometric composition. The mass spectra of mono-complexes in Figures (94-99) have been obtained operating in positive ion mode. The molecular ions were detected the base and main peaks of the spectra at m/z 376.048, 404.079 and 420.074 respectively for three Cu(II) complexes which correspond to the protonated molecular ion $[M+H]^+$ and they could be generated either by the ionization conditions or by ion-molecule reactions inside the ion trap analyzer. The mass spectra of the metal complexes showed molecular ion peaks, which were in good agreement with the expected values. The main peaks for the [UO₂L] complexes were detected, at 583.158, 611.184, and 627.185 (m/z) were ascribable to mono-uranium complexes. respectively for three uranium complexes, that correspond to the protonated molecular ion [M+H]⁺.

Moreover, the mass spectra for complexes Cu-U were shown in Figures (99, 100, and 101). The protonated molecular ions $[M_1-M_2+H]^+$ were detected at m/z values centered at 644.066, 672.104 and 688.092 m/z respectively: the isotopic cluster is in agreement with the theoretical one. The fragmentation pattern of [Cu-U] complexes displayed important peaks at m/z 342.042, 368.058 and 386.068 m/z respectively, because of loss of $[H_3O_4U]^+$ from the parent complexes 15, 16, 17 respectively. This feature indicates the formation of the complexes and the comparison between the main peaks of synthesized complexes have been collected in Table 13.

The results of mass spectrometry are consistent with the proposed formulas for these compounds as the peaks observed in these spectra correspond to fragments resulting from the expected fragmentations of the compounds.

Ligands	[CuL+H] ⁺	$[UO_2L+H]^+$	[(CuL)UO ₂ +H] ⁺			
L5	376.048	583.158	$C_{17}H_{14}CuN_2O_6U+H]^+$	$[H_{3}O_{4}U]^{+}$	$[C_{17}H_{15}CuN_2O_2]^+$	
			644.072	305.053	342.042	
L6	404.079	611.184	[C ₁₉ H ₁₈ CuN ₂ O ₆ U+H] ⁺	[H ₃ O ₄ U] ⁺	$[C_{19}H_{17}CuN_2O2]^+$	
			672.104	305.053	(368.058)	
L7	420.074	627.185	[C ₁₉ H ₁₈ CuN ₂ O ₇ U+H] ⁺	$[H_{3}O_{4}U]^{+}$	$[C_{19}H_{19}CuN_2O3]^+$	
			688.099	305.053	(386.068)	

Table 13. The Main Peaks of The Synthesized Mono and Heterobimetallic Complexes



Figure 94. Mass Spectrum for Complex 9 (CuL5)



Figure 95. Mass Spectrum for Complex 10 (CuL6)



Figure 96. Mass Spectrum for Complex 11 (CuL7)



Figure 97. Mass Spectrum for Complex 12 [UO₂L5]



Figure 98. Mass Spectrum for Complex 13 [UO₂L6]



Figure 99. Mass Spectrum for Complex 14 [UO₂L7]



Figure 100. Mass Spectrum for Complex 15 [(CuL5)UO₂]



Figure 101. Mass Spectrum for Complex 16 [(CuL6)UO₂]



Figure 102. Mass Spectrum for Complex 17[(CuL7)UO₂]

5.4 Conclusion

The use of an hexadentate bicompartmental Schiff base ligand permitted the synthesis of the first complexes, in which a Uranium (IV) ion is located next to it. These are unique molecular compounds exhibiting a linear arrangement of an f element and d transition metals. Their central coordination sites were composed of an imine-based N₂O₂ entity coordinating Cu (II) ions. The subsequent prearrangement of the ligand into a Ω -shape generated a second recognition site, O₂O₂, composed of two phenoxy groups are able to coordinate to U(IV) ions. Our copper based metalloligands (CuL), which demonstrated interesting, chelated ligands for the uptake of large
cations, led us to explore their structural differences upon coordination to group 2 metal ions. In this research, we report the synthesis and the structural characterization of nine new mixed metal complexes corresponding to the coordination of the uranium by (CuL). According to the phenolic OH signals observed in the spectra of the ligands are not seen in the spectra of the Cu(II) and UO₂L complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in chelation with proton displacement. Moreover, ¹H NMR spectra of heterobimetallic complexes indicate to coordinate the metal center ions Cu(II) and U(IV) with hexadentate ligands due to the phenolic OH signals observed in the spectra of the ligands are not seen in the spectra of the Cu-UO₂L complexes indicating the participation of the phenolic OH group in coordination with proton displacement.

The Mass spectra discussed above, deduced that the uranium ions in the copper-uranium heterobimetallic complexes bind to the outer $O_2O_2^{\circ}$ sites of the ligands and are coordinated to the oxygen atoms of both the phenolic groups. As previously reported, U(IV) ions prefer to bind to outer O_2O_2 coordinating sites of ligands which possess in addition inner N₂O₂ sites.

5.5 References

- 1. Lewis, J. and Nyholm, R.S., 1964. Metal-metal bonds in transition metal complexes. *Science Progress (1933-)*, pp.557-580.
- Coffey, C.E., Lewis, J. and Nyholm, R.S., 1964. 339. Metal-metal bonds. Part I. Compounds of gold (0) with the carbonyls of manganese, iron, and cobalt. *Journal of the Chemical Society (Resumed)*, pp.1741-1749.
- Tereniak, S.J., Carlson, R.K., Clouston, L.J., Young Jr, V.G., Bill, E., Maurice, R., Chen, Y.S., Kim, H.J., Gagliardi, L. and Lu, C.C., 2014. Role of the metal in the bonding and properties of bimetallic complexes involving manganese, iron, and cobalt. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 136(5), pp.1842-1855.
- Feng, G., Zhang, M., Shao, D., Wang, X., Wang, S., Maron, L. and Zhu, C., 2019. Transition-metal-bridged bimetallic clusters with multiple uranium-metal bonds. *Nature chemistry*, 11(3), pp.248-253.
- Merkens, C., Pan, F. and Englert, U., 2013. 3-(4-Pyridyl)-2, 4-pentanedione-a bridge between coordinative, halogen, and hydrogen bonds. *CrystEngComm*, 15(40), pp.8153-8158.
- Biswas, S., Naiya, S., Drew, M.G., Estarellas, C., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2011. Trinuclear and tetranuclear adduct formation between sodium perchlorate and copper(II) complexes of salicylaldimine type ligands: Structural characterization and theoretical investigation. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, 366(1), pp.219-226.
- Maity, S., Ghosh, S. and Ghosh, A., 2019. Elucidating the secondary effect in the Lewis acid mediated anodic shift of electrochemical oxidation of a Cu(II) complex with a N2O2 donor unsymmetrical ligand. *Dalton Transactions*, 48(39), pp.14898-14913.
- Zhang, J., Cheng, S., Wang, X., Yuan, L., Xue, M., Wang, Y. and Liu, W., 2013. Heterometallic coordination polymers based on dipeptide schiff base Cu(II) metalloligand: synthesis, structures, and magnetic properties. *CrystEngComm*, 15(30), pp.6074-6082.
- Maity, S., Bhunia, P., Ichihashi, K., Ishida, T. and Ghosh, A., 2020. SMM behaviour of heterometallic dinuclear Cu^{II} Ln^{III} (Ln= Tb and Dy) complexes derived from N2O3 donor unsymmetrical ligands. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 44(16), pp.6197-6205.

- Maity, S., Mondal, A., Konar, S. and Ghosh, A., 2019. The role of 3d–4f exchange interaction in SMM behaviour and magnetic refrigeration of carbonato bridged Cu^{II}₂ Ln^{III}₂ (Ln=Dy, Tb and Gd) complexes of an unsymmetrical N2O4 donor ligand. *Dalton Transactions*, 48(40), pp.15170-15183.
- 11. J. Sanmartı'n, M.R. Bermejo, A.M. Garcı'a-Deibe, I.M. Rivas, A.R. Ferna'ndez, J. Chem. Soc., *Dalton Tranactionss*. (2000) 4174.
- Salmon, L., Thuéry, P. and Ephritikhine, M., 2004. Synthesis and crystal structure of uranium (IV) complexes with compartmental Schiff bases: From mononuclear species to tri-and tetranuclear clusters. *Dalton Transactions*, (10), pp.1635-1643.
- 13. Vigato, P.A., Tamburini, S. and Fenton, D.E., 1990. The activation of small molecules by dinuclear complexes of copper and other metals. *Coordination chemistry reviews*, 106, pp.25-170.
- 14. Alexander, V., 1995. Design and synthesis of macrocyclic ligands and their complexes of lanthanides and actinides. *Chemical reviews*, 95(2), pp.273-342.
- Guerriero, P., Tarnburini, S. and Vigato, P.A., 1995. From mononuclear to polynuclear macrocyclic or macroacyclic complexes. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 139, pp.17-243.
- Guerriero, P., Vigato, P.A., Fenton^o, D.E. and Hellier^o, P.C., 1992. Synthesis and Application of Macrocyclic and Macroacyclic Schiff. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica*, 46, pp.1025-1046.
- 17. Kahn, O., In: , 1995. Advances in Inorganic Chemistry, Sikes, A. G. (Ed.), *Academic Press, S. Diego*, 43, 179.
- Zanello, P., Tamburini, S., Vigato, P.A. and Mazzocchin, G.A., 1987. Syntheses, structure and electrochemical characterization of homo-and heterodinuclear copper complexes with compartmental ligands. *Coordination chemistry reviews*, 77, pp.165-273.
- 19. Casellato, U., Tamburini, S., Tomasin, P. and Vigato, P.A., 2004. Cyclic and acyclic compartmental Schiff bases, their reduced analogues and related mononuclear and heterodinuclear complexes. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 357(14), pp.4191-4207.

- Bünzli, J.C.G. and Piguet, C., 2002. Lanthanide-containing molecular and supramolecular polymetallic functional assemblies. *Chemical Reviews*, 102(6), pp.1897-1928.
- Kong, D., Reibenspies, J., Mao, J., Clearfield, A. and Martell, A.E., 2003. Novel 30membered octaazamacrocyclic ligand: synthesis, characterization, thermodynamic stabilities, and DNA cleavage activity of homodinuclear copper and nickel complexes. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 342, pp.158-170.
- 22. Willett, R.D., Gatteschi, D. and Kahn, O., 1985. Magneto-structural correlations in exchange coupled systems. United States: *D Reidel Publishing Co*.
- Kaminskaia, N.V., He, C. and Lippard, S.J., 2000. Reactivity of μ-hydroxodizinc (II) centers in enzymatic catalysis through model studies. *Inorganic chemistry*, 39(15), pp.3365-3373.
- Okawa, H., Furutachi, H. and Fenton, D.E., 1998. Heterodinuclear metal complexes of phenol-based compartmental macrocycles. *Coordination chemistry reviews*, 174(1), pp.51-75.
- 25. Gschwind, F., Crochet, A., Maudez, W. and Fromm, K.M., 2010. From alkaline earth ion aggregates via transition metal coordination polymer networks towards heterometallic single source precursors for oxidic materials. *CHIMIA International Journal for Chemistry*, 64(5), pp.299-302.
- 26. Brog, J.P., Crochet, A. and Fromm, K., 2012. Lithium metal aryloxide clusters as starting products for oxide materials. *WO2012/000123*.
- 27. Wu, M.-K.; Ashburn, J. R.; Torng, C.; Hor, P. H.; Meng, R. L.; Gao, L.; Huang, Z. J.; Wang, Y. Q.; Chu, C. W. Superconductivity at 93 K in a New Mixed-Phase Y-Ba-Cu-O Compound System at Ambient Pressure. *Physical Reviews*. Lett. 1987, 58, No. 908.
- 28. Ge, H., Zhang, B., Gu, X., Liang, H., Yang, H., Gao, Z., Wang, J. and Qin, Y., 2016. A tandem catalyst with multiple metal oxide interfaces produced by atomic layer deposition. *Angewandte Chemie*, 128(25), pp.7197-7201.
- 29. Kung, H.H. and Ko, E.I., 1996. Preparation of oxide catalysts and catalyst supports—a review of recent advances. *The Chemical Engineering Journal and the Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 64(2), pp.203-214.

- 30. Veith, M., 2002. Molecular precursors for (nano) materials—a one-step strategy. Journal of the Chemical Society, *Dalton Transactions*, (12), pp.2405-2412.
- 31. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L.G., 2003. Some trends in the design of homo-and heterometallic molecular precursors of high-tech oxides. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, *6*(1), pp.102-120.
- 32. Elias, J.S., Risch, M., Giordano, L., Mansour, A.N. and Shao-Horn, Y., 2014. Structure, bonding, and catalytic activity of monodisperse, transition-metal-substituted CeO2 nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *136*(49), pp.17193-17200.
- Gleizes, 9.A., Sans-Lenain, S. and Medus, D., 1991. Structure cristalline du bis (2, 2, 6, 6-tétraméthyl-3, 5-heptanedionato) baryum. *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences*. *Série 2, Mécanique, Physique, Chimie, Sciences de l'univers, Sciences de la Terre, 313*(7), pp.761-766.
- 34. Drozdov, A., Pozhitkov, A., Troyanov, S. and Pisarevsky, A., 1996. Synthesis and X-ray structures of barium complexes with pivaloyltrifluoroacetone,[Ba (pta) 2 (H2O)] and Ba4 (pta) 8. *Polyhedron*, *15*(*10*), pp.1731-1735.
- 35. Hubert-Pfalzgraf, L.G., 1992. Metal alkoxides and β -diketonates as precursors for oxide and non-oxide thin films. *Applied organometallic chemistry*, *6*(8), pp.627-643.
- 36. Schulz, D.L., Hinds, B.J., Neumayer, D.A., Stern, C.L. and Marks, T.J., 1993. Barium. beta.-ketoiminate complexes containing appended ether" lariats". Synthesis, characterization, and implementation as fluorine-free barium MOCVD precursors. *Chemistry of materials*, 5(11), pp.1605-1617.
- 37. Watson, I.M., Atwood, M.P. and Haq, S., 1994. Investigations of barium beta-diketonate complexes used in chemical vapour deposition of high-Tc oxide films. *Superconductor Science and Technology*, 7(9), p.672.
- 38. Gschwind, F., Sereda, O. and Fromm, K.M., 2009. Multitopic ligand design: a concept for single-source precursors. *Inorganic chemistry*, *48*(22), pp.10535-10547.
- 39. Boyle, T.J., Sears, J.M., Greathouse, J.A., Perales, D., Cramer, R., Staples, O., Rheingold, A.L., Coker, E.N., Roper, T.M. and Kemp, R.A., 2018. Synthesis and Characterization of Structurally Diverse Alkaline-Earth Salen Compounds for Subterranean Fluid Flow Tracking. *Inorganic chemistry*, 57(5), pp.2402-2415.

- 40. Akine, S. and Nabeshima, T., 2009. Cyclic and acyclic oligo (N 2 O 2) ligands for cooperative multi-metal complexation. *Dalton Transactions*, (47), pp.10395-10408.
- 41. Frischmann, P.D. and MacLachlan, M.J., 2013. Metallocavitands: an emerging class of functional multimetallic host molecules. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42(3), pp.871-890.
- 42. Kobayashi, S. and Yamashita, Y., 2011. Alkaline earth metal catalysts for asymmetric reactions. *Accounts of chemical research*, *44*(1), pp.58-71.
- 43. Harinath, A., Bhattacharjee, J., Sarkar, A., Nayek, H.P. and Panda, T.K., 2018. Ring Opening Polymerization and Copolymerization of Cyclic Esters Catalyzed by Group 2 Metal Complexes Supported by Functionalized P–N Ligands. *Inorganic chemistry*, 57(5), pp.2503-2516.
- 44. Ren, J., Yang, L., Qiu, J., Chen, D., Jiang, X. and Zhu, C., 2006. Effect of various alkaline-earth metal oxides on the broadband infrared luminescence from bismuth-doped silicate glasses. *Solid state communications*, *140(1)*, pp.38-41.
- 45. Fromm, K.M., Sagué, J.L. and Robin, A.Y., 2013. Silver coordination polymers with isonicotinic acid derived short polyethylene glycol–Synthesis, structures, anion effect and solution behavior. *Inorganica Chimica Acta*, *403*, pp.2-8.
- 46. Dickson, I.R. and Perkins, D.J., 1971. Studies on the interactions between purified bovine caseins and alkaline-earth-metal ions. *Biochemical Journal*, *124*(1), pp.235-240.
- Wu, D., Sedgwick, A.C., Gunnlaugsson, T., Akkaya, E.U., Yoon, J. and James, T.D., 2017. Fluorescent chemosensors: the past, present and future. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 46(23), pp.7105-7123.
- Bencini, A., Benelli, C., Caneschi, A., Carlin, R.L., Dei, A. and Gatteschi, D., 1985. Crystal and molecular structure of and magnetic coupling in two complexes containing gadolinium(III) and copper(II) ions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 107(26), pp.8128-8136.
- 49. Winpenny, R.E., 1998. The structures and magnetic properties of complexes containing 3d-and 4f-metals. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 27(6), pp.447-452.
- 50. Furrer, A., Güdel, H.U., Krausz, E.R. and Blank, H., 1990. Neutron spectroscopic study of anisotropic exchange in the dimer compound Cs₃Ho₂ Br₉. *Physical review letters*, *64(1)*, p.68.

- 51. Andruh, M., Ramade, I., Codjovi, E., Guillou, O., Kahn, O. and Trombe, J.C., 1993. Crystal structure and magnetic properties of [Ln₂Cu₄] hexanuclear clusters (where Ln= trivalent lanthanide). Mechanism of the gadolinium(III)-copper(II) magnetic interaction. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *115*(5), pp.1822-1829.
- 52. Ramade, I., Kahn, O., Jeannin, Y. and Robert, F., 1997. Design and Magnetic Properties of a Magnetically Isolated GdIIICuII Pair. Crystal Structures of [Gd(hfa)₃Cu(salen)],[Y (hfa)₃Cu(salen)],[Gd(hfa)₃Cu(salen)(Meim)], and [La(hfa)₃(H2O)Cu(salen)][hfa= Hexafluoroacetylacetonato, salen= N, N '-Ethylenebis (salicylideneaminato), Meim= 1- Methylimidazole]. *Inorganic Chemistry*, *36*(*5*), pp.930-936.
- 53. Costes, J.P., Dahan, F. and Dupuis, A., 2000. Influence of Anionic Ligands (X) on the Nature and Magnetic Properties of Dinuclear LCuGdX₃.*n*H₂O Complexes (LH₂ Standing for Tetradentate Schiff Base Ligands Deriving from 2-Hydroxy-3-methoxybenzaldehyde and X Being Cl,N₃C₂, and CF₃COO). Inorganic chemistry, 39(2), pp.165-168.
- 54. Costes, J.P., Dahan, F., Dupuis, A. and Laurent, J.P., 1997. A general route to strictly dinuclear Cu(II)/Ln(III) complexes. Structural determination and magnetic behavior of two Cu(II)/Gd(III) complexes. *Inorganic chemistry*, *36*(*16*), pp.3429-3433.
- 55. Benelli, C., Caneschi, A., Gatteschi, D., Guillou, O. and Pardi, L., 1990. Synthesis, crystal structure, and magnetic properties of tetranuclear complexes containing exchange-coupled dilanthanide-dicopper (lanthanide= gadolinium, dysprosium)species. *Inorganic Chemistry*, *29*(*9*), pp.1750-1755.
- 56. Kahn, M.L., Mathonière, C. and Kahn, O., 1999. Nature of the Interaction between Ln^{III} and Cu^{II} Ions in the Ladder-Type Compounds {Ln₂[Cu(opba)]₃} S (Ln= Lanthanide Element; opba= ortho-Phenylenebis (oxamato), S= Solvent Molecules). *Inorganic chemistry*, *38*(*16*), pp.3692-3697.
- 57. Costes, J.P., Dahan, F., Dupuis, A. and Laurent, J.P., 1998. Nature of the magnetic interaction in the (Cu²⁺, Ln³⁺) pairs: an empirical approach based on the comparison between homologous (Cu²⁺, Ln³⁺) and (NiLS²⁺, Ln³⁺) complexes. *Chemistry–A European Journal*, 4(9), pp.1616-1620.
- 58. Sternal, R.S., Brock, C.P. and Marks, T.J., 1985. Metal-metal bonds involving actinides. Synthesis and characterization of a complex having an unsupported actinide to transition metal bond. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *107*(*26*), pp.8270-8272.

- Mörtl, K.P., Sutter, J.P., Golhen, S., Ouahab, L. and Kahn, O., 2000. Structure and Magnetic Characteristics of an Oxalate-Bridged U(IV)–Mn(II) Three-Dimensional Network. *Inorganic chemistry*, 39(8), pp.1626-1627.
- 60. Doretti, L., Madalosso, F., Sitran, S. and Faleschini, S., 1976. Mixed complexes of uranium (IV) and thorium (IV) with N, N'-ethylenebis (salicylideneimine) and N, N'-propylenebis (salicylideneimine). *Inorganic and Nuclear Chemistry Letters.;(United Kingdom)*, *12*(10).
- 61. Calderazzo, F., Pasquali, M. and Salvatori, T., 1974. Mixed complexes of N, N'ethylenebis (salicylideneiminato) uranium (IV). *Journal of the Chemical Society, Dalton Transactions*, (10), pp.1102-1106.
- 62. Calderazzo, F., Floriani, C., Pasquali, M., 1976. 13/BIS-N,N'ETHYLENEBIS(SALICYLIDENEIMINATO) COMPLEXES OF TITANIUM(IV), THORIUM(IV) AND URANIUM(IV), THEIR REDISTRIBUTION REACTIONS AND STRUCTURES OF SOME OF THE MIXED COMPOUNDS. *Gazzetta Chimica Italiana*, 106(1-2), pp. 127-137
- 63. Drew, M.G., Prasad, R.N. and Sharma, R.P., 1985. Structures of (N,N'trimethylenedisalicylideneaminato) nickel(II)(1) and (N, N'trimethylenedisalicylideneaminato) copper(II)(2). Acta Crystallographica Section C: Crystal Structure Communications, 41(12), pp.1755-1758.
- 64. Iida, K., Oonishi, I., Nakahara, A. and Komiyama, Y., 1970. The Crystal Structure of Bis-(2-hydroxyacetophenone) trimethylenediiminocopper (II). *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan, 43(8)*, pp.2347-2354
- 65. Ghosh, S., Biswas, S., Bauza, A., Barceló-Oliver, M., Frontera, A. and Ghosh, A., 2013. Use of metalloligands [CuL](H₂L= salen type di-Schiff bases) in the formation of heterobimetallic copper (II)-uranyl complexes: Photophysical investigations, structural variations, and theoretical calculations. *Inorganic chemistry*, *52*(*13*), pp.7508-7523.

CHAPTER 6

FUTURE WORK

In the present study of chapter 2 and 3, designing, synthesizing, and fully characterizing the Platinum complexes are addressed. Cisplatin, arguably the most famous transition metal anticancer drug, was first described in 1845, but it was not until 1965 that by happenstance the cell growth inhibitory properties were discovered. Even now, almost 40 years after its FDA approval, questions are still swirling around its utilization as a chemotherapeutic agent due to the rise of cisplatin-resistant cancers. Given the challenges faced with this famous and widely prescribed drug, it seems the real question remaining is: will we ever fully understand exactly what pathways in the interconnected signaling web are the most important to effect to obtain only our desired result? Looking forward from an evolutionary perspective, what can we as researchers learn from the evolution of cisplatin resistance, and how can we apply that knowledge to platinum-based chemotherapeutics? With near-infinite design possibilities of transition metal complexes and rapidly advancing scientific methods, we may never fully understand the complete mechanisms of many of the drugs, but that should not stop one from investigating in detail. As targeted therapies involving small interfering technology move towards clinical application, infinite opportunities to target specific genes may offer some complementary way forward on a patient-by-patient basis for these drugs. Considering the emergence of these new targeted treatment options, the days of serendipitous discoveries are behind us, but like all hypothesis-driven science, in some cases a bit of serendipity is always much appreciated.

For proper insight into the structure-activity relationship of the compounds to be gained, further studies into the metal-DNA interaction, cellular uptake potential, DNA binding properties, oxidative cleavage studies should be carried out; in vitro and in vivo anticancer studies should be carried out on other carcinoma cell lines. The lipophilicity which describes the ability of compounds to permeate cells would also be investigated to establish the ability of these compounds to enter cells. The compounds would be tested against different cell lines such as breast cancer and ovarian cancer cell lines.

The possible side effects of synthesized complexes should be tested on normal living cells as well. In vitro activity of the compounds by the hydroxyl radical scavenging, NO, and reducing power methods should be examined. Efforts will be made to implement further work to establish additional experiments will evaluate other important drug properties, including the lipophilicity of the complexes and DNA interactions. Further attempts at growing crystals proved to be fruitless. The platinum(II) and (IV) complexes were obtained as very small crystals, but they were too small for X-ray crystallographic analysis. Using different solvent combinations as well as different growing techniques may prove more rewarding for complete structure determination of the watersoluble platinum complexes.

In this dissertation, chapters 4 and chapter 5 have addressed the synthesis and characterization of several copper complexes, uranium complexes, and Cu-U complexes. In the future, further work needs to be done to obtain single crystals of the Schiff bases and their metal complexes for structural studies. There is a need to obtain single crystals of the Schiff bases and their metal their metal complexes for structural studies.

Metals contribute important roles in a biological system. It is recognized that metals are highly linked in cellular and subcellular functions. With the application of novel and experienced tools to study biological and biochemical systems, the true role of inorganic salts in the biological systems can be studied. Schiff base metal complexes show a broad range of biological activity. The activity of Schiff base ligand is usually increased by complexation with the metal ion. The copper complexes of Schiff bases have striking properties such as antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, anti-tumor and cytotoxic activities, plant development controller, enzymatic activity, and applications in pharmaceutical fields. In future work, our main focus will be on research undertaken for biological activity study of Cu(II) metal complexes containing Schiff bases. Moreover, uranium-nitrogen multiple bonds have been synthesized in one ligand framework. The electronic structures of these compounds should be investigated using computational and experimental methods, and reactivity explored in some cases.

The present study describes the synthesis of tetradentate, and hexadentate Schiff base complexes with moderate to high yield products. Hence, the preparation methodology will be useful for the synthesis of additional Schiff bases with different substituents on the aromatic aldehydes and their metal complexes followed by various biological activities exploration. The outcomes from this research reveal that most of the complexes could lead for the development of novel antibacterial, antioxidant, and/ or cell antiproliferative agents.

Attempts to prepare heterobimetallic complexes in which binuclear of copper and uranium magnetic ions are associated with utilizing the Schiff bases H4L derived from 2,3-dihydroxysalicylaldehyde or 2-hydroxy-3-methoxysalycylaldehyde. The hexadentate Schiff base ligand (L) is useful for the synthesis of novel trinuclear complexes. These studies on the synthesis, structure, and magnetic behavior of these complexes of CuL-UO₂ should be undertaken in future work. Moreover, Absorption and fluorescence quenching experiments (steady-state and time-resolved) indicate the formation of 1:1 ground-state charge transfer copper(II)–uranium(VI) complexes in solution and should be studied.

Recently, there has been growing concern over the environmental impact of chemicals; thus, that cleaner green reaction conditions in synthetic processes have been advocated to maintain environmental awareness, requiring us to prevent the generation of waste, avoid the use of auxiliary substances (e.g., organic solvents, additional reagents), and minimize the energy requirement. The use of water as the reaction medium offers several advantages as (a) it is cheap, non-toxic, and safe to use^{1,2}, (b) its unique physical and chemical properties often increase the reactivity or selectivity, which sometimes is unattainable in organic solvents³, and (c) it eliminates the additional efforts required to make the substrates/reagents dry before use and thus reduces/eliminates the consumption of drying agents, energy, and time. Schiff bases are typically formed by the condensation of a primary amine and an aldehyde which involves the use of organic solvents such as methanol, tetrahydrofuran (THF), and 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE)⁴. In future projects, microwave-assisted preparation of a series of Schiff bases without solvent ⁵ should be used instead of using the classic preparation method.

Interest in metallomesogens has steadily grown in the recent past owing to the immense possibility of combining optical, electronic, and magnetic characteristics of transition metal complexes with anisotropic fluids.^{6–11} Salen-based metallomesogens are considered as one of the major thrust areas of liquid crystals.^{12–16} The transition metal-salen complexes have been regarded as promising materials that have been extensively studied owing to their ability to catalyze an extremely broad range of chemical transformations.^{17–19} The synthesis of liquid crystal (LC) based on metal coordination with suitably designed structure provides a useful route for obtaining new multifunctional soft material combining anisotropic fluidity with those properties imparted by the metal component, such as optical, electronic, and magnetic properties.²⁰ The coordination geometry of the complex determines the overall molecular shape and in turn the mesomorphic

behavior.^{21,22} In future work, we are planning to synthesize several 'salen'-type N₂O₂ donor Schiff base ligands containing 4-substituted long alkoxy chains on the side aromatic rings as shown in figure 103. The free ligands are devoid of mesomorphism; however, on coordination with the metal center, induction of mesomorphic character occurs due to conformational change in the ligands.



Figure 103. Chemical Structures of Ligands Containing 4-substitute Alkoxy Chain and Metal Complex

References

- 1. Li, C.J., 2005. Organic reactions in aqueous media with a focus on carbon- carbon bond formations: a decade update. *Chemical Reviews*, *105*(*8*), pp.3095-3166.
- 2. Yorimitsu, H., Shinokubo, H. and Oshima, K., 2002. Synthetic radical reactions in aqueous media. Synlett, 2002(05), pp.0674-0686.
- 3. Lindström, U.M., 2002. Stereoselective organic reactions in water. *Chemical Reviews*, 102(8), pp.2751-2772.
- Abdel-Magid, A.F., Carson, K.G., Harris, B.D., Maryanoff, C.A. and Shah, R.D., 1996. Reductive amination of aldehydes and ketones with sodium triacetoxyborohydride. studies on direct and indirect reductive amination procedures1. *The Journal of organic chemistry*, 61(11), pp.3849-3862.
- 5. Yang, H.J., Sun, W.H., Li, Z.L. and Ma, Z., 2002. The rapid synthesis of Schiff-base without solvent under microwave irradiation. *Chinese Chemical Letters*, *13*(*1*), pp.3-6.
- 6. Giroud-Godquin, A.M. and Maitlis, P.M., 1991. Metallomesogens: metal complexes in organized fluid phases. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*, 30(4), pp.375-402.
- 7. Serrano, J.L. ed., 2008. Metallomesogens: synthesis, properties, and applications. *John Wiley & Sons*.
- 8. Hoshino, N., 1998. Liquid crystal properties of metal–salicylaldimine complexes.: Chemical modifications towards lower symmetry. *Coordination chemistry reviews*, 174(1), pp.77-108.
- 9. Lee, J.H., Choi, S.M., Pate, B.D., Chisholm, M.H. and Han, Y.S., 2006. Magnetic uniaxial alignment of the columnar superstructure of discotic metallomesogens over the centimetre length scale. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, *16*(27), pp.2785-2791.
- 10. Serrette, A.G., Lai, C.K. and Swager, T.M., 1994. Complementary shapes in columnar liquid crystals: structural control in homo-and heteronuclear bimetallic assemblies. *Chemistry of materials, 6(12),* pp.2252-2268.

- 11. Serrette, A.G. and Swager, T.M., 1993. Controlling intermolecular associations with molecular superstructure: polar discotic linear chain phases. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 115(19), pp.8879-8880.
- 12. Abe, Y., Nakazima, N., Tanase, T., Katano, S., Mukai, H. and Ohta, K., 2007. Syntheses, structures, and mesomorphism of a series of Cu(II) salen complexes with 4-substituted long alkoxy chains. *Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals*, *466(1)*, pp.129-147.
- 13. Abe, Y., Nakabayashi, K., Matsukawa, N., Takashima, H., Iida, M., Tanase, T., Sugibayashi, M., Mukai, H. and Ohta, K., 2006. Syntheses, structures, and mesomorphic properties of two series of oxovanadium(IV) salen and salpn complexes with 4-substituted long alkoxy chains. *Inorganica chimica acta*, 359(12), pp.3934-3946.
- 14. Abe, Y., Nakabayashi, K., Matsukawa, N., Iida, M., Tanase, T., Sugibayashia, M. and Ohta, K., 2004. Novel crystal structure and mesomorphism appeared in oxovanadium (IV) salen complexes with 4-substituted long alkoxy chains. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, 7(4), pp.580-583.
- 15. Mukai, H., Yokokawa, M., Hatsusaka, K. and Ohta, K., 2009. Discotic liquid crystals of transition metal complexes 43: the effect of the length of alkoxy chains at the m-positions in phenoxy groups on mesomorphism for the novel octaphenoxyphthalocyaninato copper II) and terbium(III) complexes. *Liquid Crystals*, 37(1), pp.13-21.
- 16. Cozzi, P.G., 2004. Metal–Salen Schiff base complexes in catalysis: practical aspects. *Chemical Society Reviews*, *33*(7), pp.410-421.
- 17. Gennari, C. and Piarulli, U., 2003. Combinatorial libraries of chiral ligands for enantioselective catalysis. *Chemical reviews*, *103*(8), pp.3071-3100.
- 18. Kureshy, R.I., Ahmad, I., Noor-ul, H.K., Abdi, S.H., Pathak, K. and Jasra, R.V., 2006. Chiral Mn (III) salen complexes covalently bonded on modified MCM-41 and SBA-15 as efficient catalysts for enantioselective epoxidation of nonfunctionalized alkenes. *Journal* of *Catalysis*, 238(1), pp.134-141.
- 19. Pucci, D. and Donnio, B., 2014. Metal-Containing Liquid Crystals. *Handbook of liquid crystals*, pp.1-67.
- 20. AL-Hamdani, U.J. and Jameel, H.A., 2012. Synthesis and mesomorphic properties of new metallomesogens derived from azo and Schiff base ligands. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research*, 4, pp.922-931.

21. Ohta, K., Higashi, R., Ikejima, M., Yamamoto, I. and Kobayashi, N., 1998. Disk-like liquid crystals of transition metal complexes Part 21—Critical molecular structure change from columnar to lamellarliquid crystal in bis (diphenylglyoximato) nickel (II)-based complexes. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 8(9), pp.1979-1991.

APPENDIX

A. Figures for Mass Spectrometry of Complexes and Theoretical Calculations



Chapter 2

Mass m/z











Chapter 4





Chapter 5



Theoretical Calculations

Let's address one example to calculate isotope patterns theoretically:

(¹⁹⁰Pt negligible, ¹⁹²Pt small, 0.7%), so consider just the 4 main isotopes ¹⁹⁴Pt 33.0%, ¹⁹⁵Pt 33.8%, ¹⁹⁶Pt 25.2%, ¹⁹⁸Pt 7.2%, Weighted average MW = 195.08

H at 2 isotopes, 99.99% ¹H and 0.01% ²H, so for illustrative purposes, ignore the trace of ²H N has 2 isotopes, 99.64% ¹⁴N and 0.36% ¹⁵N. So, for illustrative purposes, ignore the small amount of ¹⁵N). Similarly ignore the small amounts of ¹⁷O and ¹⁸O

For $(C_{12}N_3H_9)_2(H_2O)_2Pt$ or $C_{24}N_6H_{22}O_2Pt$, expect approx. pattern for just the C_{24} (assuming ${}^{12}C -$

is 99% and mass 12 and ¹³C is 1% and mass 13: About 1% chance any C atom is ¹³C, so for 24

C atoms, about 24% of having one ¹³C altogether. Of the remaining 23 atoms, again about 23%

chance of an extra ¹³C atom, ~ 5.5%, so peaks at M=288 ~ 76 height, M=289 ~ 24 height,

M=230 ~ 5.5% height. Ignore M=231 < 2% height

Ignoring small trace isotope in O and N, we have the above peaks shifted by 22x1 (H) + 6x14 (N) + 2x16 (O) = 138 :

Peak M=624 has height $25x5.5 + 7x76 = 138 + 532 = 670$ 20
Peak M=625 has height 7x24 = 16
Peak M=626 has height 7x5.5 = 39 1
Agreement surprisingly good considering the approximations.
Approximations: Didn't do Carbon statistics exactly, ${}^{n}C_{m}$; used 1% for abundance of ${}^{13}C$
isotope, which is higher in actual; ignored small abundance of heavier isotopes of H, N, O;
assumed 1, 14 and 15 for atomic masses of H, N, O; assumed 13 for atomic mass of ¹³ C. Also

used only the first 3 peaks of the original C₂₄ spectrum, ignoring the M=231 peak

Chapter 2

1- Chemical Formula: C12H13ClN3Pt

Exact Mass: 429.04

Molecular Weight: 429.79

m/z: 430.04 (100.0%), 429.04 (94.5%), 428.04 (91.8%), 431.04 (34.9%), 432.04 (26.5%), 432.05 (20.7%), 430.05 (13.0%), 429.05 (12.0%), 431.05 (10.0%), 434.04 (6.4%), 433.05 (5.8%), 426.04 (2.2%)

2- Chemical Formula: C24H22N6O2Pt

Exact Mass: 621.15

Molecular Weight: 621.56

m/z: 621.15 (100.0%), 622.15 (83.2%), 620.14 (77.6%), 624.15 (19.6%), 623.15 (19.4%),

625.15 (4.9%), 622.14 (2.2%), 618.14 (1.8%), 621.14 (1.7%), 623.14 (1.3%)

3- Chemical Formula: C18H26Cl2N6OPt

Exact Mass: 607.12

Molecular Weight: 608.43

m/z: 607.12 (100.0%), 608.12 (82.6%), 606.12 (81.5%), 609.12 (77.9%), 610.12 (69.7%), 608.11 (52.3%), 612.12 (14.3%), 611.11 (11.2%), 610.11 (9.8%), 611.12 (9.8%), 612.11 (6.6%), 613.12 (4.0%), 611.13 (3.6%), 614.12 (2.0%), 604.12 (1.9%), 607.11 (1.8%), 609.13 (1.8%), 610.13 (1.3%), 606.11 (1.2%), 609.11 (1.2%)

4- Chemical Formula: C24H22N6O2Pt

Exact Mass: 621.15

Molecular Weight: 621.56

m/z: 621.15 (100.0%), 622.15 (83.2%), 620.14 (77.6%), 624.15 (19.6%), 623.15 (19.4%),

625.15 (4.9%), 622.14 (2.2%), 618.14 (1.8%), 621.14 (1.7%), 623.14 (1.3%)

5- Chemical Formula: C13H22Cl2N2Pt

Exact Mass: 471.08

Molecular Weight: 472.32

m/z: 472.08 (100.0%), 471.08 (75.7%), 470.08 (64.2%), 473.08 (55.3%), 474.08 (51.9%),

476.08 (15.3%), 474.07 (6.9%), 475.07 (6.8%), 475.08 (6.2%), 477.08 (2.1%), 475.09 (2.0%),

468.08 (1.5%), 478.08 (1.5%), 470.07 (1.0%)

Chapter 3

1- Chemical Formula: C29H25Cl2FN6O2Pt

Exact Mass: 773.10

Molecular Weight: 774.54

m/z: 774.10 (100.0%), 773.10 (73.3%), 772.10 (70.6%), 775.10 (61.8%), 776.10 (42.7%), 776.11 (35.5%), 774.11 (26.3%), 773.11 (22.1%), 775.11 (21.8%), 777.11 (18.4%), 778.10

(18.2%), 777.10 (11.0%), 779.11 (3.7%), 778.11 (3.1%), 779.10 (2.1%), 770.10 (1.7%), 780.10 (1.6%)

2- Chemical Formula: C31H30Cl2FN7O5Pt

Exact Mass: 864.13

Molecular Weight: 865.61

m/z: 865.13 (100.0%), 864.13 (96.1%), 863.13 (70.1%), 867.13 (68.9%), 866.13 (62.4%), 865.14 (28.0%), 868.13 (23.4%), 866.14 (23.3%), 869.13 (18.6%), 868.14 (8.7%), 867.12 (7.1%), 867.14 (4.6%), 870.14 (3.8%), 869.14 (3.5%), 870.13 (2.8%), 871.13 (2.1%), 861.13 (1.6%), 866.12 (1.1%)

3- Chemical Formula: C31H28Cl2FN7O3Pt

Exact Mass: 830.13

Molecular Weight: 831.59

m/z: 830.13 (100.0%), 831.13 (86.2%), 829.12 (74.3%), 832.12 (66.5%), 831.12 (49.6%), 833.12 (45.0%), 833.13 (39.3%), 832.13 (25.2%), 834.13 (21.5%), 835.13 (13.2%), 834.12 (11.8%), 835.12 (9.4%), 836.13 (4.3%), 836.12 (2.5%), 830.12 (2.3%), 827.12 (1.8%), 837.12 (1.7%), 837.13 (1.1%), 835.14 (1.0%)

4- Chemical Formula: C58H50Cl2F2N12O4Pt

Exact Mass: 1281.31

Molecular Weight: 1283.10

m/z: 1281.31 (100.0%), 1282.31 (99.5%), 1283.31 (68.8%), 1280.30 (61.1%), 1284.31 (57.7%), 1283.30 (43.4%), 1282.30 (41.4%), 1284.30 (38.6%), 1285.31 (38.5%), 1286.31 (18.5%), 1285.30 (12.9%), 1286.30 (10.0%), 1287.31 (8.7%), 1287.30 (3.8%), 1288.31 (3.3%), 1286.32 (3.3%), 1281.30 (3.3%), 1284.32 (3.1%), 1283.32 (2.7%), 1285.32 (2.5%), 1288.30 (1.5%), 1278.30 (1.4%), 1289.31 (1.3%), 1287.32 (1.0%)

5- Chemical Formula: C62H60Cl2F2N14O10Pt

Exact Mass: 1463.36

Molecular Weight: 1465.23

m/z: 1464.36 (100.0%), 1463.36 (79.9%), 1465.36 (76.9%), 1466.36 (63.9%), 1462.36 (45.6%),

1467.36 (34.2%), 1468.36 (21.3%), 1465.37 (14.9%), 1466.37 (12.5%), 1467.37 (11.4%),

1464.37 (10.9%), 1469.36 (9.0%), 1468.37 (5.5%), 1466.35 (4.7%), 1469.37 (2.8%), 1470.36

(2.4%), 1470.37 (2.3%), 1465.35 (1.6%), 1460.36 (1.1%)

Chemical Formula: C62H56Cl2F2N14O6Pt

Exact Mass: 1395.35

Molecular Weight: 1397.20

m/z: 1396.35 (100.0%), 1395.35 (96.3%), 1397.35 (95.9%), 1398.35 (77.4%), 1394.35 (56.5%),

1396.34 (36.1%), 1399.35 (34.5%), 1400.35 (21.9%), 1397.36 (16.6%), 1398.36 (13.9%),

1399.36 (13.6%), 1401.35 (11.1%), 1398.34 (7.7%), 1399.34 (7.7%), 1400.36 (5.9%), 1400.34

(5.0%), 1402.35 (3.2%), 1395.34 (2.9%), 1401.36 (2.8%), 1402.36 (2.3%), 1397.34 (2.0%),

1392.35 (1.3%), 1403.35 (1.3%)

Chapter 4

1- Chemical Formula: C19H20CuN4O11U

Exact Mass: 781.09

Molecular Weight: 781.96

m/z: 781.09 (100.0%), 783.09 (44.9%), 782.10 (21.2%), 784.09 (9.8%), 783.10 (4.4%), 785.10 (2.0%), 782.09 (1.5%)

2- Chemical Formula: C21H24CuN4O11U

Exact Mass: 809.12

Molecular Weight: 810.01

m/z: 809.12 (100.0%), 811.12 (44.9%), 810.13 (23.4%), 812.13 (11.2%), 811.13 (4.9%), 813.13

(2.2%), 810.12 (1.5%)

3- Chemical Formula: C25H20CuN4O11U

Exact Mass: 853.09

Molecular Weight: 854.03

m/z: 853.09 (100.0%), 855.09 (44.9%), 854.10 (27.7%), 856.09 (12.7%), 855.10 (5.9%), 857.10

(2.8%), 854.09 (1.5%), 856.10 (1.3%)

4- Chemical Formula: C25H34CuN6O11U

Exact Mass: 895.21

Molecular Weight: 896.15

m/z: 895.21 (100.0%), 897.21 (47.4%), 896.21 (29.7%), 898.21 (12.5%), 897.22 (3.7%), 899.21

(2.9%), 898.20 (1.0%), 898.22 (1.0%)

Chapter 5

1- Chemical Formula: C17H14CuN2O6U

Exact Mass: 643.07

Molecular Weight: 643.88

m/z: 643.07 (100.0%), 645.06 (44.6%), 644.07 (18.8%), 646.07 (8.6%), 645.07 (3.0%), 647.07 (1.3%)

2- Chemical Formula: C19H18CuN2O6U

Exact Mass: 671.10

Molecular Weight: 671.94

m/z: 671.10 (100.0%), 673.10 (48.0%), 672.10 (21.0%), 674.10 (9.6%), 675.10 (1.6%)

3- Chemical Formula: C19H18CuN2O7U

Exact Mass: 687.09

Molecular Weight: 687.93

 $m/z:\,687.09\;(100.0\%),\,689.09\;(44.7\%),\,688.10\;(21.0\%),\,690.09\;(9.6\%),\,689.10\;(3.5\%),\,691.10$

(1.0%)